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Notice of  
Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Forty-Eighth Annual General Meeting (“48th AGM”) of the Company which 
will be conducted as a FULLY VIRTUAL meeting through live streaming and online remote voting using the Remote 
Participation and Voting (“RPV”) facilities for the purpose of considering and if thought fit, passing with or without 
modifications the resolutions set out in this Notice. The details of the 48th AGM are set out as below:-

Day and Date
Time
Broadcast Venue

:
:
:

Thursday, 16 July 2020
2.00 p.m.
Masteel Meeting Room, Unit B-05-3A, 5th Floor, Block B (West Wing), PJ8 
Office Suite, No. 23, Jalan Barat, Seksyen 8, 46050 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul 
Ehsan, Malaysia.

AGENDA

As Ordinary Business

1.	 To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 
31 December 2019 together with the Reports of the Directors and Auditors 
thereon.

(Please refer to Note 1
of the Explanatory Notes)

2.	 To approve the Directors’ fees up to an aggregate amount of RM159,600.00 
for the financial year ending 31 December 2020 and benefit payable to the 
Directors up to an aggregate amount of RM384,470.00 from 16 July 2020 
until the next AGM of the Company and the payment thereof.

(Ordinary Resolution 1)

3.	 To re-elect the following Directors who are retiring pursuant to Clause 96 of 
the Constitution of the Company:-

(i)	 Dato’ Ikhwan Salim Bin Dato’ Haji Sujak
(ii)	 Encik Muhammad Hanizam Bin Hj. Borhan	  
(iii)	 Mr Lau Yoke Leong  

(Ordinary Resolution 2) 
(Ordinary Resolution 3)
(Ordinary Resolution 4)

4.	 To re-appoint Messrs RSM Malaysia as Auditors of the Company and to 
authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration. 

(Ordinary Resolution 5)

As Special Business

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions:-

5.	 Authority for Mr Ng Wah Lok to continue in office as Senior Independent 
Non-Executive Director

	 “THAT authority be and is hereby given to Mr Ng Wah Lok who has served as 
an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company for a cumulative term 
of more than twelve (12) years, to continue to act as a Senior Independent 
Non-Executive Director of the Company until the conclusion of the next AGM 
of the Company.”  

(Ordinary Resolution 6)

(Please refer to Note 2
of the Explanatory Notes)

6.	 Authority for Encik Muhammad Hanizam Bin Hj. Borhan to continue in office 
as Independent Non-Executive Director

	 “THAT subject to passing of Ordinary Resolution 3, the authority be and is 
hereby given to Encik Muhammad Hanizam Bin Hj. Borhan who has served 
as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company for a cumulative 
term of more than twelve (12) years, to continue to act as an Independent 
Non-Executive Director of the Company until the conclusion of the next AGM 
of the Company.”

(Ordinary Resolution 7)

(Please refer to Note 2
of the Explanatory Notes)
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Notice of  
Annual General Meeting

(cont’d)

7.	 Proposed Renewal of Authority for the Company to Purchase its own 
Ordinary 	Shares (“Proposed Renewal of Share Buy-Back Mandate”)

	 “THAT subject to the Companies Act 2016 (“the Act”), the Constitution of 
the Company, the Main Market Listing Requirements (“MMLR”) of Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) and the approvals of all 
relevant governmental and/or regulatory authorities (if any), the Company 
be and is hereby authorised to utilise an amount not exceeding the audited 
retained profits of the Company as at 31 December 2019 of RM418.40 million 
to purchase such amount of ordinary shares in the Company (“Proposed 
Share Buy-Back”) as may be determined by the Directors of the Company 
from time to time through Bursa Securities upon such terms and conditions 
as the Directors may deem fit and expedient in the interest of the Company 
provided that the aggregate number of shares purchased and/or held 
pursuant to this resolution does not exceed ten per centum (10%) of the 
total number of issued shares of the Company;

	 THAT an amount not exceeding the Company’s retained profits account be 
allocated by the Company for the Proposed Share Buy-Back;

	 THAT authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to 
decide at their absolute discretion to either cancel and/or retain the shares 
so purchased as treasury shares and to dealt with such treasury shares in 
the manner as set out in Section 127(7) of the Act.

	 THAT the authority conferred by this resolution will be effective immediately 
upon the passing of this resolution and will expire at:-

(i)	 the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company (being the Forty-Ninth 
AGM of the Company), at which time the said authority will lapse unless 
by an ordinary resolution passed at a general meeting of the Company, 
the authority is renewed, either unconditionally or subject to conditions;

(ii)	 the expiration of the period within which the Forty-Ninth AGM of the 
Company is required by law to be held; or

(iii)	 revoked or varied by an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders 
in a general meeting;

	 whichever occurs first but not so as to prejudice the completion of the 
purchase(s) by the Company before the aforesaid expiry date and in any event, 
in accordance with the provisions of the guidelines issued by Bursa Securities 
and/or any other relevant governmental and/or regulatory authorities (if any);

	 AND THAT the Directors of the Company be authorised to take all steps 
necessary to implement, complete and do all such acts and things (including 
executing all such documents as may be required) as they may consider 
expedient or necessary to give effect to the Proposed Share Buy-Back as 
may be agreed or allowed by any relevant governmental and/or regulatory 
authority.”

(Ordinary Resolution 8)

(Please refer to Note 3
of the Explanatory Notes)
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8.	 Proposed Renewal of Authority under Sections 75 and 76 of the Act and 
the Constitution of the Company for the Directors to allot and issue shares

	 “THAT pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Act and the Constitution of 
the Company, the Directors be and are hereby authorised and empowered 
to allot and issue shares in the Company at any time until the conclusion of 
the next AGM of the Company and upon such terms and conditions and for 
such purposes as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit 
provided that the aggregate number of shares to be issued does not exceed 
ten per centum (10%) of the total number of issued shares of the Company 
(excluding treasury shares) at the time of issue, subject to the Constitution 
of the Company and approval of all the relevant regulatory bodies being 
obtained for such allotment and issue.”

(Special Resolution)

(Please refer to Note 4
of the Explanatory Notes)

9.	 To transact any other business, of which due notice shall have been given 
in accordance with the Constitution of the Company and the Act.

By Order of the Board,

TAI YIT CHAN (MAICSA 7009143)
TAN AI NING (MAICSA 7015852)
Company Secretaries

Selangor Darul Ehsan
16 June 2020

Notes:-

1.	 As part of the safety measures to curb the spread of the Coronavirus outbreak, the Company will conduct the 
AGM entirely through live streaming and online remote voting via Remote Participation and Voting (“RPV”) 
facilities. For further details and guidelines on RPV facilities, please refer to the Administrative Guide.

2.	 The broadcast venue is strictly for the purpose of complying with Section 327(2) of the Companies Act 2016 
which requires the Chairman of the Meeting to be at the main venue. No shareholders/proxies/corporate 
representative from the public should be physically present at the broadcast venue on the day of AGM.

3.	 In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear on the Record of Depositors on 8 July 
2020 (General Meeting Record of Depositors) shall be eligible to attend, speak and vote at the meeting or 
appoint proxy(ies) to attend, speak and/or vote on his (her) behalf.

4.	 A member [other than an exempt authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central 
Depositories) Act 1991] entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) 
proxies to attend, participate, speak and vote on his (her) behalf. A proxy may but need not be a member of 
the Company. There shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy. A proxy appointed to attend, 
participate, speak and vote at the meeting of the Company shall have the same rights as the members to 
speak at the meeting.

5.	 Where a member appoints two (2) proxies, the appointment shall be invalid unless he (she) specifies the 
proportions of his (her) shareholdings to be represented by each proxy.

6.	 Where a member of the Company is an Exempt Authorised Nominee which holds shares in the Company for 
multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”) as defined under the Securities 
Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991, there is no limit to the number of proxies which the Exempt Authorised 
Nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

Notice of  
Annual General Meeting
(cont’d)
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Notes: (Cont’d)

7.	 Where a member of the Company is an Authorised Nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central 
Depositories) Act 1991, it is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies in respect of each securities 
account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit of the said securities account. Where 
an Authorised Nominee appoints two (2) proxies to attend and vote at the AGM, the proportion of shareholdings 
to be represented by each proxy must be specified in the proxy form, failing which, the appointment shall be 
invalid.

8.	 The proxy form shall be in writing, executed by or on behalf of the appointer or his (her) attorney duly authorised 
in writing or, if the appointer is a corporation, either be executed under its common seal or by its duly authorised 
attorney or officer.

9.	 The proxy form and the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed or a duly notarised 
copy of that power or authority must be deposited to the Company’s Share Registrar office at Level 7, Menara 
Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat Bandar Damansara, Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur not less 
than forty-eight (48) hours before the time set for holding the meeting or any adjournment thereof. Any 
notice of termination of person’s authority to act as a proxy must be forwarded to the Company prior to the 
commencement of the AGM or adjourned AGM. 

10.	 Pursuant to paragraph 8.29A(1) of the MMLR of Bursa Securities, all the resolutions set out in the Notice of the 
AGM will be put to vote by poll. Poll Administrator and Independent Scrutineers will be appointed to conduct 
the polling process and verify the results of the poll respectively.

EXPLANATORY NOTES

1.	 Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019

	 Agenda item no. 1 is meant for discussion only as the provision of Section 340(1)(a) of the the Act does not 
require a formal approval of shareholders for the audited financial statements. Hence, this item on the Agenda 
is not put forward for voting.

2.	 Authority for Mr Ng Wah Lok and Encik Muhammad Hanizam Bin Hj. Borhan to continue in office as Senior 
Independent Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-Executive Director respectively

	 In respect of Ordinary Resolution 6 and 7, the Board of Directors (“Board”) has via the Nomination Committee 
conducted an evaluation on the re-appointment of Mr Ng Wah Lok and Encik Muhammad Hanizam Bin Hj. 
Borhan who have served as Senior Independent Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-Executive Director 
of the Company respectively for a cumulative term of more than twelve (12) years, and recommended them 
to continue to act as Senior Independent Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-Executive Director of 
the Company respectively, based on the following justifications subject to the approval from the shareholders 
of the Company:-

a.	 They fulfilled the criteria under the definition of Independent Director as stated in the MMLR, and therefore 
are able to bring independent and objective judgment to the Board.

b.	 They have contributed sufficient time and effort in attending the Board Committee meetings and Board 
meetings. 

c.	 The length of their service on the Board does not in any way interfere with their exercise of independent 
judgment and ability to act in the best interests of the Company.

d.	 As they have been with the Company for more than twelve (12) years, they therefore understand 
the Company’s business operations which enable them to participate actively and contribute during 
deliberations or discussions at Board Committee meetings and Board meetings without compromising 
their independence and objective judgment.

e.	 They have exercised their due care during their tenure as Senior Independent Non-Executive Director 
and Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company respectively and carried out their professional 
duties in the interest of the Company and shareholders.

Notice of  
Annual General Meeting

(cont’d)
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EXPLANATORY NOTES (Cont’d)

3.	 Proposed Renewal of Share Buy-Back Mandate

	 Ordinary Resolution 8 proposed under item 7 of the Agenda, if passed, will give the Directors of the Company 
authority to take all such steps as are necessary or expedient to implement, finalise, complete and/or to effect 
the purchase(s) of ordinary shares by the Company up to ten per centum (10%) of the total number of issued 
shares of the Company at the time of issue as the Directors may deem fit and expedient in the best interests 
of the Company. The authority will, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, continue to 
be in force until the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company or the expiry of the period within which the 
next AGM of the Company following the Forty-Eighth AGM is required by law to be held.

Please refer to the Statement to Shareholders dated 16 June 2020 for further information.

4.	 Proposed Renewal of Authority under Sections 75 and 76 of the Act and the Constitution of the Company 
for the Directors to allot and issue shares

	 The Company had, during its Forty-Seventh AGM held on 20 June 2019, obtained its shareholders’ approval for 
the general mandate for issuance of shares pursuant to the Sections 75 and 76 of the Act. As at the date of 
this notice, the Company had placed out 25,500,000 new ordinary shares pursuant to this mandate obtained. 
The proceeds raised from the private placement have been utilised for repayment of bank borrowings and 
defrayment of expenses incidental to the private placement.

	 Special Resolution proposed under item 8 of the Agenda is a renewal of the general mandate for issuance of 
shares by the Company under Sections 75 and 76 of the Act. The mandate, if passed, will provide flexibility 
for the Company and empower the Directors to allot and issue new shares speedily in the Company up to an 
amount not exceeding in total 10% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) of the 
Company for such purposes as the Directors consider would be in the interest of the Company. This would 
eliminate any delay arising from and cost involved in convening a general meeting to obtain approval of the 
shareholders for such issuance of shares. This authority, unless revoked or varied by the Company at a general 
meeting, will expire at the next AGM.

	 This authority will provide flexibility to the Company for any possible fund raising activities, including but not 
limited to further placing of shares, for purposes of funding investment project(s), working capital and/or 
acquisition.

Personal Data Privacy:

By submitting proxy form(s) appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the AGM 
and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of 
the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration 
by the Company (or its agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for the AGM (including any adjournment 
thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the 
AGM (including any adjournment  thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable 
laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member 
discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), 
the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and 
disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the 
Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, 
demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.

Notice of  
Annual General Meeting
(cont’d)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Roy Thean Chong Yew (Chairman)
Ng Wah Lok
Muhammad Hanizam  
Bin Hj. Borhan

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Muhammad Hanizam  
Bin Hj. Borhan (Chairman)
Ng Wah Lok
Roy Thean Chong Yew

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Dato’ Ikhwan Salim  
Bin Dato’ Haji Sujak (Chairman)
Ng Wah Lok
Roy Thean Chong Yew

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Ng Wah Lok (Chairman)
Ong Teng Chun
Muhammad Hanizam  
Bin Hj. Borhan

COMPANY SECRETARIES

Tai Yit Chan
(MAICSA 7009143)

Tan Ai Ning
(MAICSA 7015852)

REGISTERED OFFICE

Unit B-05-3A, 5th Floor 
Block B (West Wing) 
PJ8 Office Suite 
No. 23, Jalan Barat 
Seksyen 8 
46050 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan
Tel	 : 03-7955 7889 
Fax	 : 03-7956 0389

HEAD OFFICE

Wisma Masteel 
Lot 29C, Off Jalan Tandang 
Section 51 
46050 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan
Tel	 : 03-7781 1611 
Fax	 : 03-7781 5435

AUDITORS

RSM Malaysia 
5th Floor, Penthouse 
Wisma RKT, Block A 
No. 2, Jalan Raja Abdullah 
Off Jalan Sultan Ismail 
50300 Kuala Lumpur

SHARE REGISTRAR

Securities Services (Holdings) 
Sdn. Bhd. 
Level 7, Menara Milenium 
Jalan Damanlela 
Pusat Bandar Damansara 
Damansara Heights 
50490 Kuala Lumpur
Tel	 : 03-2084 9000
Fax	 : 03-2094 9940

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hong Leong Bank Berhad 
OCBC Bank (Malaysia) Berhad 
Standard Chartered Bank
Malaysia Berhad 
HSBC Bank Malaysia Berhad

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

Main Market of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad

Stock Name	: Masteel 
Stock Code	 : 5098

Dato’ Ikhwan Salim Bin Dato’ Haji Sujak

(Chairman – Independent Non-Executive)

Dato’ Sri Tai Hean Leng @ Tek Hean Leng

(Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer)

Lau Yoke Leong

(Executive Director/Chief Financial Officer)

Ong Teng Chun

(Executive Director)

Ng Wah Lok

(Senior Independent Non-Executive Director)

Roy Thean Chong Yew

(Independent Non-Executive Director)

Muhammad Hanizam Bin Hj. Borhan

(Independent Non-Executive Director)

Ng Siew Peng

(Executive Director)

Corporate  
Information
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Corporate  
Structure

Registration No. 197101000213 (7878-V)

MS EXPRESS SDN BHD
201701013472 (1227637-T)

Providing various type of trailers, trucks and 
lorry transportation for coals, iron ore and 

steel for steel manufacturers

100%

BIO MOLECULAR
INDUSTRIES SDN BHD

200501014182 (691229-K)

Manufacturing, research and development 
of radioisotopes and radiopharmaceuticals 

products for Positron Emission 
Tomography (pet).

48.25%
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Financial  
Highlights

2015
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2017
RM’000

2018
RM’000

2019
RM’000

Revenue 1,143,694 1,206,758  1,463,257 1,496,853  1,195,306

Profit/(Loss) before taxation (46,392) 25,970  70,883 4,838  (20,721)

Net Profit/(Loss) for the financial year (50,403) 21,430  75,458 6,705  (8,326)

Total Assets Employed 1,163,751 1,288,697  1,317,111 1,376,837  1,518,292

Total Shareholders’ funds 529,896 550,967  648,023 657,618  729,982

Paid-up Share Capital 122,254 122,254  221,472 230,094  233,310

No. of Ordinary Shares in Issue (‘000) 244,508 244,508  315,631 427,240  436,040

Gearing Ratio 66.58% 65.55% 54.77% 59.31% 65.56%

Net Assets per Share (RM) 2.17 2.25  2.05 1.54  1.67

Earnings/(Loss) per Share (sen) (20.81) 8.87  25.03 1.58  (1.95)

Diluted Earnings per Share (sen) – – – – –

Gross Dividend per Share (sen) – –  0.90 – –
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Directors’ 
Profile

Dato’ Ikhwan Salim Bin Dato’ Haji Sujak, a Malaysian, 
male, aged 63, was appointed as Non-Executive 
Chairman since 22 May 2003 and a Non-Executive 
Director of Malaysia Steel Works (KL) Bhd (“Masteel”) 
since 23 July 1998. He was re-designated as an 
Independent Non-Executive Director on 23 April 2012. 
He obtained a Bachelor of Science degree in Economics/ 
Accounting in 1977 from Queen’s University, Belfast, 
Ireland. He joined Nestle (M) Sdn Bhd as a Finance 
Executive in 1979. In 1980, he joined Jaya Management 
Sdn Bhd, a subsidiary of General Corporation Berhad 
as the Group Finance Planning Manager and upon 
restructuring his family’s varied business operations in 
1981, he was made the Director for the holding company, 
Jaya Holdings Sdn Bhd. Since 1999, he was appointed 
as Director of Konsortium Jaringan Selangor Sdn Bhd 
and was also appointed as an Independent Director as 
well as Chairman of the audit committee of Glomac 
Berhad. Subsequently, he was appointed as Independent 
Director of Kumpulan Perangsang Selangor Berhad in 
2001 to 2008. He was also appointed as a Director in 
Land and General Berhad on 1 December 2007. He was 
also a committee member of Automobile Association 
of Malaysia and the British Graduates Association of 
Malaysia. Dato’ Ikhwan Salim also sits on the Board of 
several private companies in Malaysia.

Dato’ Ikhwan Salim attended all 5 Board meetings of 
the Company held during the financial year ended 31 
December 2019.

Dato’ Sri Tai Hean Leng, a Malaysian, male, aged 56, 
was appointed as an Executive Director of Masteel on 
25 April 1994. He is also the Managing Director/ Chief 
Executive Officer of Masteel. He obtained a Bachelor 
of Science degree in Mechanical Engineering from The 
University of Southern California in 1987 and a Master’s 
degree in Finance from the University of Hull, United 
Kingdom in 1993. He began his practical training in 1987 
as a Plant Manager in the manufacturing of Liquefied 
Petroleum Gas (“LPG”) pressure vessels for the oil and 
gas industries. He has been involved in the formulation 
and implementation of Masteel’s corporate strategies 
including corporate planning, business expansion and 
operations. He has more than 29 years of business 
experience in the iron and steel industry. Dato’ Sri Tai 
also sits on the Board of MS Express Sdn Bhd which 
is the wholly-owned subsidiary of Masteel. He also 
sits on the Board of Bio Molecular Industries Sdn Bhd, 
an associate company of Masteel and several private 
companies in Malaysia. Dato’ Sri Tai is a member of 
the board of the Malaysia Steel Institute (“MSI”) and he 
is the Vice President of the Malaysia Steel Association 
(“MSA”). He does not hold any directorship in any other 
public company.

Dato’ Sri Tai attended all the 5 Board meetings of 
the Company held during the financial year ended 31 
December 2019.

Dato’ Ikhwan Salim  
Bin Dato’ Haji Sujak
(Chairman – Independent Non-Executive) 
(Chairman of Remuneration Committee)

Nationality	 Gender	 Age 
Malaysian	 Male	 63

Dato’ sri tai hean leng @ 
tek hean leng
(Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer)

Nationality	 Gender	 Age 
Malaysian	 Male	 56
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Directors’  
Profile

(cont’d)

Lau Yoke Leong, a Malaysian, male, aged 51, was 
appointed as an Executive Director of Masteel on 16 April 
2007. He joined Masteel as an Accountant in July 2000, 
promoted as Chief Accountant in June 2004 and was 
appointed as Chief Financial Officer in April 2016. He is 
a Fellow Chartered Certified Accountant and a member 
of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA”). He 
has more than 19 years of experience in various fields 
of accounting, audit, taxation and management matters 
as well as in-house training instructor on updating of 
accounting standards and audit software program, 
corporate restructuring, corporate exercise and due 
diligence assignments. He started his accounting 
profession in 1994 as an auditor with Messrs Ong & 
Wong. He completed the professional qualification from 
The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in 
late 1995. Upon graduation in 1995, he joined another 
public accounting firm, Messrs T.H.Liew & Gan before 
moving on to  Messrs Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as an 
auditor from 1996 to 1999. From 1999 to 2000, he was 
with Bell Management Services Sdn Bhd before joining 
Masteel. Mr Lau also sits on the Board of Bio Molecular 
Industries Sdn Bhd, an associate company of Masteel 
and several private companies in Malaysia. He does 
not hold any directorship in any other public company.

Mr Lau attended all 5 Board meetings of the Company 
held during the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

Ong  Teng  Chun,  a  Malaysian, male, aged  52,  
was appointed as an Executive Director of  Masteel 
on  30 September 2015. He joined Masteel as an 
Assistant Finance Manager in September 1998 and 
was subsequently promoted to the position of a 
Senior Vice President in July 2010. His principal duties 
include managing the Financial, Treasury and Risk 
Management of Masteel. He was also en-tasked to 
spearhead the marketing division of steel bars. He 
obtained his Bachelor of Business degree majoring in 
Banking and Finance, in 1991, from Curtin University, 
Western Australia. Prior to joining Masteel, Mr Ong 
worked in Malaysian International Merchant Bankers 
Bhd (“MIMB”), where he was actively engaged in various 
syndicated fundraising exercises and structuring of 
project loan facilities. He also sits on the Board of several 
private companies in Malaysia. He does not hold any 
directorship in any other public company.

Mr Ong attended all 5 Board Meetings of the Company 
held during the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

Lau Yoke Leong
(Executive Director/Chief Financial Officer)

Nationality	 Gender	 Age 
Malaysian	 Male	 51

Ong Teng Chun
(Executive Director)
(Member of the Risk Management Committee)

Nationality	 Gender	 Age 
Malaysian	 Male	 52
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Ng Wah Lok, a Malaysian, male, aged 59, was appointed 
as an Independent Non-Executive Director of Masteel on 
29 July 2004. He obtained his Bachelor of Engineering 
degree in 1984 and a Master degree in Engineering 
Science in 1989 from the University of Malaya. Upon 
graduation, he worked as a Project Engineer for a 
research project in the University of Malaya developing 
a hand pump to eradicate waterborne diseases in rural 
areas. In 1989, he joined Malaysian Industrial Products 
Sdn Bhd as a Project Engineer. In 1993, he was appointed 
as the General Manager of Masteel and was responsible 
for the upgrading of the rolling mill in Petaling Jaya 
and managed the expansion of the Bukit Raja plant in 
Klang. In 1999, he resigned as Senior General Manager 
and alternate Director of Masteel. He is currently a 
Director of a private limited company and 4 unlisted 
public companies in Malaysia, namely Eagle Dialysis 
Centre Berhad, New Covenant Community Centre Bhd, 
Full Gospel Tabernacle Bhd and Tung Ling Seminary.

Mr Ng attended all 5 Board meetings of the Company 
held during the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

Roy Thean Chong Yew, a Malaysian, male, aged 48, 
was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive 
Director of Masteel on 2 July 2015. He is a member of 
the Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
(“MICPA”), Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA”) 
and a Chartered Member of Institute of Internal 
Auditors of Malaysia (“CMIIA”). He started embarking 
on his career path in 1994 with PKF Malaysia. After 
accumulating extensive working experience in his field, 
he left PKF Malaysia as an Audit Manager in 2003 to join 
a professional services firm, Russell Bedford Malaysia 
Business Advisory Sdn. Bhd. (“RBMBA”) for another six 
(6) years, rising to the position of an Executive Director. 
In 2009, he left RBMBA to start his own business venture. 
With over 24 years of working experience in local and 
international professional services firms, Mr Roy Thean 
has been involved in rendering a wide and diverse range 
of professional services to public listed companies and 
multinational and large national enterprises. His work 
encompasses a wide range of professional services 
with his core practice being in corporate finance and 
advisory work  for transaction support services including 
business valuations, financial due diligence, preparation 
of business plans and financial modeling, internal 
control and business risk review, corporate governance, 
risk management, merger/acquisition related services, 
internal and external auditing. Presently, Mr Roy Thean 
acts as a Director and an Audit Committee Chairman 
of JAG Berhad.

Mr Roy Thean attended all 5 Board meetings of the 
Company held during the financial year ended 31 
December 2019.

Directors’  
Profile
(cont’d)

Ng Wah Lok
(Senior Independent Non-Executive Director) 
(Chairman of Risk Management Committee,
Members of Audit Committee, Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee)

Nationality	 Gender	 Age 
Malaysian	 Male	 59

Roy Thean Chong Yew
(Independent Non-Executive Director) 
(Chairman of Audit Committee,
Members of Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee)

Nationality	 Gender	 Age 
Malaysian	 Male	 48
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Muhammad Hanizam Bin Hj. Borhan, a Malaysian, 
male, aged 47, was appointed as an Independent 
Non-Executive Director on 12 November 2007. He 
is a member of the MIA. He obtained his Bachelor 
in Accountancy (Hons) Degree from the Universiti 
Teknologi MARA (“UiTM”) Shah Alam in 1997. He started 
his career in an accounting firm Messrs Ali Jaafar & Co, 
in Kuala Lumpur as an audit assistant between 1996 to 
1999 before he moved on to become audit supervisor 
with Messrs MNZ Associates, a Public Accountants firm 
between 1999 to 2000. He re-joined Messrs Ali Jaafar & 
Co in October 2000 as Audit Assistant Manager and was 
subsequently promoted to become the Audit Manager 
from 2002 to 2004. He joined Messrs Ismail Adam & 
Co as Tax Manager from May 2004 to September 2005. 
Thereafter, he started his own professional firm Messrs 
My Accounting Services where he is currently offering 
accounting and business advisory services to a variety 
of clients. He has more than 21 years of experience 
in small and medium-sized firms involving in trading, 
manufacturing, marketing, plantation, construction, 
property development, quasi government agencies and 
services industries.  In February 2015, he was appointed 
as a member of Accounting Syllabus Committee 
for Malaysian Higher School Certificate under The 
Malaysian Examinations Council and was responsible 
to review the accounting syllabus periodically. He does 
not hold any directorship in any other public company.

Encik Muhammad Hanizam attended all 5 Board 
meetings during the financial year ended 31 December 
2019.

Ng Siew Peng, a Malaysian, female, aged 41, was 
appointed as an Executive Director on 23 November 
2017. She obtained a Master of Business Administration 
with specialisation in Finance from University of 
Southern Queensland, Australia. She joined Masteel in 
October 2012 as an Assistant Finance Manager and 
was subsequently promoted to the position of Corporate 
Manager in April 2016. Her principal duties are to ensure 
the integrity of the governance framework, compliance 
with statutory and regulatory requirements and 
implements decision made by the Board of Directors. 
She has more than 16 years of working experience in 
Corporate Finance and Corporate Governance. Prior to 
joining Masteel, she worked in Frontken Corporation 
Berhad, where she worked closely with the Senior 
Vice President to achieve the Company’s objectives 
and participate actively in corporate finance related 
assignments. From 2004 to 2010, she was with Soon 
Seng Palm Oil Mill Sdn Bhd to assist the Group Director 
on implementation and coordination of new overseas 
investment plan. Ms Ng also sits on the Board of a 
private company. She does not hold any directorship in 
any other public company.

Ms Ng attended all 5 Board Meetings of the Company 
held during the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

Directors’  
Profile

(cont’d)

Other than the aforesaid, none of the Directors has family relationship with any other directors/major shareholders, except for 
the Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer, who is related to a major shareholder. None of the Directors have any conflict 
of interest with the Company. The members of the Board have no convictions for any offences within the past five (5) years or 
have been imposed on any public sanction or penalty by relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year ended 31 December 
2019, other than traffic offences (if any).

Muhammad Hanizam
Bin Hj. Borhan
(Independent Non-Executive Director) 
(Chairman of Nomination Committee,
Members of Audit Committee
and Risk Management Committee)

Nationality	 Gender	 Age 
Malaysian	 Male	 47

Ng Siew Peng
(Executive Director)

Nationality	 Gender	 Age 
Malaysian	 Female	 41
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Particulars of  
Key Senior Management

Tan Ka Yeong
(Senior Vice President)

Tan Ka Yeong, a Malaysian, male, aged 51, was appointed as a Senior Vice President of Masteel on 1 October 2018. 
He joined Masteel as a Plant Engineer in 1997 and was promoted as a Special Assistant to the Managing Director/ 
Chief Executive Officer in 2006. In 2009, he was promoted again as a Deputy General Manager. He holds a MSC in 
Materials Engineering with Distinction from University of Sunderland, Sunderland U.K. He has more than 26 years of 
experience in the engineering field. He started his engineering profession in 1994 to 1997 with Harom LPG Industries 
Sdn Bhd as a Plant Engineer before joining Masteel in 1997.

None of the Key Senior Management has any directorship in public companies and listed issuers. None of the Key Senior 
Management has family relationship with any directors/ major shareholders. None of the Key Senior Management have any 
conflict of interest with the Company. The Key Senior Management have no convictions for any offences within the past five 
(5) years or have been imposed on any public sanction or penalty by relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year ended 
31 December 2019, other than traffic offences (if any).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION  
AND ANALYSIS

Group’s business and operations

Masteel’s principal business activities are involved in the production of steel billets and steel bars which comply 
with the Malaysian Standard (MS 146:2014) for the construction and infrastructure sectors. The Company has a 
100%-owned subsidiary i.e. MS Express Sdn Bhd (“MSX”) which is involved in transportation and logistics activities.

Masteel also has an associate company, Bio Molecular Industries Sdn Bhd (“Bio-M”), which is a BioNexus certified 
company that manufactures and undertakes research and development of radioisotopes which are used by hospitals 
for cancer imaging. These products fully comply with the Ministry of Health of Malaysia’s National Pharmaceutical 
Regulatory Affairs (“NPRA”) regulations and standards. Bio-M’s facilities meet all the standards as set out by the 
Atomic Energy Licensing Board (“AELB”).

The manufacturing facilities of Masteel are located in Petaling Jaya and Bukit Raja, Klang, Selangor. The geographical 
presence of the sales of its steel bars are primarily in the Klang Valley, Johor and the East Coast of West Malaysia. 
Its radioisotopes manufacturing facility is located in Bandar Enstek, Negeri Sembilan. The main market for its 
radioisotopes are hospitals throughout Malaysia.

The main driver of revenue for the Group is from the sales of steel bars and billets.

Group Revenue from 2015-2019
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The distribution between local and export sales for the past 5 years are as follows:-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION  
AND ANALYSIS
(cont’d)

Group’s business and operations (cont’d)

In FYE 2019, MSX increased its revenue by 66.23% from RM3.05 Million to RM5.07 Million. In line with the increased 
revenue, MSX’s profit before tax (“PBT”) rose by 11.76% from RM1.36 Million in FYE 2018 to RM1.52 Million in FYE 
2019. The main driver of revenue and profit for MSX was derived from transporting Masteel’s steel bars and billets 
between its Bukit Raja and Petaling Jaya facilities (in-house operations). In 2019, MSX had also commenced its 
external logistic services to include delivery of steel bars to Masteel’s external customers.

Bio-M, the associate company which manufactures radioisotopes for the imaging of cancer cells had recorded a 
turnover of RM8.30 Million which is an increase of 39.73% from RM5.94 Million in FYE 2018. In line with the increase 
in turnover and higher utilisation of the manufacturing facility, Bio-M’s gross profit also increased by 41.83% from 
RM2.63 Million in FYE 2018 to RM3.73 Million in FYE 2019.

Revenue from 2017-2019 (Bio-M)
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The sales revenue from steel bars in the past 5 years are as follows:-

Steel Bars Revenue from 2015-2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION  
AND ANALYSIS

(cont’d)

Group’s business and operations (cont’d)

The production capacity of billets and bars are as follows:-

Production Capacity (MT) of Steel Bars and Billets 
from 2015-2019
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Business objectives

The objective of the Company’s manufacturing activities is to maximize shareholders’ value through the generation 
of profits by increasing sales volume and widening profit margin per MT with the efficient utilisation of minimum 
overheads and capitals.

Whilst the Company is constantly striving to improve its output through the upgrading of its plant and machinery, it 
is also diligently looking towards establishing new strategic partnerships and joint ventures with other steel mills to 
increase its capacities and expand into other steel products for its home market and new markets in the ASEAN region.

Ongoing research and development on the technology and methodology to improve the efficiencies and reliability 
of the manufacturing facilities are key agendas for the management of the Company. For instance, the utilisation 
of a new technologically efficient facility will increase the billet production capacity and reduce reliance on various 
consumables which constitutes a significant amount of the production cost. This technological transformation will 
eventually enable the Company to keep the costs of production in check and remain competitive in the industry.

The Company employs and retains a well trained and experienced workforce which are accustomed to the challenges 
of the cyclical nature inherent in the steel business and the demanding working environment of the heavy steel industry.

The complexity of ensuring consistently high utilization rate of all manufacturing facilities is a major factor that 
can affect the costs and competitiveness of its products. The Company has in place stringent and comprehensive 
training, inspection and maintenance programs with extensive incentives and penalty schemes to ensure the fullest 
compliance. Other external factors such as market pricing, exchange rate fluctuations and cost push factors are 
harder to be mitigated and anticipated.

It is the business philosophy of the Company to be prudent when expending its financial resources and is constantly 
remaining vigilant and informed about future trends.
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Financial results and financial condition

The Group’s key financial performance for financial year 2019 are as follows:-

(a)	 For the year under review, the Group’s revenue decreased by 20.14% to RM1,195.31 Million as compared to 
RM1,496.85 Million in the previous financial year. The decrease in average selling prices and sales volume in 
the year was due to depressed demand, particularly in the first half of 2019 (“H1 FYE 2019”).

(b)	 The Group reported a Net Loss of RM8.33 Million in FYE 2019 as compared to a Net Profit of RM6.71 Million 
in the preceding year. The loss was primarily due to lower margins resulting from the lower selling price and 
higher finance costs incurred during the year. However, the Group saw its financial performance improve over 
the year, reporting a net profit in the second half of 2019 (“H2 FYE 2019”) of RM10.77 Million as compared 
with a net loss in the second half of 2018 (“H2 FYE 2018”) of RM19.00 Million, thereby reduced its financial 
losses for the year under review.

Masteel was able to achieve steady improvements in its latest quarterly financial results over the year under review 
due to the successful implementation of its new steel melting technology. These new facilities have been proven to 
reduce the cost of production of steel billets. Masteel strives to improve its cost of production as cost management 
is crucial in an industry where selling prices are highly market driven.

MSX, the wholly owned subsidiary of Masteel, currently possesses a fleet of nine prime movers and trailers which 
exclusively transports Masteel’s steel bars and billets between its Bukit Raja and Petaling Jaya facilities. This has 
allowed Masteel to reduce a portion of its transportation costs. In 2019, MSX began to extend its services to include 
delivery of bars directly to its customers’ sites.

The cyclotron at the radio pharmaceutical production facility recorded an improved sales output of radioisotopes 
from 142,337mCi in FYE 2018 to 196,496mCi in FYE 2019 (38.05% higher) due to more hospitals installing Positron 
Emission Tomography – Computed Tomography (“PET-CT”) scanners throughout Central and Southern Peninsular 
Malaysia.

The financial outcome of the Group other than being driven by the above capacities is also affected by actual sale 
volumes, selling price of its end products and raw material costs. In addition, the magnitude in the increase of energy 
costs, labour costs, and financial costs will also affect the final financial outcome of the Group.

The following are the risk factors that could affect the financial performance of the Company:-

1)	 In addition to the ongoing softness in the property sector, the delay in the implementation and uncertainty 
over the launching of several government mega infrastructure and construction projects are risk factors which 
could affect the local demand of steel bars.

2)	T he recent political instability in the country may create further uncertainty on the implementation of the ongoing 
and future launching of various government mega infrastructure and construction projects. As a result, this 
will further affect the local demand of steel bars.

3)	 Furthermore, the plunge in oil prices while not directly affecting the steel industry, could hamper the progress 
on the ongoing and future construction and development projects as a consequence of the decline in the 
government’s revenue. However, the new Perikatan Nasional government had announced that all major projects 
under Malaysia’s Budget 2020 will continue as planned.

4)	 On a global level, the recent Covid-19 pandemic has caused a global economic slowdown which had impacted 
global markets, supply chains, and consumption demands worldwide. The Malaysian government had 
announced a RM250 Billion stimulus package which includes infrastructure upgrades.

5)	 Risk of imported steel bars being dumped in Malaysia is currently minimal due to the existing safeguard duty 
gazetted on 14th April 2017. Additionally, a successful discourse with the Ministry of International Trade 
and Industry (“MITI”) had led to the imposition of anti-dumping import duties of up to 20.09% on rebars from 
Singapore and Turkey. This anti-dumping import duty was gazetted on 21st January 2020 which became 
effective from 22nd January 2020 and will only expire on 21st January 2025.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION  
AND ANALYSIS
(cont’d)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION  
AND ANALYSIS

(cont’d)

Financial results and financial condition (Cont’d)

6)	 Any potential increase in costs will be mitigated by striving for higher output and better production cost 
efficiency with the implementation of new technology packages and manpower retraining.

7)	 Foreign exchange volatility risk will continue to be minimized and mitigated through constant monitoring of the 
foreign exchange market and the Company’s overall forex exposure. In addition, the Company is anticipating 
to increase its foreign currency based revenue via the export of billets and steel bars. Thereby this anticipated 
increase of exports will provide a natural hedge to a portion of its forex exposure.

8)	 The establishment of a foreign owned steel mill in the east coast is still posing a significant risk as it substantially 
increases the supply of steel products into the local market which is in the midst of experiencing a weak 
demand as a consequence of the soft construction and property sectors.

Financial Section of the Company

1)	 During the year under review, the Company’s revenue declined by 20.14% year on year (RM1,496.85 Million 
in 2018 to RM1,195.31 Million in 2019) due to the suppressed domestic demand for steel bars coupled with 
excess supply in the local market, particularly in H1 FYE 2019. However, the Company started to experience 
a steady improvement in its financial performance in the second half of 2019 (“H2 FYE 2019”).

2)	T he above phenomenon of suppressed domestic demand coupled with excess supply resulted in a compression 
of our sales margin. For the year 2019, the Company recorded a Gross profit of RM52.80 Million, a decrease of 
38.64% from RM86.05 Million in 2018. Compressed margin in the first half of 2019 (“H1 FYE 2019”) was due 
to excess supply from a new foreign-owned steel mill. Furthermore, the slow rollout and reviewing on various 
mega infrastructure projects also contributed to the reduction in demand of steel bars for H1 FYE 2019.

3)	 In H2 FYE 2019, Masteel was able to turn around to record a greater gross profit margin of RM23.46 Million 
and RM23.36 Million for Q3 and Q4 respectively, as a consequence of the successful commissioning and 
mastery of the Company’s second plant which employs the cost-efficient steel melting technology.

4)	 Following the decline in gross profit, the Company posted a Loss before tax (“LBT”) of RM22.24 Million for the 
year 2019 as compared to a PBT of RM2.66 Million in 2018. The main factor which contributed to the loss was 
the constricted margins in H1 FYE 2019 and increased Finance Costs as a consequence of the issuance of a 
RM130 Million Sukuk Bond in November 2018. In H1 FYE 2019, the Group had recorded an LBT of RM25.04 
Million in contrast to a PBT of RM4.35 Million in H2 FYE 2019.
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Financial Section of the Company (cont’d)

5)	 For the year ended 31st December 2019, the Company saw an increase in its Property, Plant & Equipment 
account from RM628.04 Million to RM738.24 Million mainly due to the upward revaluation of RM76.65 Million 
on the Company’s properties coupled with an acquisition of a new steel production facility.

6)	 The Company’s trade receivables increased from RM136.13 Million as at 31st December 2018 to RM164.31 
Million as at 31st December 2019. In line with the various challenges faced by the construction industry players, 
the Company’s average trade receivable days increased from 33 days in 2018 to 50 days in 2019.

7)	 Due to the demanding and volatile economic conditions of the steel sector in the year under review, the 
Company’s cash balance and short-term deposits reduced marginally by 13.70% from RM69.57 Million in FYE 
2018 to RM60.04 Million in FYE 2019. Despite the reduction, the Company continues to maintain a healthy 
level of Cash and Cash Equivalents in order to face any oncoming challenges.

Cash Balance and Short Term Deposits from  
2015-2019
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8)	 In line with the increase of Trade Receivables and Inventory, the Company’s short-term borrowings increased 
by 36.71% from RM242.66 Million in FYE 2018 to RM331.75 Million in FYE 2019. The increase was mainly 
contributed by bill payables of approximately RM77.52 Million.

9)	 The Company’s long-term borrowings also decreased marginally by 9.05% from RM144.81 Million to 
RM131.71 Million mainly due to reclassification of finance lease liabilities to lease liabilities and repayment 
of term loan.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION  
AND ANALYSIS
(cont’d)
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Financial Section of the Company (cont’d)

10)	 The Company’s shareholders’ funds had increased by 10.93% to RM728.02 Million for the FYE 2019 as compared 
to RM656.26 Million in the previous year. The increase was mainly attributable to an increase in its revaluation 
reserves as the Company underwent a valuation exercise on its landbank in the year under review.

Total Shareholders’ Fund from 2015-2019
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Forward looking statements

The financial year 2019 had certainly been a challenging year for the local and global steel industry. The year 2020 is 
certain to bring a set of unprecedented challenges and obstacles. With our latest steel melting technology, Masteel 
is prepared to face and overcome any oncoming challenges in the year ahead.

Globally, the entire world’s economy has been disrupted by the Covid-19 pandemic and it is unleashing major business 
slowdown everywhere. Malaysia is also not spared as the Government had announced a lockdown on non-essential 
businesses thereby bringing economic activity in the nation to a halt.

Oil prices also took a dive below USD 30/bbl at the beginning of 2020 affecting markets worldwide. While oil prices 
do not directly affect the steel industry, it is expected to hamper construction and development projects as the 
government’s loss of revenue from oil-related sources would lead to a reduction in infrastructure spending.

With the Covid-19 global pandemic coupled with the crash in oil prices, our country’s revenue will be severely affected. 
However, our new Perikatan Nasional government had announced that all major projects under Malaysia’s Budget 
2020 will continue as planned.

Global iron ore prices have spiked drastically in the last year from USD 65/MT up to USD 123/MT at its peak and is 
currently hovering at USD 100/MT while scrap prices have remained relatively stable. While Masteel does not use iron 
ore in its production, the iron ore prices of USD 100/MT level is expected to firmly support the prices of steel bars in 
the region. As Masteel is a scrap-based steel producer, our production cost will remain competitive as compared to 
producers utilizing blast furnace production facilities (which consume iron ore as the main raw material).

Oversupply in the local steel sector is expected to persist due to continued output and operations of a foreign-owned 
steel mill in Kuantan. The issue of oversupply due to imports in the Malaysian market is reduced via the current 
safeguard duty gazetted on 14th April 2017 and MITI’s anti-dumping duty on steel products from Singapore and 
Turkey gazetted on 21st January 2020. Masteel is determined and confident to remain competitive in the local steel 
arena until an equilibrium in the market is reached. As we strive to remain competitive, we continue to invest capital 
expenditures in the latest steel melting technology to optimize our costs.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION  
AND ANALYSIS

(cont’d)



Malaysia Steel Works (KL) Bhd annual report 201922

Forward looking statements (cont’d)

As we had mastered the operations of our new steel melting facilities, our investment in the two new units of steel 
melting technology (commissioned in late 2018 and Q3 2019) has begun to yield desirable results. The observable 
cost savings achieved is encouraging and endows us the confidence to be a competitive steel player capable of 
overcoming market challenges.

Based on the success of the existing equipments, the Company has signed a new contract to procure a third plant. 
With our familiarity and operational experiences, the new facility will effectively be “plug and play” as there will not 
be any gestation period. We will be able to rapidly reap the benefits upon commissioning. Furthermore, the new 
addition will provide us with increased versatility in our product range which include carbon and special steel (in the 
near future). With the expected commissioning of the new plant by the end of year 2020, Masteel will be equipped 
and prepared to cope with such unprecedented economic impact arising from the current global Covid-19 pandemic, 
local political uncertainties and the decline of oil prices.

Masteel’s subsidiary, MSX, is expected to continue its contribution to the Group’s cost saving initiatives by reducing 
the transport costs of delivering its billets and steel bars between its Bukit Raja Plant to Petaling Jaya Plant.

In the radio pharmaceutical division, the quantities of radioisotopes to be sold is expected to grow organically by 
approximately 5% in the year ahead. Bio-M is expecting one new customer in year 2020 which will consequently 
increase its orders by 9,800mCi.

Masteel and its Management believe that being dynamic and ever-adapting are necessary in these volatile times. The 
Board of Directors’ and Management’s ability to look forward and plan ahead has allowed the Company to overcome 
many hurdles for the past 48 years while simultaneously increasing the value creation to its stakeholders. Masteel 
is confident that it is poised to reap the financial rewards in the recovery cycle of the current economic malaise and 
emerge more profitable, sustainable and dominant.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION  
AND ANALYSIS
(cont’d)
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Sustainability  
Statement

SCOPE

The scope of Masteel’s 2019 Sustainability Report covers its parent entity, Malaysia Steel Works (KL) Bhd. MS Express 
Sdn Bhd, a wholly owned subsidiary is not included in this report because MS Express Sdn Bhd was founded during 
the financial year ended (“FYE”) 31 December 2018 and data collection is still in progress.

GOVERNANCE

The integration of sustainability principles of Masteel’s daily operations are being guided by Board of Directors 
which includes innovation in steel-making technology, customers service and sustainable lifecycle of products. The 
Board recognises the importance, risks and opportunities associated with the identified issues and is committed 
to ensuring continuous tracking of indicators relevant to each material issue. The governance structure consists of 
the Board of Directors with the role of policy oversight, the Group Managing Director which heads the sustainable 
task group whom are responsible for the implementation of respective sustainable goals.

THE SUSTAINABILITY APPROACH

Sustainability Governance

 

MISSION
EMPOWER THE COMMUNITY AT LARGE

VISION
ADVOCATES STEEL’S ROLE IN THE COMMUNITY

OBJECTIVE
ENSURE THAT ALL CR INITIAVES ARE SUSTAINABLE

Sustainability means balancing the following: People, Profits, Planet

KEY CR PILLARS 
COMMUNITY CULTURAL   WORKPLACE   MARKETPLACE   ENVIRONMENT

CROSS-CUTTING THRUSTS 
ENGAGE STAKEHOLDERS     MEASURE AND REPORT     ACCOUNTABLE     SUSTAINABLE
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THE SUSTAINABILITY APPROACH (cont’d)

Sustainability Governance (Cont’d)

Based on our stakeholders’ feedback and our identified priorities, the Sustainability Statement for Masteel is centered 
on “To advocate steel’s positive role in the community”. As steel is an essential building block of most primary 
construction infrastructure that makes up contemporary society. We are committed to the production and application 
of steel in the most cost effective and sustainable manner.

Masteel has adopted the Sustainable Development Goals (“SDG”) to do its part in a universal call to action to end 
poverty, protect the planet and ensure that all people enjoy peace and prosperity by 2030.

Materiality Assessment

A materiality assessment was conducted to determine the material issues most important to Masteel and our 
stakeholders. A list of economic, environmental, and social material issues relevant to the steel industry was collated 
based on industry sustainability standards. The issues were prioritised based on importance to the business and 
key stakeholders. Proxies were used to assess importance for stakeholders, which include government, employees, 
investors, customers and suppliers. The results were mapped on a Materiality Matrix and approved by the Board of 
Directors. The higher priority material issues discussed in this report includes Innovation and Technology, Customer 
Welfare and Lifecycle of Products.
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Statement

(cont’d)

INNOVATION AND TECHNOLOGY

Adopting best practice innovation and technology is essential to Masteel’s operations, as it supports sustainable 
manufacturing. This is achieved through the following:-

1)	T imely adaptation of cost effective technology;
2)	 Efficient processes that minimize the use of raw materials, energy, spares and generation of by-products and 

waste; and
3)	 Reliable technology that can be augmented and upgraded.

 

9 INDUSTRY,INNOVATION
ANDINFRASTRUCTURE

The Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure SDG includes technological progress as the key to finding lasting solutions 
to economic and environmental challenges. Masteel supports this with energy efficiency initiatives and ongoing 
improvements in innovation and technology such as:-

1)	 Improvements in plant capacity to recycle and transform waste steel scrap into prime grade steel;
2)	 Cost reductions in transforming raw materials to finished products; and
3)	 Adaptation of 4th Industrial Revolution technologies.

In the past 10 years, Masteel has improved the capacity to convert its feedstock to finished goods by approximately 
100% while using the same square footage of space. Product yield has maintained in the upper 5% of the global 
industry benchmarks for steel producers and energy consumed for the recovery and conversion process has been 
reduced by approximately 50%.

Recovery Rate of Raw Material used
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Figure 1: Recovery Rate of Raw Meterial used

 



Malaysia Steel Works (KL) Bhd annual report 201926

INNOVATION AND TECHNOLOGY (cont’d)

The equipment and processes used have continued to improve the recovery rate of metallic raw materials and 
the company is on track to achieve its final goal by 2022. The rate of improvement from 2017 to 2019 has been 
approximately 7%.

Cost Reduction of Semi-Finished Product
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Figure 2: Cost Reduction to Semi-Finished Product

 
Costs associated with the above has correspondingly improved by 3% from 2017 to 2019.

The consequences of not ensuring continuous improvements in innovation and technology will result in excessive 
waste in the manufacturing process, which include waste of raw materials, energy, consumables and manpower. 
Indirect effects includes pollution, excessive by products, production of inferior products and adversarial social 
impacts. This results in high costs of production and inconsistent product quality.

The management is leveraging on its experience obtained since 2017 to enhance its ability to further improved 
the recovery rate of metallics into new recycled steel. Due to the steep learning curve of the last three years. The 
management is confident that it will be able to extrapolate its metallic recovery trajectory to achieve intended threshold 
by 2022. Concurrently, its recovery cost matrix will continue to improve in line with the above mentioned trajectory. 

CUSTOMER WELFARE

The company places the highest priority to ensure the welfare of its customers are met and exceeded each and every 
time. There is zero tolerance for the company’s systems and personnel to not comply with the aforementioned ethos. 
Customers’ expectations are met and exceeded in terms of product quality, selection and delivery. The business 
experience must also be perceived by our customers to be of high quality, intuitive and seamless. Further initiatives 
include making the documentation for customers easier to understand and introducing predictive delivery systems 
to ensure products are ready for delivery even before customers place physical orders.

A current pilot programme to provide preapproved or enhanced credit limits to customers is also being developed. 
The practise of customers having to face delivery restrictions and interruptions due to exceeded credit limits will 
be avoided, as a continuous interactive credit review protocol for customers has been implemented in the credit 
department.

The initiative to produce more custom-made steel to meet customers’ preferences has been implemented successfully 
in 2019.

Sustainability  
Statement
(cont’d)
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CUSTOMER WELFARE (cont’d)

Customer loyalty encompasses the objective of ensuring customer retention for present and future revenue 
optimisation as the cornerstone value that permeates through all management decisions.

It would be fatal if customer satisfaction is not upheld at all times, as this could result in the loss of sales and diminish 
the Company’s brand prestige and value that can have far reaching implications on the Company’s financial wellbeing.
 
Factors that could contribute towards a decline in customer satisfaction include product quality, pricing, service 
standards, compliance issues with contracts and statutory standards. If not adequately and expediently resolved, 
these issues could cascade and cause a multiplier effect that affects multiple key stakeholders. On rare occasions, 
the dual effect of potential loss of revenue and libellous monetary claims could undermine the financial integrity of 
the Company.

Customer Complaints vs Year
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Figure 3: Customer Complaints vs Year

LIFECYCLE OF PRODUCTS

Masteel is utilising a combination of steel scrap and metallics for its recovery process. This is done by diversifying 
the blend of steel scrap to include a wider variety of scrap that can be used to manufacture the finished product. 
This enhances the ability of the steel making process to utilise a wider range of recycled material to improve the 
efficacy of environmental conservation.

Masteel’s steel bar product life cycle begins with the usage of steel scrap as the primary inputs to the process. This 
eliminates contamination of air, soil and the water table by using electric furnaces to recover, smelt and refine steel 
scrap and metallics into steel billets and steel bars, which are compliant to international standards and specifications. 
This includes MS146:2016, ISO 9001 and Australian Concrete Reinforce Standards. The resulting “New Steel” is used 
to reinforce the strength of concrete in the construction of buildings and infrastructure such as elevated highways, 
tunnels and dams. The construction process calls for steel bars to be encased in concrete and thus has zero carbon 
footprint for at least 50 years.

Masteel’s Research and Development (“R&D”) department is constantly developing the metallurgical properties 
of our products to ensure greater durability. In 2019, the company’s R&D personnel successfully developed a new 
steel bar together with the relevant quality certification for a foreign country. This break through has resulted in the 
company gaining access to a new and vibrant market.

Failure to effectively manage continuous improvements in reducing Masteel’s environmental footprint could result 
in reduced competitiveness and subject the Company’s products to potential foreign trade barriers. To mitigate this 
risk, management has employed numerous adaptive strategies to ensure the Company’s technological advancements 
translates to high quality and sustainable products.

Sustainability  
Statement

(cont’d)
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SUSTAINABILITY INDUSTRY INITIATIVES

To realise its sustainable goals in an all encompassing approach, the Company deems it necessary to propagate its 
concepts beyond the confines of its own corporate entity and thus it has participated as active member of a number 
of national and regional steel associations to advance its sustainability agendas.

Malaysia Steel Association (“MSA”)

The preeminent national steel association whose members consists of 75% of upstream steel manufacturing in 
the country. The association’s main objectives is to enhance the competitiveness of its members and to act as a 
platform for dialogue for the betterment of the steel industry. 

Dato’ Sri Tai Hean Leng @ Tek Hean Leng, Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer of Masteel is the founding Board 
member and Vice President of MSA and concurrently undertakes the role of Honorary Treasurer of MSA.

Malaysia Steel Council (“MSC”)

The MSC is under the auspices of the Ministry of International Trade and Industry (“MITI”) which is chaired by the 
Minister of MITI. Various steel policies are approved at the MSA biannual meetings.

Dato’ Sri Tai Hean Leng @ Tek Hean Leng is MSA’s representative at MSC.

Malaysia Steel Institute (“MSI”)

MSI is a quasi Government and private sector steel institute that has a multi faceted role to enhance and develop 
the steel sector of Malaysia.

Dato’ Sri Tai Hean Leng @ Tek Hean Leng is a Government appointee to the Board of MSI.

Malaysian Iron and Steel Industry Federation (“MISIF”)

MISIF being the oldest steel association in Malaysia has a diverse list of members from the upstream to downstream 
of steel industry. MISIF charter is to promote the interest of its members to the Government and regional steel 
associations.

Dato’ Sri Tai Hean Leng @ Tek Hean Leng had serve at its council member for a number of years. Masteel has 
maintained its membership for over two decades.

South East Asia Iron and Steel Institute (“SEAISI”) & ASEAN Iron and Steel Council (“AISC”)

Both the associations’ role is to advocate the development of the ASEAN steel sector through conferences, technology 
transfer and investment.

Masteel has coordinated with the two associations at appropriate occasions.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

Masteel initiated a new Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR”) program in 2018 by providing financial education 
to youths in universities.

It is to support the effort of Government and Bursa Malaysia Berhad (“Bursa Malaysia”) to improve financial literacy 
and develop an equity investment culture among Malaysians for their financial well being for the future.

The program serves as an education platform and is an integral part of Masteel’s CSR initiatives from September 
2018 to December 2020. 10 seminars have been planned for the program in which four seminars will be conducted 
in Klang Valley and six seminars in other states throughout Malaysia, respectively.

Sustainability  
Statement
(cont’d)
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (cont’d)

The main objectives of the program are to:-

1.	 Improve the level of financial literacy among participants;
2.	 Enhance financial knowledge for investors protection (avoid scams) purpose; 
3.	 Impart investment knowledge for wealth building purpose; and
4.	 Teach participants on financial planning to achieve specific financial goals in different stages of life.  

The program targets to reach 120 to 150 university students per session.  Each seminar consists of three hours 
financial education talk. Masteel has engaged the former Vice President of Investor Education Department of 
Bursa Malaysia, Mr Warren Mak to be the speaker for the 10 seminars. The Company believes that with his 15 years 
of experience in Bursa Malaysia he will be able to provide useful financial information and valuable investment 
knowledge to participants. 

In 2019, Masteel conducted four sessions of three hours investor education talks in the following universities:-

1.	 University Teknologi Malaysia (“UTM”), Johor Bahru – 23 March 2019;
2.	 INTI International University & Colleges (“INTI”), Nilai – 28 June 2019; 
3.	 University Utara Malaysia (“UUM”), Kedah – 20 September 2019; and
4.	 University of Malaya (“UM”), Kuala Lumpur – 03 December 2019.
 
The Company is also glad to sponsor free lunch and gift tokens to participants who attend this CSR program. 

The Company planned to conduct four more financial literacy seminars in 2020 on a quarterly basis. By providing 
proper financial education to the public, Masteel wish to contribute to the development of the younger generations 
through the improvement of their financial wellbeing.

The Company believes that financial education is a very important and effective way to help people to build wealth 
and contribute to the economic growth of the country.

UTM, Johor Bahru (23 March 2019)

UUM, Kedah (20 September 2019)

INTI, Nilai (28 June 2019)

UM, Kuala Lumpur (03 December 2019)
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INTRODUCTION

In recognizing the importance of good governance as a fundamental part of discharging their responsibilities, the 
Board of Directors (“Board”) of Malaysia Steel Works (KL) Bhd (“Masteel” or “Company”) has taken steps to evaluate 
and implement the Group’s corporate governance policies and procedures. The Board is committed to ensure that 
good corporate governance is practiced and complied with throughout the Group within the framework as expounded 
by the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance (“MCCG”) to enhance the shareholders’ value.

This Corporate Governance Overview Statement is supported with a report (“Corporate Governance Report”), based 
on a prescribed format as outlined in paragraph 15.25(2) of the Main Market Listing Requirements (“MMLR”) of Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) so as to map the application of Masteel’s corporate governance 
practices against the MCCG. The Corporate Governance Report is available on the Company’s website, www.masteel.
com.my as well as via an announcement on the website of Bursa Securities.

This Statement should also be read in conjunction with the other statements in this Annual Report, namely the Audit 
Committee Report, Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control and Sustainability Report, for a more holistic 
and granular understanding of the Group’s corporate governance framework and practices.

Summary of Corporate Governance Practices

Masteel has benchmarked its practices against the relevant promulgations and higher order practices, across the 
three (3) principles of the MCCG, namely:-

•	 Principle A: Board Leadership and Effectiveness; 
•	 Principle B: Effective Audit and Risk Management; and 
•	 Principle C: Integrity in Corporate Reporting and Meaningful Relationship with Stakeholders. 

Masteel has consistently applied all the practices espoused by the MCCG (“Practices”), except for the following:-

•	 Practice 4.2 (Tenure of independent directors);
•	 Practice 7.2 (Disclosure on a named basis the Company’s top five (5) senior management’s remuneration in 

bands of RM50,000);
•	 Practice 11.2 (Adoption of integrated reporting based on a globally recognised framework); and
•	 Practice 12.3 (Use of technology to facilitate remote shareholders participation during general meeting).

Amongst the four (4) Step Ups advocated by the MCCG, the Board has adopted Step Up 8.4 which calls for the Audit 
Committee to comprise solely Independent Directors and Step Up 9.3 which calls for Risk Management Committee to 
comprise of majority Independent Directors. Step Ups are aspirational practices to facilitate companies in achieving 
greater excellence in corporate governance. Accordingly, the adoption of Step Ups is voluntary and in the heightened 
self-interest of Masteel. 

In line with the requirements of the MCCG, the Group has provided clear and forthcoming explanations for departures 
from the Practices in the Corporate Governance Report. With regards to departure in Practices, the Board has provided 
disclosures on the alternative measures in place which will achieve similar outcomes of those Intended Outcomes 
of the MCCG. The explanations on the departures, supplemented with disclosure on the alternative practices are 
contained in the Corporate Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
OVERVIEW STATEMENT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
OVERVIEW STATEMENT

(cont’d)

PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS

I	 Board Responsibilities

	 The Group acknowledges the pivotal role played by the Board in the stewardship of its directions and operations, 
and ultimately the enhancement of long-term shareholders’ value. To fulfill this role, the Board is responsible 
for the overall corporate governance of the Group, including its strategic direction, establishing goals for 
management and monitoring the achievement of these goals.

	 The Board is guided by a Board Charter which sets out the duties and responsibilities of the Board. The Board 
Charter sets out the matters reserved for Board’s collective decision in order to ensure that the direction and 
control of the Group is firmly in its hand. The Limits of Authority further detailed the authorization of expenditures 
within the Group. 

	 The Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer (“MD/CEO”) together with the Executive Directors, supported by 
the Management staff, are closely involved in the Company’s day-to-day operations and ensure that shareholders’ 
long-term interests are served. Through oversight, review and counsel, the Board establishes and promotes the 
Group’s business and organizational objectives, provides leadership to the Group, oversees business affairs 
and integrity, and works with the Management to determine the Group’s mission and long-term strategy.

	 Collectively, the Board brings a balance of skills and experience appropriate to the business owing to their 
diverse background in business, accounting, finance, political and commercial field.

	 In order to assist in the discharge of its responsibilities, the Board has established the following committees 
(“Board Committee(s)”) to perform certain of its functions and to provide recommendations and advice:-

•	 Audit Committee (“AC”); 
•	 Remuneration Committee (“RC”);
•	 Nomination Committee (“NC”); and
•	 Risk Management Committee (“RMC”).

	E ach Board Committee operates its functions within their approved terms of reference by the Board which 
are periodically reviewed by the Board and the Board appoints the Chairman and members of each Board 
Committee. 

	 All Board Committees have written terms of reference which is approved by the Board. The Chairman of the 
respective Board Committees reports to the Board on key matters deliberated at the Board Committees’ 
meetings and makes necessary recommendations to the Board. The ultimate responsibility for decision making 
lies with the Board.

	T he Board Charter is reviewed periodically by the Board or at least once a year to ensure it complies with 
legislations and best practices and remains relevant and effective in light of the Board’s objectives.  A copy of 
the Board Charter is published in the Company’s website at www.masteel.com.my.

	 The Directors allocate sufficient time and effort to carry out their responsibilities. It is also the Board’s policy 
for Directors to notify the Chairman of the Board before accepting any new directorships notwithstanding that 
the MMLR allows a Director to sit on the board of up to five (5) listed issuers.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)

PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (cont’d)

I	 Board Responsibilities (Cont’d)

	 The Board met five (5) times during the financial year ended (“FYE”) 31 December 2019. The attendance of 
each Director at the Board meetings held during the FYE 31 December 2019 is as follows:-

Name of Directors
Number of
Attendance

Achieved
Percentage

(%)

Dato’ Ikhwan Salim bin Dato’ Haji Sujak
- Independent Non-Executive Chairman

5/5 100

Dato’ Sri Tai Hean Leng @ Tek Hean Leng
- MD/CEO

5/5 100

Mr Lau Yoke Leong
- Executive Director/Chief Financial Offer (“CFO”)

5/5 100

Mr Ong Teng Chun
- Executive Director

5/5 100

Ms Ng Siew Peng
- Executive Director

5/5 100

Mr Ng Wah Lok
- Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

5/5 100

Mr Roy Thean Chong Yew
- Independent Non-Executive Director

5/5 100

Encik Muhammad Hanizam bin Hj. Borhan
- Independent Non-Executive Director	

5/5 100

	 The Board is satisfied with the level of time commitment given by the Directors towards fulfilling the roles and 
responsibilities which is evidenced by the satisfactory attendance record of the Directors at Board meetings. 

	T here is a clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman and MD/CEO to ensure that there is a balance 
of power and authority, as set out in the Board Charter. The Independent Non-Executive Chairman, Dato’ Ikhwan 
Salim bin Dato’ Haji Sujak is responsible for instilling good corporate governance practices, leadership and 
effectiveness of the Board while the MD/CEO, Dato’ Sri Tai Hean Leng @ Tek Hean Leng is entrusted by the 
Board on the daily running of the business and implementation of the Board’s policies and decisions.

	 The Board has access to the advice and services of the Company Secretaries. Both Company Secretaries of 
the Company are qualified to act as Company Secretaries under the Companies Act 2016 (“CA 2016”) and 
are Fellow members of the Malaysian Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators (“MAICSA”). The 
Company Secretaries provide support to the Board in fulfilling its fiduciary duties and leadership role in shaping 
the corporate governance of the Group. 

	 Notices of meetings are circulated to Directors at least seven (7) days before the meetings. The Management 
provides the Board with detailed meetings materials at least five (5) business days in advance. Senior 
Management may be invited to join the meetings to brief the Board and the Board Committees on requisite 
information being discussed, where necessary.
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PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (cont’d)

II	 Board Composition

50%

50%

Independent Non-Executive Director Executive Director

Board Composition

50%

37%

13%

40 - 49 years 50 - 59 years 60 years and above

Board Age Diversity

	 The Board currently has eight (8) members, comprising four (4) Executive Directors and four (4) Independent 
Non-Executive Directors. The present Board composition complies with Paragraph 15.02 of the MMLR which 
requires at least two (2) directors or one-third of the Board, whichever is higher, to be independent. The Chairman 
of the Board is an Independent Non-Executive Director who carries out a leadership role in the conduct of the 
Board and its relations with shareholders and stakeholders. 

	 The current size and composition of the Board is adequate for facilitating effective and objective decision 
making given the scope and nature of the Group’s business and operations. The Independent Directors play 
a strong and vital role in entrenching good governance practices in the affairs of the Group through their 
participations in the respective Board Committees. The Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company 
had devoted sufficient time and attention to the Group’s affairs.  None of the Directors on the Board hold more 
than five (5) directorships in other listed issuers on Bursa Securities.

	 The Board acknowledges the requirement under Practice 4.5 of the MCCG on increasing women’s participation 
in the Board. Although the Company does not set any specific target for female Directors, the Board will actively 
work towards having more female directors on board. 

	 According to the Company’s Board Diversity Policy, the Board recognized diversity as an important criteria in 
determining board composition and to ensure difference perspectives are considered for Board effectiveness 
and strength.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
OVERVIEW STATEMENT
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PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (cont’d)

III	 NC

The NC comprises exclusively of Independent Non-Executive Directors, as follows:-

Name Designation

Encik Muhammad Hanizam bin Hj. Borhan Chairman

Mr Ng Wah Lok Member

Mr Roy Thean Chong Yew Member

	 The Board has through the NC, conducted an annual assessment on the effectiveness of the Board as a whole 
and the contribution of each individual Director. 

	 The effectiveness of the Board Committees is assessed in terms of composition, required mix of skills, 
experience, structure and processes, accountabilities and responsibilities, as well as the effectiveness of the 
Chairmen of the respective Board Committees. 

	 The Chairman of the NC, Encik Muhammad Hanizam bin Hj. Borhan is an Independent Non-Executive Director. 
During the FYE 31 December 2019, the NC held one (1) meeting and all members registered full attendance. 
Below is a summary of the key activities undertaken by the NC in discharge of its duty for the FYE 31 December 
2019:- 

	
•	 Conducted an annual assessment on the effectiveness of the Board and Board Committees covering 

areas such as Board structure and operation, management relationship with the Board, the Board’s role 
and responsibilities, the required mix of skills and experience of the Directors, time commitments, skills, 
characters, experiences, integrity and competencies to effectively discharge the role as a Director and 
reported the findings in the Board meeting.

•	 Reviewed and assessed the independence of the Independent Directors of the Company. 

•	 Reviewed the terms of office and performance of the AC and each of its members.

•	 Reviewed, considered and recommended to the Board for approval, the re-election of Directors who retire 
by rotation pursuant to the Company’s Constitution.

•	 Reviewed and assessed the independence of Mr Ng Wah Lok and Encik Muhammad Hanizam bin Hj. 
Borhan, who have served the Company as Independent Directors for a cumulative term of more than 
twelve (12) years and nine (9) years respectively to continue serving as Independent Directors and 
recommended to the Board for consideration.

•	 Reviewed and discussed the succession planning of the Company.

•	 Reviewed and discussed the suitable training programme for continuous development of Directors to 
strengthen their contributions to the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
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PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (cont’d)

III	 NC (Cont’d)

	T he Directors have individually or collectively attended various training programmes during the FYE 31 December 
2019, amongst others, the following:-

Name of Directors Programmes Attended

Dato’ Ikhwan Salim bin Dato’ Haji Sujak •	 Sustainability – What Directors Need to Know
•	 Leadership Greatness in Turbulent Times – Building 

Corporate Longevity

Dato’ Sri Tai Hean Leng @ Tek Hean Leng •	 Sustainability – What Directors Need to Know
•	 Annual Report – What a Director must know

Mr Lau Yoke Leong •	 Integrated Reporting<IR>: Communicating Value 
Creation

•	 Sustainability – What Directors Need to Know

Mr Ong Teng Chun •	 Sustainability – What Directors Need to Know
•	 ICDM International Directors Summit 2019

Mr Ng Wah Lok •	 Sustainability – What Directors Need to Know

Mr Roy Thean Chong Yew •	 Blockchain for Accountants – Awareness Workshop
•	 IPPF Standard 1300 & How does it add value to your 

organisation?
•	 Cybersecurity for Decision Makers
•	 Sustainability – What Directors Need to Know
•	 Audit Oversight Board Conversation with Audit 

Committees
•	 Board of Directors’ Training on Sustainability

	Encik Muhammad Hanizam bin Hj. Borhan •	 Sustainability – What Directors Need to Know

Ms Ng Siew Peng •	 Sustainability – What Directors Need to Know
•	 Annual General Meeting – Venue of the New Regime 

in Corporate Governance
•	 ICDM International Directors Summit 2019
•	 Annual Report - What A director Must Know

	T he Directors will continue to attend relevant training courses to further enhance their skills and knowledge 
to enable them to discharge their responsibilities more effectively. 

	T he Company Secretaries facilitated the organization of internal training programmes and keep the Directors 
informed of relevant external training programmes. The Company Secretaries also circulate the relevant 
guidelines on statutory and regulatory requirements from time to time for the Board’s reference and brief the 
Board quarterly on these updates at Board meetings. 

	T he External Auditors also briefed the Board on changes to the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards 
(“MFRS”) that affect the Group’s financial statements during the year, where applicable.
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PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (cont’d)

III	 NC (Cont’d)

(i)	 Appointment to the Board and Re-election of Directors

	T he Company’s Constitution states that all Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and in 
ascertaining the number of directors to retire annually, at least one third of the Directors are required to 
retire and the Company shall ensure that all Directors shall stand for re-election at least once in every 
three (3) years.

(ii)	 Tenure of Independent Director

	T he Board Charter of the Company allows for an Independent Director who is serving exceeding a 
cumulative term of nine (9) years to be retained by obtaining the annual shareholders’ approval during 
the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company. 

	T he NC will evaluate the independence of the Independent Director prior to their recommendation to the 
Board on retaining the Independent Director with valid justifications. 

	 The invaluable knowledge of the Independent Directors gained through the years, as well as their continued 
contribution will provide stability and benefits to the Board and the Group as a whole. The Board believes 
that the integrity of the Directors in discharging their responsibilities in the best interest of the Company, 
after having provided all the relevant confirmation on their independence, will be able to determine if 
they can continue to bring independence and objective judgement on Board deliberations and decision 
making. 

	 During the year 2019, Mr Ng Wah Lok has served the Company as Senior Independent Non-Executive 
Director and Encik Muhammad Hanizam bin Hj. Borhan has served the Company as Independent 
Non-Executive Director for a cumulative term of more than twelve (12) years and nine (9) years 
respectively, and the Board has retained them as Independent Directors notwithstanding their service 
tenures by obtaining annual approval from shareholders during the previous AGM based on the following 
justifications:-

(a)	 They have fulfilled the criteria under the definition of Independent Director as stated in the MMLR, 
and therefore are able to bring independent and objective judgment to the Board.

(b)	 They have contributed sufficient time and effort in attending the Board Committee meetings and 
Board meetings. 

(c)	T he length of their service on the Board does not in any way interfere with their exercise of 
independent judgement and ability to act in the best interests of the Company.

(d)	 As they have been with the Company for more than twelve (12) years and nine (9) years respectively, 
they therefore understand the Company’s business operations which enable them to participate 
actively and contribute during deliberations or discussions at Board Committee meetings and 
Board meetings without compromising their independence and objective judgment.

(e)	T hey have exercised their due care during their tenure as Senior Independent Non-Executive 
Director and Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company respectively and carried out 
their professional duties in the interest of the Company and shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (cont’d)

IV	 Remuneration

	 The Board through RC has established a Directors’ Remuneration Policy to assist the Group in attracting, 
retaining and motivating its Directors in order to run the Group successfully. 

The RC consists of the following members:-

Name Designation

Dato’ Ikhwan Salim bin Dato’ Haji Sujak Chairman

Mr Roy Thean Chong Yew Member 

Mr Ng Wah Lok Member

	 During the FYE 31 December 2019, the RC convened two (2) meetings which were attended by all the RC 
members. The RC had reviewed the remuneration for the Executive Directors, which reflects the level of risk 
and responsibility, the individual’s performance indicators (“KPI”) on the job, and the performance of the 
Company and considered their remuneration packages are well within the comparable companies in similar 
industry. The RC had also reviewed the fees for Non-Executive Directors, which reflects the experience and 
level of responsibilities undertaken by the individual Non-Executive Directors concerned. 

	T he level and structure of the Group’s remuneration policy are aligned with the business strategy and long-
term objectives of the Group, as are appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the Directors to provide good 
stewardship, as well as motivate key management personnel to successfully manage the Group. The Board 
is of the view that the current remuneration level suffices to attract, retain and motivate qualified Directors to 
serve on the Board. 

	
	T he detailed remuneration of the Board is disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report of the Company and 

in Note 25 of the Notes to the financial statements of the Company FYE 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPLE B : EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT

I	 Audit Committee

	 The Board is assisted by the AC to oversee the Group’s financial reporting processes and the quality of its 
financial reporting and to ensure that the financial statements of the Group comply with applicable financial 
reporting standards in Malaysia. 

	 The AC is chaired by an Independent Non-Executive Director who is distinct from the Chairman of the Board. All 
members of the AC are financially literate, with the Chairman and another member of the AC being members 
of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. 

The AC consists of the following members:-

Name Designation

Mr Roy Thean Chong Yew Chairman

Mr Ng Wah Lok Member 

Encik Muhammad Hanizam bin Hj. Borhan Member

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
OVERVIEW STATEMENT

(cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE B : EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

I	 Audit Committee (Cont’d)

	 The AC comprises solely of Independent Non-Executive Directors. The composition of the AC, including its roles 
and responsibilities, number of meetings and attendance of the AC, summary of the AC activities and Internal 
Auditors’ activities during the FYE 31 December 2019 are set out on pages 43 to 45 of the Audit Committee 
Report of this Annual Report. 

	T he AC regularly reviews and scrutinizes the audit report by the Internal Auditors and conducts an annual 
assessment on the adequacy of the department’s scope of work and resources. The AC has in its terms of 
reference requires that a former key audit partner observe a cooling-off period of at least two (2) years before 
being appointed as a member of the AC and to date, the Company has not appointed any former key audit 
partner as Director of the Company. Alongside, the AC has the procedures to assess the suitability, objectivity 
and independence of the External Auditors annually which is contained in the External Auditors Assessment 
Policy. The AC had met with the External Auditors twice during financial year ended 31 December 2019 without 
the presence of the Management to discuss any key area or issues which require the attention of the AC and 
Board. All members of the AC undertake continuous professional development to keep themselves abreast 
with the relevant developments in accounting and auditing standards, practices and rules. 

	 The AC discussed on a summary of internal audit’s findings together with the Management’s responses to 
ensure that the Management undertakes the agreed remedial actions proposed by the Internal Auditors.

II	 Risk Management and Internal Control Framework

	 The RMC which comprises of a majority of Independent Non-Executive Directors, assists the Board in fulfilling 
its responsibilities in the risk governance and oversight functions via establishing a sound internal control 
framework to manage risks with the overall responsibility for overseeing the risk management activities of the 
Group and approving the appropriate risk management procedures and measurement methodologies across 
the Group. With the assistance of an external consultant, an Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) approach 
has been adopted to develop an effective and sound ERM.

The RMC consists of the following members:-

Name Designation

Mr Ng Wah Lok Chairman

Mr Ong Teng Chun Member

Encik Muhammad Hanizam bin Hj. Borhan Member

	T he Board has established an internal audit function within the Group known as Internal Audit Department 
(“IAD”), which is independent from the operations of the respective operating units. The principal role of the 
IAD is to undertake regular and systematic reviews of the system of internal control independently so as to 
provide a reasonable assurance that such system continues to operate satisfactorily and effectively. It is the 
responsibility of the IAD to provide the AC with independent and objective reports on the state of internal control 
of the various operating units within the Group and the extent of compliance of the units within the Group’s 
established policies and procedures as well as the relevant statutory requirements. The internal audit reports 
are presented together with the Management’s response and proposed action plans to the AC quarterly.

	T he principles and guidelines promulgated by The Institute of Internal Auditors (“IIA”) in the International 
Professional Practices Framework (“IPPF”) for an internal audit function to be considered effective has been 
adopted.  

	T he details of the Company’s risk management and internal control framework are set out on pages 46 and 
47 of the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control of this Annual Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE C : INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND MEANINGFUL RELATIONSHIP WITH 
STAKEHOLDERS

I	 Communication with Stakeholders

	T he Board recognizes the importance of maintaining transparency and accountability to its shareholders as a 
key element of good corporate governance and thus, maintains a high level of disclosure and communication 
with its shareholders, stakeholders and the public in general through disclosures to Bursa Securities and to 
the press. The Group’s financial performance and major corporate developments are promptly disseminated 
to the investors via the announcements to Bursa Securities. 

	T he Board has put in place a Corporate Disclosure Policy and Procedures to ensure compliance with the 
disclosure requirements as stipulated in the MMLR and also to set out the persons authorised and responsible 
to approve and disclose material information to shareholders and stakeholders.

	 The Company has established a dedicated section for corporation information on the Company’s website, 
www.masteel.com.my, which is accessible by the public at large to obtain information on the Company’s press 
releases, corporate information, operation activities; financial performance as well as the Company’s share 
price. 

II	 Conduct of General Meetings

	T he AGM is a principal forum for a two-way communication between the shareholders and the Management 
of the Group. Shareholders are provided with an opportunity to participate in the question and answer session 
in which they may raise questions pertaining to the Group’s businesses and affairs. The Chairman, and the 
other members of the Board together with the Management and the Company’s external auditors are available 
to respond to queries from shareholders at the AGM. At the previous AGM of the Company held on 20 June 
2019, all the Directors were present at the meeting to respond to the questions raised by the shareholders or 
proxies. 

	 The Chairman had notified the shareholders on the demand for a poll on all resolutions as set forth in the 
Agenda of the previous AGM for the interest of all shareholders and chaired the meeting in an orderly manner. A 
scrutineer was appointed to validate the votes cast at the previous AGM. Such scrutineer must be independent 
of the person undertaking the polling process.

	 Further, in line with the recommendation of MCCG, the notice of the previous AGM was issued at least twenty 
eight (28) days before the AGM date to enable the shareholders to go through the Annual Report and papers 
supporting the resolutions proposed. In addition to being dispatched individually to shareholders, the Notice 
of AGM is also circulated in a nationally circulated newspaper alongside an announcement on the website 
of Bursa Securities. This allows shareholders to have immediate access of the notice of AGM and make the 
necessary preparations for the AGM.

	 When there is special business or where special resolutions are proposed, the explanation of the effects of 
such special business or special resolutions are provided in the notice of the AGM under the explanatory notes.

 
	T he outcome of all resolutions proposed at the previous AGM was announced to Bursa Securities at the end 

of the meeting day while the key matters discussed at the previous AGM were published on the Company’s 
website as soon as practicable after the conclusion of the AGM.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
OVERVIEW STATEMENT

(cont’d)
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Focus Areas and Future Priorities on Corporate Governance

The Board, against a challenging business backdrop, focused its attention on the foundational aspects of its roles 
as they relate to the creation of long-term value for stakeholders. The Board will continue to enhance the corporate 
disclosure requirements in the best interest of the shareholders and stakeholders of the Company in the upcoming 
years. The areas to be prioritized by the Board will be those principles adopted by the Company as disclosed in the 
Corporate Governance Report:-

I	 Boardroom Independence

	T he Board has not developed a policy which limits the tenure of its Independent Directors to nine (9) years as 
yet. Nonetheless, the Board is mindful of the prescribed Practice of the MCCG pertaining to Board independence. 
The Board further recognizes that tenure of directorship is not an absolute indicator of a Director’s independence 
and objectivity wherein the spirit, intention, purpose and attitude should also be considered.

	T he NC has performed an assessment on the independence of all Independent Directors based on criteria 
approved by the Board and concluded that the Independent Directors have continued to demonstrate their 
independence through their engagement in meetings, providing objective challenge to the Management and 
bringing independent judgment to decisions taken by the Board. The Chairman will ensure that all Directors’ 
views are heard and provides an opportunity to all Directors to actively participate in all discussion during the 
meetings.

II	 Boardroom diversity

	 The Board recognizes and embraces the benefits of having gender diversity in the boardroom as a mix-gendered 
board would offer different viewpoints, ideas and market insights which enable better problem solving to gain 
competitive advantage in serving an increasingly diverse customer base than the boardroom that dominated 
by one gender.

	 The Board will focus its efforts to establish a diverse Board with a variety of skills, experience, age, cultural 
background and gender.

III	 Review of Board and Board Committees’ policies and procedures

	 In year 2019, the Board undertook a review of its Board Charter, the Terms of Reference of the Nomination 
Committee and Terms of Reference of the Risk Management Committee. The documents were updated to 
provide guidance on governance and conduct of the Board, Board Committees and employees of the Company. 

	 The Company has also put in place various other policies such as Code of Conduct, Code of Ethics, Corporate 
Disclosure Policy and Procedures, Succession Planning Policy, Whistle Blowing Policy, Risk Management Policy 
and Corporate Economic, Environment and Social Responsibility Policy. 

	T he Board will review and update the existing policies and procedures as and when necessary to ensure that 
they are updated in accordance with the prevailing legal and regulatory promulgations as well as best practices.

IV	 Corporate Liability Provision

	 As the Corporate Liability Provision under Section 17A of the Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission 
(Amendment) Act 2018 will come into effect from 1 June 2020, the Company would embark on the 
implementation of an anti-bribery and anti-corruption policy which prohibits all forms of bribery and corruption 
practices and conduct trainings to the Directors and all staff of the Company to ensure that the business is 
free from any acts of bribery and corruption in upholding high standards of ethics and integrity.

This Statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board dated 19 May 2020.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
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ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE  
INFORMATION

1.	 UTILISATION OF PROCEEDS

	 The Company raised an amount of RM3.22 million from a private placement exercise as at 31 December 2019 
which has been fully utilised.

2.	 AUDIT AND NON-AUDIT FEES

	T he amount of audit and non-audit fees incurred for the services rendered to the Company and the Group by 
the external auditors during the financial year under review are as follows:-

Type of Fees The Company (RM’000) The Group (RM’000)

Audit fee 140 147

Non-audit fee 8 8

3.	 MATERIAL CONTRACTS

	T here were no material contracts entered by the Company and its subsidiaries involving Directors and/or major 
shareholders’ interest during the financial year ended 31 December 2019.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY  
STATEMENT

The Board is required to present the financial statements for each financial year which have been made out in 
accordance with the applicable approved accounting standards and give a true and fair view of the state of affairs, 
the results and cash flows of the Group and the Company.

The Board is satisfied that in preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2019, the Group has used the appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently and 
supported by reasonable prudent judgment and estimates, adopted to include new and revised Malaysian Financial 
Reporting Standards (MFRSs) where applicable. The Board is also of the view that relevant approved accounting 
standards have been followed in the preparation of these financial statements.

The Board has also taken all such necessary steps to ensure that proper internal controls are in place to safeguard 
the assets of the Group and to detect and prevent fraud and other irregularities.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE  
REPORT

The objective of the AC is to assist the Board in meeting its responsibilities relating to accounting and reporting 
practices of the Company and its subsidiary companies.

In addition, the AC shall:-

(a)	 Oversee and appraise the quality of the audits conducted both by the Group’s Internal Auditors and External 
Auditors (“EA”);

(b)	 Maintain open lines of communication between the Board, the Internal Auditors and the EA for the exchange 
of views and information, as well as to confirm their respective authority and responsibilities; and

(c)	 Determine the adequacy of the Group’s administrative, operating and accounting controls.

MEMBERS

The AC comprises the following members:-

Name Designation Directorship

Mr Roy Thean Chong Yew* Chairman Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr Ng Wah Lok Member Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

Encik Muhammad Hanizam bin Hj. Borhan* Member Independent Non-Executive Director

* Member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA”).

The terms of reference of the AC is available for reference on the Company’s website at www.masteel.com.my/Investor
Relations/Audit Committee.

During the financial year under review, five (5) AC meetings were held which recorded full attendance from all the 
members of the AC, as follows:-

Committee Members Number of Attendance Achieved

Mr Roy Thean Chong Yew 5/5

Mr Ng Wah Lok 5/5

Encik Muhammad Hanizam bin Hj. Borhan 5/5
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AUDIT COMMITTEE  
REPORT
(cont’d)

SUMMARY OF AC WORKS

The AC carried out main works during the financial year ended (“FYE”) 31 December 2019 in discharging its duties 
and responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference which are as follows:-

Financial Reporting and Annual Reporting

•	 Reviewed the Group’s quarterly reports with the adoption of the new MFRS for the Group before recommending 
to the Board for consideration and approval. The First, Second, Third and Fourth Quarter Interim Financial 
Reports were tabled at the AC meetings held on 30 May 2019, 29 August 2019, 21 November 2019 and 21 
February 2020 respectively. The quarterly interim financial reports were prepared in accordance with MFRS 
134 and Paragraph 9.22 of the MMLR.

• 	 Reviewed the Group’s draft audited financial statements for the FYE 31 December 2019 at the AC meeting 
held on 19 May 2020 before recommending to the Board for approval.

•	 Reviewed the Corporate Governance (“CG”) Report, CG Overview Statement, AC Report and Statement on Risk 
Management and Internal Control prior to submission to the Board for consideration and approval for inclusion 
in the Annual Report.

Internal Audit

•	 Reviewed and assessed yearly internal audit plan, scope of internal audit reports, internal audit findings and 
areas for improvements and recommendations, if any.

•	 Assessed the performance of the Internal Audit Department (“IAD”) and satisfied that the IAD have discharged 
their responsibilities in a commendable manner, performed competently, functioning effectively and have 
received sufficient resources and adequate authority in order to carry out their work.

Corporate Governance

•	 Conducted periodic reassessment and refinement on corporate governance including terms of reference of 
AC before recommending to the Board for consideration and approval.

External Audit

•	 Reviewed and discussed the audit findings and management letter raised by the EA for the draft Audited 
Financial Statements for the FYE 31 December 2018.

•	 Reviewed and discussed with the EA of the Group on their Audit Status Memorandum for the Group for the 
FYE 31 December 2018 and Audit Planning Memorandum for the FYE 31 December 2019.

•	 Held two (2) private meetings with the EA without the presence of the Executive Directors and Management 
on 1 April 2019 and 21 November 2019 to ensure there were no restrictions and the scope of their audit is in 
line with the MCCG.

•	 Assessed the performance, sustainability and independence of the EA and was satisfied with the sustainability 
of the EA and recognized that the provision of non-audit services by Messrs RSM Malaysia for the FYE 2019 
did not in any way impair their objectivity independence as EA of the Company.

•	 Reviewed and discussed on the recommendation of the re-appointment of Messrs RSM Malaysia as EA of the 
Group to the Board and reviewed their independence and audit fees.
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SUMMARY OF AC WORKS (CONT’D)

Risk Management Framework and Internal Control System

•	 Reviewed and discussed the effectiveness of the risk management framework and internal control system of 
the Group.

Related Party Transactions

•	 Reviewed if there is any, the related party transactions and/or recurrent related party transactions entered into 
by the Company and the disclosure of such transactions in the Annual Report of the Company.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The internal audit activities are carried out in-house by the IAD of the Group. The IAD is independent of the operations of 
the respective operating units. The principal role of the department is to undertake independent regular and systematic 
reviews of the system and internal control so as to provide reasonable assurance that such system continue to operate 
satisfactorily and effectively. It is the responsibility of the IAD to provide the AC with independence and objective 
report on the state of internal control of the various operating units within the Group and the extent of compliance of 
the units with the Group’s established policies and procedures as well as relevant statutory requirements. The internal 
audit reports are presented together with the Management’s response and proposed action plans to the AC quarterly.

During the financial year under review, the internal audit function carried out the following:-

a) 	 Executed internal control reviews in accordance with the approved risk based internal audit plan. The business 
processes reviewed are as follows:-

•	 Scrap procurement prices
•	 Bars inventory record
•	 Bank reconciliation
•	 Payroll record
•	 CCTV recording at weighbridge area
•	 Software licensing
•	 Bars and billets internal transfer
•	 Billet sales and collections record
•	 Loan principal and interest repayment
•	 Internal audit charter
•	 Debtors ageing and recoverability
•	 Capital expenditure review

b)	 Performed follow-up review to ensure that corrective actions have been taken in a timely manner.

	The results of the abovementioned work carried out by the internal audit function were tabled to the AC at their 
scheduled meetings.

	The cost incurred for the internal audit function of the Group in respect of the FYE 31 December 2019 amounted to 
RM269,944.

An overview of the state of internal control within the Group is set out in the Statement on Risk Management and 
Internal Control on pages 46 and 47 of this Annual Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE  
REPORT

(cont’d)
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT  
AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Pursuant to paragraph 15.26(b) of the Main Market Listing Requirements (“MMLR”), the Board is pleased to provide 
the following statement on the state of risk management and internal control of the Group for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2019, which has been prepared in accordance with the “Statement on Risk Management and 
Internal Control Guidance for Directors of Public Listed Companies” by The Institute of Internal Auditors Malaysia.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board has overall responsibility for risk management and system of internal controls of the Group comprising the
Company and its subsidiary companies, excluding the associated company.

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining a sound risk management framework and internal control system 
for good corporate governance and efficient work processes. The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility and 
re-affirms its commitment to maintaining a sound system of risk management and internal controls and for reviewing 
its adequacy and effectiveness to safeguard shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets.

In discharging its stewardship responsibilities, the Board recognises that the internal control system in the Group:-

•	 is a logical and systematic method of identifying, analysing, assessing, treating and monitoring the Group’s 
risk;

•	 is a continuous and ongoing process;
•	 should be an integral part of the Group’s management practices; and
•	 enable the Group to not only minimise losses but maximise opportunities.

RISK MANAGEMENT

In dealing with its stewardship responsibilities, the Board recognises that effective risk management is an integral 
part of good business management practice. The Board acknowledges that all areas of the Group’s business activities 
involve some degree of risk and it is committed to ensure that the Group has an effective risk management framework, 
which allows the Management to manage risk within defined risk parameters. All identified risks are dealt with and 
managed within limits and controls. These limits and controls are monitored closely and adjusted periodically, taking 
into account changes in market conditions, products and processes.

The Board has a Risk Management Committee (“RMC”) to oversee the implementation of the risk management 
framework and internal control device.

The Board and Management are presently practicing proactive significant risks identification on a quarterly basis, 
particularly any major proposed transactions, changes in nature of activities and/or operating environment, and put 
in place the appropriate risk response strategies and controls until those risks are managed to, and maintained at 
level acceptable to the Board.

Risk Management Officer has been appointed to facilitate a continual process to identify, evaluate, manage and monitor 
significant risks that the Group faces in its businesses and operations. The risk owners, mainly the department head 
will update their Key Risk Registers at specific intervals i.e. yearly basis for Company level risks. The RMC reviews 
the key risks and planned actions to ascertain if those risks are mitigated and are managed appropriately. The RMC 
report shall be tabled to the Board for review and evaluation twice a year.

INTERNAL AUDIT

Internal Audit Function

The Internal Audit Department (“IAD”) reports directly to the Audit Committee (“AC”), to assist the AC in discharging 
its duties and responsibilities and to provide reports on the adequacy and effectiveness of risk management functions 
and internal controls in the Group.
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT  
AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(cont’d)

INTERNAL AUDIT (CONT’D)

Control and Monitoring Process

The IAD’s scope covers audit planning, liaison with the International Standard Organisation (“ISO”) and reviewed the 
Group’s processes in the Standard Operation Procedures (“SOP”) to ensure the various procedures are followed.

Internal audit reports, incorporating audit recommendations and management responses with regard to audit findings 
relating to the weaknesses in the systems and controls of the respective operations, were reviewed quarterly at AC 
meeting before recommending to the Board. Internal Auditors and AC carry out discussion and deliberation of the 
strategic issues facing the businesses and resolutions to mitigate such risk. The AC also reviews and approves the 
internal audit plan annually.

Besides that, the Board also delegates the daily running of the business to the Managing Director/Chief Executive 
Officer (“MD/CEO”) and his management team. The MD/CEO plays a pivotal role in communicating the Board’s 
expectations of the system of internal control to the Management, where a clear organisational structure with 
defined lines of responsibility, delegation of authority, segregation of duties and information flow exist, to ensure 
decisions are made and actions taken by the appropriate person. This is achieved on a day-to-day basis, through 
active participation by the MD/CEO in the operations of the business.

During the financial year under review, the Internal Audit executed internal control reviews on business processes, 
corporate governance, acquisition of assets, procurement, inventory, human resource, assets recoverability and 
records. The findings of the reviews were discussed with Senior Management and subsequently presented to the 
Board and AC.

Risk Management Framework (“RMF”)

The Group’s RMF is outlined in the Risk Management Policy. The RMF prescribes a structured and integrated approach 
in managing key business risks with the aim of safeguarding the shareholders’ interests and the Group’s assets.

The RMF clearly defines the authority and accountability in implementing the risk management process and internal 
control system. The management of each business unit is responsible to identify, evaluate, manage and monitor 
significant risks applicable to their respective areas of business and in formulating suitable internal controls to 
mitigate and control these risks.

The Risk Management Policy is to ensure it is relevant and adequate to manage the organisation risks, which continue 
to evolve along with the changing business environment.

Furthermore, the Group mitigates certain potential risk by having appropriate insurance policies coverage.

Assurance from Management and Conclusion

The Board has received assurance from the MD/CEO and Chief Financial Officer that the Group’s risk management and 
internal control systems are operating adequately and effectively, in all material aspects based on risk management 
and internal controls framework adopted by the Group.

REVIEW OF THIS STATEMENT

Pursuant to paragraph 15.23 of the MMLR, the External Auditor (“EA”) have reviewed this Statement for inclusion 
in the 2019 Annual Report. The EA have reported to the Board that nothing has come to their attention that causes 
them to believe that this Statement is inconsistent with their understanding of the process adopted by the Board 
in reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems of risk management and internal control of the Group.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board dated 19 May 2020.
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The directors hereby submit their report and the audited financial statements of the Group and of the Company for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2019. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is manufacturing of steel bars and steel billets. The principal activity of the 
subsidiary are as stated in Note 7 to the financial statements.

RESULTS

				    Group	 Company
				    RM’000	 RM’000

Net loss for the financial year				    (8,326)	 (8,930)

In the opinion of the directors, the financial results of the Group and of the Company during the financial year have 
not been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.

DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company since the end of the previous financial year and the directors 
do not recommend any dividend for the current financial year.

ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

During the financial year, the Company increased its issued and paid-up share capital from RM230,094,000 to 
RM233,310,000 by issuance of 8,800,000 ordinary shares via private placement to eligible investors for a total cash 
consideration of RM3,216,000 for repayment of bank borrowings. 

The new ordinary shares issued during the financial year rank pari-passu in all respects with the existing ordinary 
shares of the Company.

The Company did not issue any new debentures during the financial year. 

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year.

OPTIONS GRANTED OVER UNISSUED SHARES

No options were granted to any person to take up unissued shares of the Company during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’  
REPORT
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DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the financial year until the date of this report are:-

THE COMPANY

Dato’ Ikhwan Salim Bin Dato’ Haji Sujak
Dato’ Sri Tai Hean Leng @ Tek Hean Leng
Ng Wah Lok
Lau Yoke Leong
Muhammad Hanizam Bin Hj. Borhan
Roy Thean Chong Yew 
Ong Teng Chun	
Ng Siew Peng 	

SUBSIDIARY COMPANY

Dato’ Sri Tai Hean Leng @ Tek Hean Leng	

During and at the end of the financial year, the Company was not a party to any arrangement whose subject is to 
enable the directors to acquire benefits through the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any 
other body corporate. 

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

The directors holding office at the end of the financial year and their beneficial interests in the ordinary shares of the 
Company and of its related corporations during the financial year ended 31 December 2019 as recorded in the Register 
of Directors’ Shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 59 of the Companies Act 2016 were as follows:-

	 Number of ordinary shares
		  Balance			   Balance
		  as at	 Acquired/		  as at
		  1.1.2019	 Addition	 (Disposed)	 31.12.2019

Shareholdings in which the 
  director is deemed to 
  have an interest:
				  
Dato’ Sri Tai Hean Leng @
 Tek Hean Leng*		  130,892,616	 4,200,000	 –	 135,092,616

* 	 Deemed interest by virtue of his interest in TYY Resources Sdn. Bhd. (“TYY”), a body corporate holding shares 
in the Company.

Pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016, by virtue of his interests in the shares of TYY, Dato’ Sri Tai Hean 
Leng @ Tek Hean Leng is also deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company and its subsidiary to the extent 
that the Company has an interest.

None of the other directors holding office at the end of the financial year held any interest in the ordinary shares of 
the Company and of its related corporations.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no directors have received or become entitled to receive any benefit 
(other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of remuneration received or due and receivable by directors 
as shown in the notes to the financial statements or the fixed salary of a full time employee of the company or of 
related corporations) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with a director or with 
a firm of which a director is a member or with a company in which the director has a substantial financial interest.

DIRECTORS’  
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ remuneration is disclosed in Note 25 to the financial statements. 

INDEMNIFYING DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND AUDITORS

Total amount of insurance premium paid for the directors and officers of the Group is as follows:

					     Group
					     RM’000
					   
Directors and officers					     19

SUBSIDIARY

The details of the Company’s subsidiary are disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements. 

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The auditors’ remuneration is disclosed in Note 23 to the financial statements. 
 

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION

(a)	 Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were prepared, the directors took reasonable 
steps:-

(i)    	 to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making 
of provision for doubtful debts, and had satisfied themselves that there were no known bad debts to be 
written off nor any doubtful debts to be provided for; and

(ii)   	 to ensure that the current assets which were unlikely to realise their values as shown in the accounting 
records in the ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be 
expected so to realise.

(b)		 At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances:-

(i)    	 which would require any write off for bad debts or the setting up of provision for doubtful debts in the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company; or

(ii)   	 which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and 
of the Company misleading; or

(iii)  	 which have arisen which render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of 
the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate; or

(iv)   	 not otherwise dealt with in this report or financial statements of the Group and of the Company which 
would render any amount stated in the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements misleading.

DIRECTORS’  
REPORT
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OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION (cont’d)

(c)	 At the date of this report, there does not exist:-

(i)    	 any charge on the assets of the Group and of the Company which have arisen since the end of the 
financial year and which secure the liabilities of any other person; or

(ii)   	 any contingent liability in respect of the Group and of the Company which have arisen since the end of 
the financial year.

(d)	 In the opinion of the directors:-

(i)    	 no contingent liability or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within 
the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the 
Group and of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due; and

(ii)	 no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end 
of the financial year and the date of this report which is likely to substantially affect the results of the 
operations of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year.

 
AUDITORS

The auditors, Messrs RSM Malaysia, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the directors:-

DATO’ IKHWAN SALIM BIN DATO’ HAJI SUJAK

DATO’ SRI TAI HEAN LENG @ TEK HEAN LENG

Kuala Lumpur

19 May 2020
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STATEMENTS OF  
FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

	 Group	 Company
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018	
	 Note	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

ASSETS					   
	
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment	 6	 740,462	 630,463	 738,237	 628,038
Investment in subsidiary	 7	 –	 –	 500	  500
Investment in associate	 8	 6,528	 6,141	 6,517	  6,130
Deferred tax assets	 9	 3,793	 –	 3,793	 –

		  750,783	 636,604	 749,047	  634,668

Current assets

Inventories	 10	 533,379	 499,479	 533,379	  499,479
Trade and other receivables	 11	 168,600	 162,154	 168,481	 162,011
Tax recoverable		  5,225	 5,445	 5,354	  5,445
Other investment	 12	 –	 3,000	 –	  3,000
Fixed deposits with
 licensed banks	 13	 24,902	 48,108	 24,902	  48,108
Cash and bank balances		  35,403	 22,047	 35,134	  21,460

		  767,509	 740,233	 767,250	  739,503

TOTAL ASSETS		  1,518,292	 1,376,837	 1,516,297	  1,374,171
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STATEMENTS OF  
FINANCIAL POSITION
(cont’d)

	 Group	 Company
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018	
	 Note	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to equity
 holders of the Company

Share capital	 14	 233,310	 230,094	 233,310	  230,094
Subscription money received	 15	 950	 –	 950	  –
Revaluation reserves	 6	 76,649	 –	 76,649	 –
Treasury shares	 16	 (1,324)	 (1,199)	 (1,324)	  (1,199)
Retained earnings	 17	 420,397	 428,723	 418,430	  427,360

TOTAL EQUITY		  729,982	 657,618	 728,015	  656,255

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities	 18	 11,857	 –	 10,170	  –
Borrowings 	 19	 131,712	 146,809	 131,712	  144,808
Deferred tax liabilities	 9	 47	 9,603	 –	  9,603

		  143,616	 156,412	 141,882	  154,411

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables	 20	 229,419	 202,764	 231,793	  204,000
Trade deposits	 21	 80,250	 116,843	 80,250	  116,843
Lease liabilities	 18	 3,272	 –	 2,604	 –
Borrowings	 19	 331,753	 243,200	 331,753	  242,662

		  644,694	 562,807	 646,400	  563,505

TOTAL LIABILITIES		  788,310	 719,219	 788,282	  717,916

TOTAL EQUITY AND
 LIABILITIES		  1,518,292	 1,376,837	 1,516,297	  1,374,171

The annexed notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS  
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

The annexed notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

	 Group	 Company
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018	
	 Note	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

REVENUE	 22	 1,195,306	 1,496,853	 1,195,306	  1,496,853

COST OF SALES		  (1,140,454)	 (1,409,186)	 (1,142,509)	  (1,410,805)

GROSS PROFIT		  54,852	 87,667	 52,797	  86,048

OTHER OPERATING INCOME		  3,831	 7,044	 3,831	  7,044

DISTRIBUTION COSTS		  (22,020)	 (26,378)	 (22,020)	  (26,378)

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES		  (35,113)	 (47,587)	 (34,326)	  (48,388)

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS	 23	  1,550	 20,746	 282	  18,326

FINANCE COSTS	 26	  (22,658)	 (15,747)	 (22,526)	  (15,666)

SHARE OF RESULTS
 OF ASSOCIATE		  387	 (161)	 –	  –

(LOSS)/PROFIT
 BEFORE TAXATION		  (20,721)	 4,838	 (22,244)	  2,660

TAX CREDIT	 27	  12,395	 1,867	 13,314	  1,867

NET (LOSS)/PROFIT
 FOR THE YEAR		  (8,326)	 6,705	 (8,930)	  4,527

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
 INCOME					   
	
Item that will not be
 reclassified subsequently
 to profit or loss					   
	
REVALUATION OF LANDS	 6	  76,649	 –	 76,649	  –

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE
 INCOME FOR THE
 FINANCIAL YEAR		  68,323	 6,705	 67,719	  4,527

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE
 (LOSS)/INCOME
 ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

OWNERS OF THE COMPANY		  (8,326)	 6,705	 (8,930)	  4,527

		  Sen	 Sen

(Loss)/Earnings per share (sen):-
- Basic	 29	 (1.95)	 1.58
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STATEMENTS OF  
CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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STATEMENTS OF 
CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

	 Group	 Company
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018	
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

CASH FLOWS FROM
 OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(Loss)/Profit before taxation		  (20,721)	 4,838	 (22,244)	 2,660

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant
 and equipment		  30,461	 28,641	 29,872	  28,317
Loss/(Gain) on disposal of property,
 plant and equipment		  9 	 (4)	 9	  (4)
Loss on property, plant and equipment
 written off		  99	 –	 99	  –
(Reversal of)/Impairment loss on
 investment in associate		  –	 –	 (387)	  164
Impairment on inventories		  1,305	 4,593	 1,305	  4,593
Interest expense		  22,658	 15,747	 22,526	  15,666
Interest income		  (446)	 (602)	 (446)	  (602)
Net unrealised foreign exchange
 (gain)/loss		  (2,968)	 6,169	 (2,968)	  6,169
Share of results of associate		  (387)	 161	 –	  –

Operating profit before
 working capital changes		  30,010	 59,543	 27,766	  56,963

Increase in inventories		  (35,205)	 (73,856)	 (35,205)	  (73,856)
(Increase)/Decrease in receivables		  (6,446)	 64,046	 (6,470)	  65,009
Increase/(Decrease) in payables		  26,877	 (18,091)	 28,196	  (16,851)
(Decrease)/Increase in trade deposits		  (34,028)	 29,354	 (34,028)	  29,354

Cash (used in)/generated
 from operations		  (18,792)	 60,996	 (19,741)	  60,619

Interest paid		  (21,951)	 (15,597)	 (21,951)	  (15,597)
Tax (paid)/refund		  (553)	 (824)	 9	  (824)

Net cash (used in)/generated from
 operating activities		  (41,296)	 44,575	 (41,683)	  44,198
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	 Group	 Company
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018	
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

CASH FLOWS FROM
 INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received		  446	 602	 446	  602
Decrease/(Increase) in other investment		 3,000	 (3,000)	 3,000	  (3,000)
Proceeds from disposal of
 property, plant and equipment		  96	 11	 96	  11
Purchase of property, plant
 and equipment (Note 28)		  (50,578)	 (59,133)	 (50,578)	  (59,133)

Net cash used in investing activities		  (47,036)	 (61,520)	 (47,036)	  (61,520)

CASH FLOWS FROM
 FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Bills payable		  77,517	 (59,489)	 77,517	  (59,489)
Repayment of lease liabilities		  (2,085)	 –	 (1,512)	  –
Repayment of finance lease liabilities		  –	 (756)	 –	  (546)
Drawdown of term loans		  –	 136,850	 –	  136,850
Repayment of term loans		  (2,284)	 (42,821)	 (2,284)	  (42,821)
Payment of finance lease interest		  (707)	 (150)	 (575)	  (69)
Subscription money received		  950	 –	 950	  –
Share buy-back (Note 16)		  (125)	 (886)	 (125)	  (886)
Net proceeds from issuance of shares		  3,216	 7,610	 3,216	 7,610
Dividends paid (Note 31)		  –	 (3,834)	 –	  (3,834)

Net cash generated from
 financing activities		  76,482 	 36,524	 77,187	  36,815

NET (DECREASE)/ INCREASE IN
 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS		  (11,850)	 19,579	 (11,532)	 19,493

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
 AT BEGINNING OF THE
 FINANCIAL YEAR		  70,155	 50,576	 69,568	  50,075

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
 AT END OF THE
 FINANCIAL YEAR 		  58,305	 70,155	 58,036	  69,568

STATEMENTS OF  
CASH FLOWS

(cont’d)
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NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year comprise of:-

	 Group	 Company
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018	
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Fixed deposits with licensed banks		  24,902	 48,108	 24,902	  48,108

Cash at banks		  35,055	 21,832	 34,800	  21,245
Cash at banks (USD)		  308	 72	 308	  72
Cash at banks (CNY)		  –	 117	 –	  117
Cash in hand		  40	 26	 26	  26

		  35,403	 22,047	 35,134	  21,460
Bank overdrafts		  (2,000)	 –	 (2,000)	  –

		  58,305	 70,155	 58,036	  69,568

The annexed notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF  
CASH FLOWS
(cont’d)
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- 31 DECEMBER 2019

1.	 PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

	 The principal activity of the Company is manufacturing of steel bars and steel billets. The principal activity of 
the subsidiary as stated in Note 7 to the financial statements.

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

	 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian 
Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”) issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”), 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1	 Basis of accounting

	 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention unless otherwise stated in the financial statements.

	 The preparation of financial statements requires the directors to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities. In addition, the directors are also required to exercise their judgement in the process 
of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving such judgements, estimates and assumptions 
are disclosed in Note 5. Although these estimates and assumptions are based on the directors’ best 
knowledge of events and actions, actual results could differ from those estimates.

3.2	 Basis of consolidation

(i)	 Subsidiary

	 A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group, i.e. the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
current ability to direct the entity’s relevant activities (power over the investee).

	T he existence and effect of potential voting rights that the Group has the practical ability to exercise 
(i.e. substantive rights) are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.

	 The Group’s financial statements incorporate the results, cash flows, assets and liabilities of 
Malaysia Steel Works (KL) Bhd and all of its directly and indirectly controlled subsidiary. Subsidiary is 
consolidated from the effective date of acquisition, which is the date on which the Group effectively 
obtains control of the acquired business, until that control ceases.

	T he non-controlling interests in the net assets and net results of consolidated subsidiary is shown 
separately in the consolidated statements of financial position and consolidated statements of 
profit or loss and consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

	 Total comprehensive income (i.e. profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive 
income) is attributed to the owners of the parent and to the non-controlling interests even if this 
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.2	 Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

(i)	 Subsidiary (Cont’d)

	 Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in the Group losing 
control are accounted for as transactions with owners in their capacity as owners (i.e. equity 
transactions). The carrying amounts of the Group and non-controlling interests are adjusted to 
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount 
by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or 
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the parent.

	 Upon loss of control of a subsidiary, the Group’s profit or loss is calculated as the difference 
between (i) the fair value of the consideration received and of any investment retained in the 
former subsidiary and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including any goodwill) and 
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.

	 Investment in subsidiary is measured in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost 
less any impairment losses, unless the investment is classified as held for sale or distribution. 
The cost of investments excludes transaction costs.

(ii)	 Associate

	 Associate is an entity over which the Group has the power to participate in its financial and operating 
policy decisions, but which is not control or joint control. Associate is accounted for using the 
equity method of accounting.

	 Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter for 
the post-acquisition change in the investor’s share of comprehensive income of the associate. On 
acquisition of the investment, the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities are measured at fair 
value. Any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the 
associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill and included in the carrying 
amount of the investment. Goodwill is tested for impairment together with the investment at the 
end of each reporting period when there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired. 
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over 
the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

	 The Group’s share of its associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the profit or 
loss, and its share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in 
other comprehensive income. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against 
the carrying amount of the investment.

Distributions received from an investee reduce the carrying amount of the investment.

	 If the Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the 
Group does not provide for additional losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments 
on behalf of the associate.
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(cont’d)

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.2	 Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

(ii)	 Associate (Cont’d)

	 Profits or losses on Group transactions with associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
interest in the relevant associate.

	 When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, any retained interest in 
the former associate at the date when significant influence is lost is measured at fair value and 
this amount is regarded as the initial carrying amount of a financial asset. The difference between 
the fair value of any retained interest plus proceeds from the interest disposed of and the carrying 
amount of the investment at the date when equity method is discontinued is recognised in the 
profit or loss.

	 When the Group’s interest in associate decreases but does not result in a loss of significant 
influence, any retained interest is not remeasured. Any gain or loss arising from the decrease 
in interest is recognised in profit or loss. Any gains or losses previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are also reclassified proportionately to the profit or loss if that gain or 
loss would be required to be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or 
liabilities.

	 Investments in associate is measured in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost 
less any impairment losses, unless the investment is classified as held for sale or distribution. 
The cost of investments includes transaction costs.

(iii)	 Transactions eliminated on consolidation

All intragroup transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

	 Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted associates and joint ventures are 
eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investees. Unrealised 
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no 
evidence of impairment.

3.3	 Property, plant and equipment

	 On initial recognition, items of property, plant and equipment are recognised at cost, which includes 
the purchase price as well as any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and 
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management, and the 
cost of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. The cost 
of self-constructed assets also includes the cost of materials and direct labour. Cost also may include 
transfers from equity of any gain or loss on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases 
of property, plant and equipment.

	 Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part 
of that equipment. 

	 After initial recognition, items of property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less any accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

	 When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.3	 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

	 The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component 
will flow to the Group or the Company, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the 
replaced component is derecognised to profit or loss. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, 
plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

	 Significant components of individual assets are assessed, and if a component has a useful life that is 
different from the remainder of that asset, then that component is depreciated separately.

	 Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost of an asset, less its estimated residual value, over 
its useful economic life as follows:-

Leasehold land	 58 - 99 years
Buildings	 20 years
Plant and machinery	 10 - 331/3 years
Factory	 131/3 - 50 years
Factory and electrical equipment	 10 years
Motor vehicles	 5 years
Office equipment	 62/3 years
Furniture and fittings	 62/3 years
Electrical installation	 131/3 years

	 Freehold and leasehold land is stated at revalued amount, which is the fair value at the date of the 
revaluation less any accumulated impairment losses. Fair value is determined from market-based 
evidence by appraisal that is undertaken by professionally qualified valuers. Revaluations are performed 
with sufficient regularity to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from 
that which would be determined using fair values at the reporting date. Any revaluation surplus is credit to 
the revaluation reserve included within equity, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease 
for the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase is recognised in 
profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously recognised.

	 A revaluation deficit is first offset against unutilised previously recognised revaluation surplus in respect 
of the same asset and the balance is thereafter recognised in profit or loss. Upon disposal or retirement 
of an asset, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset is transferred directly to retained 
earnings.

	 At 1 January 2012, the directors have elected the transitional exemptions under the MFRS 1 to use the 
previous revaluation of the property, plant and equipment at the date of transition to MFRS framework 
as deemed cost at the date of the revaluation. During the financial year, the directors have revalued 
its freehold and leasehold land based on market-based evidence by appraisal that is undertaken by 
professionally qualified valuers.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.3	 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

	 Freehold land is not depreciated. Capital work-in-progress are not depreciated until the assets are ready 
for their intended use.

	 Useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a 
prospective basis.

	 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal 
or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the 
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

3.4	 Leases

	T he Group and the Company have applied MFRS 16 Leases using the modified retrospective approach, 
under which the cumulative effect of initial application is recognised as an adjustment to retained earnings 
at 1 January 2019, if any. Accordingly, the comparative information presented for 2018 has not been 
restated - i.e. it is presented, as previously reported under MFRS 117 Leases and related interpretations.

(a)	 Definition of a lease

	 A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group and the Company assess whether:

•	 the contract involves the use of an identified asset - this may be specified explicitly or 
implicitly, and should be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of 
a physically distinct asset. If the supplier has a substantive substitution right, then the asset 
is not identified;

•	 the customer has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of 
the asset throughout the period of use; and

•	 the customer has the right to direct the use of the asset. The customer has this right when it 
has the decision-making rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose 
the asset is used. In rare cases where the decision about how and for what purpose the 
asset is used is predetermined, the customer has the right to direct the use of the asset if 
either the customer has the right to operate the asset; or the customer designed the asset 
in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it will be used. 

	 At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group and 
the Company allocate the consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease component 
on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of properties in which the 
Group and the Company are a lessee, it has elected not to separate non-lease components and 
will instead account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.4	 Leases (Cont’d)

(b)	 Recognition and initial measurement 

As a lessee

	T he Group and the Company recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease 
commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial 
amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement 
date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the 
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease 
incentives received.

	T he lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid 
at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate 
cannot be readily determined, the respective Group entities’ incremental borrowing rate. Generally, 
the Group entities use their incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:-

•	 fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments less any incentive receivable;
•	 variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index 

or rate at the commencement date;
•	 amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee;
•	 the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group and the Company are reasonably 

certain to exercise; and 
•	 penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group and the Company are reasonably 

certain not to terminate early.

	T he Group and the Company exclude variable lease payments that linked to future performance 
or usage of the underlying asset from the lease liability. Instead, these payments are recognised 
in profit or loss in the period in which the performance or use occurs.

	T he Group and the Company have elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 
for short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. 
The Group and the Company recognise the lease payments associated with these leases as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.4	 Leases (Cont’d)

(c)     Subsequent measurement  

As a lessee 

	 The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end 
of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use asset are determined on the same 
basis as those of property, plant and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically 
reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

	 The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is 
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index 
or rate, if there is a revision of in-substance fixed lease payments, or if there is a change in the 
Group’s and the Company’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value 
guarantee, or if the Group and the Company change its assessment of whether it will exercise a 
purchase, extension or termination option.

	 When the lease liability is remeasured, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount 
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use 
asset has been reduced to zero.

3.5	 Impairment of non-financial assets

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

	T he carrying amounts of such assets are reviewed at each reporting date for indications of impairment 
and where an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through profit or loss to its estimated 
recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs to 
sell of the individual asset or the cash-generating unit. The recoverable amount is determined for an 
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those 
from other assets or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

	 Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows of that unit. Present values are 
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
unit which impairment is being measured.

	 Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first against the goodwill of the unit and then 
pro rata amongst the other assets of the unit. 

	 Subsequent increases in the recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates are credited to profit 
or loss to the extent that they reverse the impairment.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.6	 Inventories

	 Inventories are carried in the statements of financial position at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Cost is determined on a first-in first-out (FIFO) basis. The cost of work-in-progress and finished 
goods comprises materials, direct labour and attributable production overheads based on normal levels 
of activity.

	 Write-down is made for obsolete and slow-moving items based on their expected future use and net 
realisable value.

	 Net realisable value is the estimated sales price in the ordinary course of business after allowing for all 
further costs of completion and disposal.

3.7	 Financial instruments

(i)	 Initial recognition and measurement

	 The Group and the Company recognise a financial asset or a financial liability (including derivative 
instruments) in the statements of financial position when, and only when, an entity in the Group 
and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

	 On initial recognition, all financial assets (including intra-group loans and advances) and financial 
liabilities (including intra-group payables) are measured at fair value plus transaction costs if 
the financial asset or financial liability is not measured at fair value through profit or loss. For 
instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs are expensed to profit 
or loss when incurred.

(ii)	 Derecognition of financial instruments

	 For derecognition purposes, the Group and the Company first determine whether a financial asset 
or a financial liability should be derecognised in its entirety as a single item or derecognised part-
by-part of a single item or of a group of similar items.

	 A financial asset, whether as a single item or as a part, is derecognised when, and only when, the 
contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the Group and 
the Company transfer the contractual rights to receive cash flows of the financial asset, including 
circumstances when the Group and the Company act only as a collecting agent of the transferee, 
and retain no significant risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset or no continuing 
involvement in the control of the financial asset transferred.

	 A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when, it is legally extinguished, which is either 
when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires. A substantial 
modification of the terms of an existing financial liability is accounted for as an extinguishment 
of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. For this purpose, the 
Group and the Company consider a modification as substantial if the present value of the revised 
cash flows of the modified terms discounted at the original effective interest rate is different by 
10% or more when compared with the carrying amount of the original liability.



Malaysia Steel Works (KL) Bhdannual report 2019 69

NOTES TO THE  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(cont’d)

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.7	 Financial instruments (Cont’d)

(iii)	 Financial assets

	 For the purpose of subsequent measurement, the Group and the Company classify financial assets 
at amortised cost (“AC”). The classification is based on the Group’s and the Company’s business 
model objective for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics 
of the financial instruments.

	 After initial recognition, the Group and the Company measure financial assets at AC. A financial 
asset is measured at amortised cost if: (a) it is held within the Group’s and the Company’s business 
objective to hold the asset only to collect contractual cash flows, and (b) the contractual terms of 
the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest in principal outstanding.

All financial assets are subject to review for impairment in accordance with Note 3.7(vii).

(iv)	 Financial liabilities

	 After initial recognition, the Group and the Company measure all financial liabilities at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

(v)	 Fair value measurement

	 The fair value of a financial asset or a financial liability is determined by reference to the quoted 
market price in an active market, and in the absence of an observable market price, by a valuation 
technique as described in Note 3.18.

(vi)	 Recognition of gains and losses

	 For financial assets and financial liabilities carried at amortised cost, interest income and interest 
expense are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. A gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss only when the financial asset or financial liability is derecognised or 
impaired, and through the amortisation process of the instrument.

(vii)	 Impairment of financial assets

	T he Group and the Company apply the expected credit loss (“ECL”) model of MFRS 9 to recognise 
impairment losses of financial assets measured at amortised cost. Except for trade receivables, a 
12-month expected credit loss is recognised in profit or loss on the date of origination or purchase 
of the financial assets. At the end of each reporting period, the Group and the Company assess 
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk of a financial asset since its initial 
recognition or at the end of the prior period. Other than for financial assets which are considered 
to be of low risk grade, a lifetime ECL is recognised if there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition. For trade receivables, the Group and the Company have availed the 
exception to the 12-month ECL requirement to recognise only lifetime ECL.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.7	 Financial instruments (Cont’d)

(vii)	 Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

	 The assessment of whether credit risk has increased significantly is based on quantitative and 
qualitative information that include financial evaluation of the creditworthiness of the debtors or 
issuers of the instruments, ageing of receivables, defaults and past due amounts, past experiences 
with the debtors, current conditions and reasonable forecast of future economic conditions. For 
operational simplifications: (a) a 12-month ECL is maintained for financial assets which investment 
grades that are considered as low credit risk, irrespective of whether credit risk has increased 
significantly or not; and (b) credit risk is considered to have increase significantly if payments are 
more than 180 days past due if no other borrower-specific information is available without undue 
cost or effort. 

	T he ECL is measured using an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by 
evaluating a range of possible outcomes, discounted for the time value of money and applying 
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the 
reporting date about past events, current conditions, and forecast of future economic conditions. 
The ECL for a financial asset (when assessed individually) or a group of financial assets (when 
assessed collectively) is measured at the present value of the probability-weighted expected cash 
shortfalls over life of the financial asset or group of financial assets. When a financial asset is 
determined as credit-impaired (based on objective evidence of impairment), the lifetime ECL is 
determined individually.

	 For trade receivable, the lifetime ECL is determined at the end of each reporting period using a 
provision matrix. For each significant receivable, individual lifetime ECL is assessed separately. For 
significant receivables which are not impaired and for all other receivables, they are grouped into risk 
classes by type of customers and businesses, and the ageing of the receivables. Collective lifetime 
ECLs are determined using past loss rates, which are updated for effects of current conditions and 
reasonable forecasts for future economic conditions. In the event that the economic or industry 
outlook is expected to worsen, the past loss rates are increased to reflect the worsening economic 
conditions.

3.8	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, on demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to insignificant risk 
of changes in value.

	 For the purpose of the statements of cash flows only, cash and cash equivalents are presented net of 
bank overdrafts and pledged deposits.

3.9	 Foreign currencies transactions and balances

	 Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated into the functional currency of the 
concerned entity of the Group and of the Company using the exchange rates at the reporting date. Gains 
and losses arising from changes in exchange rates after the date of the transaction are recognised in 
profit or loss.

	 Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Translation differences on non-monetary 
items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at 
the date when the fair value is determined.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.10	 Equity

	 Equity instruments are contracts that give a residual interest in the net assets of the Group and of the 
Company. Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Equity instruments are recognised at the amount of 
proceeds received net of costs directly attributable to the transaction.

(i)	 Dividend distribution

	 Dividends are recognised as liabilities when they are declared (i.e. the dividends are appropriately 
authorised and no longer at the discretion of the entity). Typically, dividends are recognised as 
liabilities in the period in which their distribution is approved at the Shareholders’ Annual General 
Meeting. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.

(ii)	 Treasury shares

	 The cost of treasury shares purchased is shown as a deduction from equity in the statements 
of financial position. When treasury shares are sold or reissued, they are credited to equity. As a 
result, no gain or loss on treasury shares is included in profit or loss.

(iii)	 Distribution of assets to owners of the Company

	T he Group and the Company measure a liability to distribute assets as a dividend to the owners of 
the Company at the fair value of the assets to be distributed. The carrying amount of the dividend 
is remeasured at each reporting period and at the settlement date, with any changes recognised 
directly in equity as adjustments to the amount of the distribution. On settlement of the transaction, 
the Group and the Company recognise the difference, if any, between the carrying amount of the 
assets distributed and the carrying amount of the liability in profit or loss.

3.11	 Provisions

	 Where, at reporting date, the Group and the Company have a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event and it is probable that the Group and the Company will settle the obligation, 
a provision is made in the statements of financial position. Provisions are made using best estimates 
of the amount required to settle the obligation and are discounted to present values using a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
obligation. Changes in estimates are reflected in profit or loss in the period they arise.

3.12	 Employees benefits

(i)	 Short-term benefit

	 Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the 
year in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group and of the Company. 
Short term accumulating compensated absence such as paid annual leave are recognised when 
services are rendered by employees and short term non-accumulating compensated absences 
such as sick leave are recognised when the absences occur.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.12	 Employees benefits (Cont’d)

(ii)	 Defined contribution plan

	 As required by law, companies in Malaysia make contributions to the Employees’ Provident Fund 
(“EPF”). The contributions are recognised as a liability after deducting any contribution already 
paid and as an expense in profit or loss in the period in which the employee render their services. 
Once the contributions have been paid, the Group and the Company have no further payment 
obligations.

(iii)	 Termination benefits

	 Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier when the Group and the Company can no longer 
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the Group and the Company recognise costs for a 
restructuring. If benefits are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the end of the 
reporting period, then they are discounted.

3.13	 Revenue recognition

(i)	 Revenue from contracts with customers

	T he Group’s and the Company’s revenue comprises manufacturing of steel bars and steel billets 
and transportation and logistics. 

	 Revenue from a sale of manufactured goods and transportation and logistics services are 
recognised at a point in time when control of the goods and services is passed to the customer, 
which is the point in time when the significant risks and rewards are transferred to the customer 
and the transaction has met the probability of inflows and measurement reliability requirements 
of MFRS 15.

	T he Group and the Company measure revenue from a sale of goods or a service transaction at 
the fair value of the consideration received or receivables, which is usually the invoice price, net 
of a trade discounts and volume rebates given to the customer. 

(ii)	 Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method in profit or loss.
 

3.14	 Borrowing costs

	 Interest on borrowings to finance the purchase and development of a self-constructed qualifying asset 
(i.e. an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale) 
is included in the cost of the asset until such time as the assets are substantially ready for use or sale. 
Such borrowing costs are capitalised net of any investment income earned on the temporary investment 
of funds that are surplus pending such expenditure.

	 The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when 
expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are 
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing 
costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying 
asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or completed.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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3.15	 Income tax

	T ax currently payable is calculated using the tax rates in force or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date. Taxable profit differs from accounting profit either because some income and expenses are never 
taxable or deductible, or because the time pattern that they are taxable or deductible differs between 
tax law and their accounting treatment.

	 Using the statements of financial position liability method, deferred tax is recognised in respect of all 
temporary differences between the carrying value of assets and liabilities in the statements of financial 
position and the corresponding tax base, with the exception of goodwill not deductible for tax purposes 
and temporary differences arising on initial recognition of assets and liabilities that do not affect taxable 
or accounting profit.

	 Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the reporting date.

	 Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the Group and the Company consider that it 
is probable (i.e. more likely than not) that there will be sufficient taxable profits available for the asset 
to be utilised within the same tax jurisdiction.

	 Unutilised reinvestment allowance being tax incentive that is not a tax base of an asset, is recognised 
as a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is probable that the future taxable profits will be available 
against the unutilised tax incentive can be utilised.

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities, they relate to the same tax authority and the Group’s and the 
Company’s intention is to settle the amounts on a net basis.

	 The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, 
except if it arises from transactions or events that are recognised in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
respectively. Where tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, it is included in 
the accounting for the business combination.

	 Since the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference associated with 
interests in subsidiary and associate, a deferred tax liability is recognised only when it is probable that 
the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future mainly because of a dividend distribution.

	 At present, no provision is made for the additional tax that would be payable if the subsidiaries in certain 
countries remitted their profits because such remittances are not probable, as the Group intends to retain 
the funds to finance organic growth locally. As far as joint arrangements and associates are concerned, 
the Group is not in a position to determine their dividend policies. As a result, all significant deferred tax 
liabilities for all such taxable temporary differences are recognised.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.16	 Earnings per ordinary share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares (“EPS”). 

	 Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for own 
shares held.

	 Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects 
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise convertible notes and share options granted to 
employees.

3.17	 Operating segments

	 An operating segment is a component of the Group and of the Company that engages in business 
activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that 
relate to transactions with any of the Group’s and of the Company’s other components. All operating 
segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Chief Operating Decision Maker, which in this 
case is the Chief Executive Officer of the Group, to make decisions about resources to be allocated to 
the segment and to assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

3.18	 Fair value measurement

	 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. When measuring the fair value of 
an asset or a liability, the Group and the Company use market observable data to the extent possible. 
If the fair value of an asset or a liability is not directly observable, it is estimated by the Group and the 
Company (working closely with external qualified valuers) using valuation techniques that maximise 
the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs (e.g. by use of the 
market comparable approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similar items, discounted cash 
flow analysis, or option pricing models refined to reflect the issuer’s specific circumstances). Inputs 
used are consistent with the characteristics of the asset/ liability that market participants would take 
into account.

	 Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the degree to which the 
inputs to the measurement are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement 
in its entirety:-

Level 1 	 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2	 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included 
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3	 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for 
the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

	T ransfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognised by the Group and the Company at 
the end of the reporting period during which the change occurred.
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4.	 ADOPTION OF MFRSs, AMENDMENTS TO MFRSs AND INTERPRETATIONS

4.1	 MFRSs, Amendments to MFRSs and Interpretations adopted

	 For the preparation of the financial statements, the following accounting standards, amendments and 
interpretations of the MFRS framework issued by the MASB are mandatory for the first time for the 
financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2019, except for Amendments to MFRS 11 which is not 
applicable to the Group and the Company:-

•	 MFRS 16 Leases
•	 IC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
•	 Amendments to MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2014) – Prepayment Features with Negative 

Compensation
•	 Amendments to MFRS 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures – Long-term Interest in 

Associates and Joint Ventures
•	 Amendments to MFRS 3 Business Combinations – Previously Held Interest in a Joint Operation 

(Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle)
•	 Amendments to MFRS 112 Income Taxes – Income Tax Consequences of Payments on Financial 

Instruments Classified as Equity (Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle)
•	 Amendments to MFRS 123 Borrowing Costs – Borrowing Costs Eligible for Capitalisation (Annual 

Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle)
•	 Amendments to MFRS 119 Employee Benefits – Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

	 The adoption of the above-mentioned accounting standards, amendments and interpretations have no 
significant impact on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company other than as disclosed 
in notes to the financial statements.

4.2	 New/ Revised MFRSs, Amendments to MFRSs and Interpretations not adopted

	 The following are accounting standards, amendments and interpretations of the MFRS framework that 
have been issued by the MASB but have not been adopted by the Group and the Company:-

Amendments to MFRSs effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

•	 Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in MFRS Standards
•	 Amendments to MFRS 3 Business Combination – Definition of a Business
•	 Amendments to MFRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements and MFRS 108 Accounting Policies, 

Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors – Definition of Material
•	 Amendments to MFRS 9 Financial Instruments, MFRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement and MFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Amendments to MFRSs effective date yet to be confirmed

•	 Amendments to MFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and MFRS 128 Investment in 
Associates and Joint Ventures – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate 
or Joint Venture

	 The directors anticipate that the above-mentioned accounting standards, amendments and interpretations 
will be adopted by the Group and the Company when they become effective. 

	 Amendments to MFRS 4 Insurance Contracts – Applying MFRS 9 Financial Instruments with MFRS 4 
Insurance Contracts and MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts have not been taken into consideration because 
they are not applicable to the Group and the Company.
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5.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

	 In preparing its financial statements, the Group and the Company have made significant judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that impact on the carrying value of certain assets and liabilities, income and expenses as well 
as other information reported in the notes. The Group and the Company periodically monitor such estimates 
and assumptions and makes sure they incorporate all relevant information available at the date when financial 
statements are prepared. However, this does not prevent actual figures differing from estimates.

	T he judgements made in the process of applying the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements, and the estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a)	 Functional currency

	 The financial statements are prepared in the functional currency of the Group and of the Company of 
Ringgit Malaysia, which is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group and 
the Company operate. Factors considered by management when determining the functional currency 
include the competitive forces and regulations affecting the sales price, the currency used to acquire 
raw materials, labour, services and supplies, and sources of financing. Based on the factors considered, 
the Group and the Company have determined that Ringgit Malaysia to be its functional currency.

(b)	 Loss allowances of financial assets

	T he Group and the Company recognise impairment losses for trade receivables under the expected credit 
loss model. Individually significant trade receivables are tested for impairment separately by estimating 
the cash flows expected to be recoverable. All others are grouped into credit risk classes and tested for 
impairment collectively, using the Group’s and the Company’s past experience of loss statistics, ageing 
of past due amounts and current economic trends. The actual eventual losses may be different from 
the allowance made and this may affect the Group’s and the Company’s financial positions and results 
(as reflected in Note 11).

(c)	 Asset impairment tests

	 A financial asset or a group of financial assets, other than those categorised at fair value through profit 
or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Impairment exists 
only when the Group and the Company ascertain that a “loss event” affecting the estimated future cash 
flows of the financial asset has occurred. It may not be possible to identify a single, discrete event that 
caused the impairment and moreover to determine when a loss event has occurred might involve the 
exercise of significant judgement.

	 The amount of impairment loss recognised for financial assets carried at amortised cost is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted 
at the original effective interest rate.

	 With regard to equity investments categorised at amortised cost, the Group and the Company consider 
those assets to be impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value 
below cost. The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires significant judgement. 

	 The impairment analysis of goodwill and tangible and other intangible assets requires an estimation of 
the value in use of the asset or the cash-generating unit to which the assets are allocated. Estimation 
of the value in use is primarily based on discounted cash flow models which require the Group and the 
Company to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the asset or the cash-generating 
unit and also to choose an appropriate discount rate in order to calculate the present value of the cash 
flows.
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5.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONT’D)

(d)	 Net realisable value of inventories

	 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is written 
down to their estimated realisable value when their cost may no longer be recoverable such as when 
inventories are damaged or become wholly or partly obsolete or their selling prices have declined. In 
any case, the realisable value represents the best estimate of the recoverable amount, is based on the 
most reliable evidence available at the reporting date and inherently involves estimates regarding the 
future expected realisable value. The benchmarks for determining the amount of write-downs to net 
realisable value include ageing analysis, technical assessment and subsequent events. In general, such 
an evaluation process requires significant judgement and may materially affect the carrying amount of 
inventories at the reporting date (as reflected in Note 10).

(e)	 Fair value measurement

	 Some of the Group’s and of the Company’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial 
reporting purposes. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group and the Company 
use market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available (e.g. for 
unquoted investments), the Group and the Company work closely with external qualified valuers who 
perform the valuation, based on agreed appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model (e.g. 
use of the market comparable approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similar instruments, 
discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models refined to reflect the issuer’s specific circumstances). 
Prices determined then by the valuers are used by the Group and the Company without adjustment. 

	 Changes in the fair value of assets and liabilities and their causes are quarterly analysed by the Group’s 
and the Company’s valuation sub-committee of the Board of Directors. Such valuations require the Group 
and the Company to select among a range of different valuation methodologies and to make estimates 
about expected future cash flows and discount rates.

(f)	 Deferred tax estimation

	 Recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities involves making a series of assumptions. As far as 
deferred tax assets are concerned, their realisation ultimately depends on taxable profits being available 
in the future. Deferred tax assets are recognised only when it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which the deferred tax asset can be utilised and it is probable that the entity will earn 
sufficient taxable profit in future periods to benefit from a reduction in tax payments. This involves the 
Group and the Company making assumptions within its overall tax-planning activities and periodically 
reassessing them in order to reflect changed circumstances as well as tax regulations. Moreover, the 
measurement of a deferred tax asset or liability reflects the manner in which the entity expects to recover 
the asset’s carrying value or settle the liability.
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5.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONT’D)

(g)	 Provisions for liabilities and charges

	 Provisions can be distinguished from other liabilities because there is uncertainty about the timing or 
amount of settlement. The more common provisions recorded by the Group and the Company arise from 
obligations in relation to manufacturer’s warranties, refunds, guarantees, onerous contracts, outstanding 
litigation and business restructuring.

	 The recognition and measurement of provisions require the Group and the Company to make significant 
estimates with regard to the probability (if the event is more likely than not to occur) that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation and make assumptions whether a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

	 Moreover, the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policy require recognition of the best estimate of 
the amount that would be required to settle an obligation and the estimate may be based on information 
that produces a range of amounts. Since the measurement is based on present value, it involves making 
estimates around the appropriate discount rate in order to reflect the risks specific to the liability.

	 In particular, as far as restructuring provisions are concerned, considerable judgement is required to 
determine whether an obligating event has occurred. All the available evidence must be assessed to 
determine whether a plan is detailed enough to create a valid expectation of management’s commitment 
to the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announce its main features to those affected 
by it.

(h)	 Contingencies

	 Contingent liabilities of the Group and of the Company are not recognised but disclosed, unless the 
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.

	 Contingent liabilities represent possible obligations that arise from past events and whose existence 
will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not 
wholly within the control of the entity. They are not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow 
of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation cannot be measured 
with sufficient reliability.

	 Inevitably, the determination that the possibility that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits is remote and that the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events is 
not wholly within the control of the Group and of the Company require significant judgement.
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5.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONT’D)

(i)	 Depreciation of plant and equipment

	 The cost of an item of plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line method over their useful 
lives. Management estimates the useful lives of the plant and equipment as stated in Note 3.3. These 
are common life expectancies applied in the industries. Changes in the expected level of usage and 
technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these 
assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.

(j)	 Income taxes

	 Significant judgement is involved in determining the provision for income taxes. There are certain 
transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary 
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that 
were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the 
period in which such determination is made.

(k)	 Classification of financial assets

	 The Group and the Company use its business model objectives as a basis to classify financial assets for 
subsequent measurements. The objectives of the Group and of the Company in managing investments 
in equity and debt instruments include those held for trading, managing for fair value changes and 
managing to collect contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on principal. 
Management uses its judgement to determine the classification of each investment at the date of 
purchase on the basis of the Group’s and of the Company’s business model objectives. Investment in the 
same debt or equity instruments need not necessarily be classified in the same category for subsequent 
measurement. 

(l)	 Quantities and valuation of scrap metals 

	 The Group and the Company appoint independent quantity surveyor to determine the quantities of 
its scrap metals at the end of the financial year. The directors at the advice of the appointed quantity 
surveyor exercised judgement and made assumptions in the selection and deployment of the most 
suitable valuation techniques in ensuing quantities determination.

(m)	 Measurement of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets

	 The measurement of a lease liability and the corresponding right-of-use asset includes in-substance fixed 
payments, estimates of lease term, option to purchase, payments under residual value guarantee and 
penalties for early termination. The actual payments may not coincide with these estimates. The Group 
and the Company reassess the lease liability for any change in the estimates and any corresponding 
adjustment will be made to the right-of-use asset.
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6.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

(a)	 Carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment held under lease arrangements are as follows:-

	 Group	 Company
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018	
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Plant and machinery		  16,875	 336	 16,875	 336
Motor vehicles 		  3,327	 3,639	 1,101	 1,214

			   20,202	 3,975	 17,976	 1,550

(b)	 The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment charged as securities for borrowing as disclosed 
in Note 19 are as follows:-

		  Group and Company
				    2019	 2018	
				    RM’000	 RM’000

Leasehold land and buildings			   188,918	 115,502
Plant and machinery				    511,312	 472,348

					     700,230	 587,850

(c)	T he leasehold land of the Group and of the Company have unexpired periods of lease of 48 to 92 years 
(2018: 49 to 93 years).

(d)	 Included in property, plant and equipment of the Group and of the Company are right-of-use assets 
amounting to RM188,918 (2018: RM115,502).

7.	 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY

		  Company
				    2019	 2018	
				    RM’000	 RM’000

Unquoted shares, at cost				    500	 500

The details of the subsidiary, of which is incorporated in Malaysia, are as follows:-

Interest in
equity held

by the Company
Name of company 2019

%
2018

%
Principal activities

MS Express Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Transportation and logistic



Malaysia Steel Works (KL) Bhdannual report 2019 85

NOTES TO THE  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(cont’d)

8.	 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE

	 Group	 Company
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018	
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Unquoted shares, at cost

At beginning of the year		  6,141	 6,302	 6,130	 6,294
Share of accumulated
 post-acquisition
 gains/(losses) 		  387	 (161)	 –	 –
Reversal of impairment
 of investment		  –	 –	 387	 –
Impairment of investment		  –	 –	 –	 (164)

At end of the year		  6,528	 6,141	 6,517	 6,130

Interest in
equity held

by the Company
Name of company 2019

%
2018

%
Principal activities

Bio Molecular Industries
 Sdn. Bhd.

48.25 48.25 Manufacturing, research and development 
of radioisotopes and radiopharmaceuticals 
products

The associate was incorporated in Malaysia and audited by a firm of auditors other than RSM Malaysia.

Summarised financial information of associate, not adjusted for the percentage ownership held by the Group:-

		  Effective		  Profit/	 Total	 Total
		  ownership	 Revenue	 (loss)	 assets	 liabilities
		  interest	 (100%)	 (100%)	 (100%)	 (100%)
		  %	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

2019		  48.25	 8,299	 804	 29,042	 15,536

2018		  48.25	 5,938	 (340)	 28,115	 15,413
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9.	 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

Group

				    Assets	 Liabilities	 Net
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

2019

At 1 January			   –	 (9,603)	 (9,603)
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 27)		  3,793	 9,556	 13,349

At 31 December	     		  3,793	 (47)	       3,746

2018

At 1 January			   –	 (11,969)	 (11,969)
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 27)		  –	 2,366	 2,366

At 31 December			   –	 (9,603)	 (9,603)

Company

					     2019	 2018
					     Liabilities	 Liabilities
					     RM’000	 RM’000

At 1 January				    (9,603)	 (11,969)
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 27)			   13,396	 2,366

At 31 December				    3,793	 (9,603)

	 Group	 Company
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018	
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Presented after appropriate
 offsetting as follows:-

Deferred tax assets		  88,039	 82,295	 88,039	 82,295
Deferred tax liabilities		  (84,293)	 (91,898)	 (84,246)	 (91,898)

			   3,746	 (9,603)	 3,793	 (9,603)
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(cont’d)

9.	 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (Cont’d)

	 The components and movements of deferred tax assets and liabilities during the financial year prior to offsetting 
are as follows:-

Deferred tax assets of the Group and of the Company:-

					     Unutilised
					     capital
				    Other	 allowance
				    deductible	 and
				    temporary	 reinvestment
				    differences	  allowance	 Total
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

At 1 January 2019			   7,048	 75,247	 82,295
Recognised in profit or loss			   5,774	 (30)	 5,744

At 31 December 2019			   12,822	 75,217	 88,039

At 1 January 2018			   1,488	 68,015	 69,503
Recognised in profit or loss			   5,560	 7,232	 12,792

At 31 December 2018			   7,048	 75,247	 82,295

Deferred tax liabilities of the Group and of the Company:-

						      Group and
				    Group	 Company	 Company
				    2019	 2019	 2018
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Excess of capital allowances over depreciation
At 1 January			   (91,898)	 (91,898)	 (81,472)
Recognised in profit or loss			   7,605	 7,652	 (10,426)

At 31 December			   (84,293)	 (84,246)	 (91,898)
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10.	 INVENTORIES

		  Group and Company
				    2019	 2018	
				    RM’000	 RM’000

At cost

Raw materials				    466,222	 432,217
Goods in transit				    2,137	 4,058

					     468,359	 436,275

At net realisable value

Finished goods				    73,295	 70,174
Impairment of inventories				    (8,275)	 (6,970)

					     65,020	 63,204

					     533,379	 499,479

Recognised in profit or loss:

Inventories recognised as cost of sales			   1,142,509	 1,410,805
Impairment on inventories				    1,305	 4,593

11.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

	 Group	 Company
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018	
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Trade receivables

Third parties		  164,306	 136,134	 164,306	 136,134

Other receivables

Due (to)/from subsidiary		  –	 –	 (8)	 34
Due from associate		  900	 875	 900	 875
Deposits		  160	 176	 158	 174
Sundry receivables
 and prepayments		  3,234	 24,969	 3,125	 24,794

			   4,294	 26,020	 4,175	 25,877

			   168,600	 162,154	 168,481	 162,011
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11.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d)

	 The normal trade credit terms of the Group and of the Company ranged from 30 to 180 days (2018: 30 to 180 
days). The amount due from subsidiary companies represent non-trade advances, are unsecured, interest 
free and repayable on demand. The amount due from associate company consists of unsecured non-trade 
advances which bear interest rate of 3.55% (2018: 3.55%) per annum and is repayable on demand. 

	 Trade and other receivables of the Group and of the Company are denominated in Ringgit Malaysia. Hence, 
there is no exposure to foreign currency risk.

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables is as follows:-

		  Group and Company
				    2019	 2018
				    RM’000	 RM’000

Neither past due nor impaired				    164,078	 136,122
Past due, not impaired			 
- 1 to 30 days past due, not impaired			   106	 5
- 31 to 60 days past due, not impaired			   122	 7

					     164,306	 136,134

	 The balance of receivables that are past due but not impaired are unsecured in nature. The management is 
confident that the remaining receivables are recoverable as these accounts are still active.

12.	 OTHER INVESTMENT

		  Group and Company
				    2019	 2018
				    RM’000	 RM’000

Financial institution				    –	 3,000

13.	 FIXED DEPOSITS WITH LICENSED BANKS

The interest rates of deposits that were effective as at the financial year end are as follows:-

		  Group and Company
				    2019	 2018
					     % per	 % per
					     annum	  annum

Deposits with licensed banks				    2.10 - 3.50	 2.40 - 3.60

	 Deposits of the Group and of the Company are unsecured and have an average maturity period of between 2 
days and 6 months (2018: between 2 days and 3 months).
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14.	 SHARE CAPITAL

		  Group and Company
				    2019	 2018
				    RM’000	 RM’000

Issued and fully paid
At 1 January 427,239,831 (2018: 315,630,843) ordinary shares		  230,094	 221,472
Issuance of 8,800,000 (2018: 4,800,000) ordinary shares
 under private placement				    3,216	 7,210
Share subscription money received
Issuance of nil (2018: 106,808,988) bonus shares			   –	 1,012
Transfer from share premium and capital reserves
 in accordance with Section 618(2) of Companies Act 2016		  –	 400

At 31 December 436,039,831 (2018: 427,239,831) ordinary shares		  233,310	 230,094

	 During the financial year, the Company increased its issued and paid-up share capital from RM230,094,000 to 
RM233,310,000 by issuance of 8,800,000 ordinary shares via private placement to eligible investors for a total 
cash consideration of RM3,216,000 to fund the Company’s investment.

	 The new ordinary shares issued during the financial year rank pari-passu in all respects with the existing 
ordinary shares of the Company.

#	 Included in share capital is capital reserves amounting to RM997,000 (2018: RM997,000). 

	 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividend as declared from time to time, and are entitled 
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company and rank equally with reference shareholders with regard to 
the Company’s residual assets. In respect of the Company’s treasury shares held by the Company (see Note 
16), all rights are suspended until those shares are reissued. 

15.	 SUBSCRIPTION MONEY RECEIVED

	T he Company had on 31 December 2019 received two (2) Subscription Notices from the investor for the 
subscription of Company’s shares at a subscription price of RM0.38. The subscription price represents a 
discount to the average of the daily volume weighted average market prices of Company’s shares during the 
5 consecutive Trading Days and such shares will be listed and quoted on Main Market of Bursa Securities. 

The Subscription Completion Date of both Subscription Notices is 3 January 2020 (Note 38 (a)).
 



Malaysia Steel Works (KL) Bhdannual report 2019 91

NOTES TO THE  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(cont’d)

16.	 TREASURY SHARES

		  Group and Company
				    2019	 2018
				    RM’000	 RM’000

At cost
At 1 January				    (1,199)	 (313)
Acquired during the financial year				    (125)	 (886)

At 31 December				    (1,324)	 (1,199)

	T he directors of the Company are committed to enhance the value of the Company to its shareholders and 
believe that the repurchase plan can be applied in the interest of the Company and its shareholders. The 
repurchase transactions were financed by internally generated funds. The shares repurchased are being held 
as treasury shares as allowed under Section 127 of the Companies Act 2016. The Company has the right to 
cancel these treasury shares, distribute these treasury shares as share dividends to the shareholders and/ 
or resell these treasury shares on the Bursa Malaysia. As treasury shares, the rights attached as to voting, 
dividends and participation in other distribution are suspended. 

	 During the financial year, the Company repurchased its shares totaling 294,000 (2018: 1,381,000) ordinary 
shares as follows:-

Date		  Shares repurchased	 Purchase price (RM)

03.01.2019	 133,000	 0.38
07.01.2019	 109,000	 0.46
10.01.2019	 52,000	 0.47

	 In year 2018, the Company had resold 423,800 treasury shares in the open market. The average carrying value 
of the treasury shares was RM0.739 per share.

	 At the financial year end, the number of outstanding shares in issue after setting off the treasury shares against 
equity was 435,745,831 (2018: 425,858,831).

Capital reserve

	 The capital reserve comprises of capital redemption reserves arising from gain on resold of treasury shares. 
In accordance with Section 618 of the Companies Act 2016, any amount standing to the credit of the capital 
redemption reserve account has become part of the Company’s share capital. Accordingly, the capital 
redemption reserve has been transferred and become part of the Company’s share capital.

17.	 RETAINED EARNINGS

	 The entire retained earnings are distributable by way of single-tier dividends. These dividends if so declared 
are tax exempt in the hands of the shareholders.
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18.	 LEASE LIABILITIES

					     Group	 Company
					     2019	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Current 				    3,272	 2,604
Non-current				    11,857	 10,170

					     15,129	 12,774

Minimum lease payments:
- not later than one (1) year				    4,336	 3,553
- later than one (1) year but not later than two (2) years		  4,192	 3,413
- later than two (2) years but not later than five (5) years		  9,266	 8,226

					     17,794	 15,192
Less: Future finance charges 				    (2,665)	 (2,418)

Present value of lease liabilities				    15,129	 12,774

Present value of lease liabilities
			 
- not later than one (1) year				    3,273	 2,605
- later than one (1) year but not later than two (2) years		  3,406	 2,705
- later than two (2) years but not later than five (5) years		  8,450	 7,464

					     15,129	 12,774

The lease liabilities bear interest rate ranging from 2.41% - 4.48% per annum.
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19.	 BORROWINGS

	 Group	 Company
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018	
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Current liabilities

Bank overdrafts		  2,000	 –	 2,000	 –
Bill payable		  317,470	 239,953	 317,470	 239,953
Finance lease liabilities		  –	 964	 –	 426
Terms loans		  12,283	 2,283	 12,283	 2,283

			   331,753	 243,200	 331,753	 242,662

Non-current liabilities

Revolving credit		  10,000	 10,000	 10,000	 10,000
Finance lease liabilities		  –	 2,813	 –	 812
Term loans		  121,712	 133,996	 121,712	 133,996

			   131,712	 146,809	 131,712	 144,808

			   463,465	 390,009	 463,465	 387,470

Total borrowings

Bank overdrafts		  2,000	 –	 2,000	 –
Bill payable		  317,470	 239,953	 317,470	 239,953
Revolving credit		  10,000	 10,000	 10,000	 10,000
Finance lease liabilities		  –	 3,777	 –	 1,238
Term loans		  133,995	 136,279	 133,995	 136,279

			   463,465	 390,009	 463,465	 387,470

	 The bank overdraft facilities are repayable on demand and bear interest ranging from to 5.10% to 8.10% (2018: 
5.45% to 8.10%) per annum.

	 The bill payable facilities are repayable within 120 - 180 days and bear interest rates ranging from 3.34% to 
6.35% (2018: 3.74% to 6.45%) per annum. Certain bill payable facilities are secured by a third-party security.

	 The revolving credit facilities are repayable on monthly basis and bear interest rates at 5.06% and 5.25% (2018: 
5.21% and 5.25%) per annum. 

In 2018, the finance lease liabilities bear interest rates ranging from 2.41% to 5.82% per annum.

	 The term loans bear interest rate at 8.45% (2018: 8.29% to 8.85%) per annum and is repayable on quarterly 
basis through number of instalments and commencement date as below:-

		  Number of instalments	 Commencement date

Term loan I*	 16	 September 2015
Term loan II**	 12	 November 2018
Term loan III	 40	 November 2018

*	 The term loan had been settled on December 2018.
**	 The term loan had been settled on November 2019.
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19.	 BORROWINGS (cont’d)

The bills payable, revolving credit and term loans are secured by the following:-

(a)	 Negative pledge;
(b)	 Debentures over certain property, plant and equipment of the Company; and
(c)	 First fixed charge over all leasehold land and buildings of the Company, as disclosed in Note 6.

	 Group	 Company
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018	
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Bank borrowings excluding
 finance lease liabilities
Repayment terms:-
- not later than one (1) year		  331,753	 242,236	 331,753	 242,236
- later than one (1) year
 but not later than two (2) years		  31,712	 2,283	 31,712	 2,283
- later than two (2) years
 but not later than five (5) years		  100,000	 141,713	 100,000	 141,713

			   463,465	 386,232	 463,465	 386,232

Finance lease liabilities
Minimum lease payments:-
- not later than one (1) year		  –	 1,145	 –	 480
- later than one (1) year
 but not later than two (2) years		  –	 1,067	 –	 402
- later than two (2) years
 but not later than five (5) years		  –	 1,961	 –	 430
- later than five (5) years		  –	 30	 –	 30

			   –	 4,203	 –	 1,342
Less: Future finance charges
 on finance lease		  –	 (426)	 –	 (104)

Present value of finance 
 lease liabilities		  –	 3,777	 –	 1,238

Present value of
 finance lease liabilities
- not later than one (1) year		  –	 964	 –	 426
- later than one (1) year
 but not later than two (2) years		  –	 945	 –	 375
- later than two (2) years
 but not later than five (5) years		  –	 1,840	 –	 409
- later than five (5) years		  –	 28	 –	 28

			   –	 3,777	 –	 1,238

	 With the adoption of MFRS 16 Leases, finance lease liabilities were reclassified from borrowings to lease 
liabilities with effect from 1 January 2019.
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20.	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

	 Group	 Company
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Trade payables

Third parties 		  201,460	 171,682	 203,908	 173,017

Other payables

Sundry payable		  99	 52	 99	 52
Accruals		  27,860	 31,030	 27,786	 30,931

			   229,419	 202,764	 231,793	 204,000

	 The normal trade credit terms of the Group and of the Company range from 30 to 180 days (2018: 30 to 180 
days).

The currency exposure profile of trade and other payables are as follows:-

		  Group and Company
				    2019	 2018
				    RM’000	 RM’000

United States Dollars				    38,472	 35,705
Chinese Yuan Renminbi				    814	 927
Euro					     24,657	 –

At 31 December				    63,943	 36,632

21.	 TRADE DEPOSITS

	T he Group and the Company have entered into several Advance Payment and Supply Agreements (“Agreements”) 
with a foreign trading house, Cargill International Trading Pte. Ltd. (“Cargill”) since 30 April 2013. 

The terms and conditions as stated in the Agreements are as follows:-

(i)	T he Group and the Company have granted Cargill an option to buy steel billets from the Group and the 
Company for a period of time at contracted amounts stated in the Agreements. The Group and the 
Company are required to make an offer to Cargill of a variable quantity of steel billets (“commodity”) at 
contracted amount not later than 30 business days before maturity date stated in the Agreements. The 
Group and the Company shall physically deliver the required quantity of the commodity based on the 
contracted amount if the offer is accepted.

(ii)	 In consideration of the Group’s and of the Company’s agreement to deliver the commodity, Cargill agreed 
to make advance payments upon request by the Group and the Company. If Cargill does not accept the 
offer to purchase the steel billets upon the maturity date, the Group and the Company shall repay to 
Cargill the advance payment amount by cash in lieu of a delivery of the commodity.

(iii)	T he difference between the disbursement amount received and the contracted amount is the advance 
payment discount/charge.
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21.	 TRADE DEPOSITS (cont’d)

As at 31 December 2019, there were 5 (2018: 6) Agreements pending execution.

Included in trade deposits was 100% (2018: 100%) of trade deposits with Cargill.

	 As at 31 December 2019, there has been no (2018: 1 partially executed) Agreement being executed. The total 
amounts transacted were Nil (2018: USD2,281,536) which equivalent to Nil (2018: RM9,468,850).

	 Included in the Group’s and Company’s trade deposits are balances denominated in United States Dollars of 
USD 20,300,000 (equivalent to RM80,250,345) (2018: USD30,625,000) (equivalent to RM116,843,076).

During the financial year, the advance payment discount/charge incurred are as follows:- 

		  Group and Company
				    2019	 2018
				    RM’000	 RM’000

Advance payment discounts				    –	 635
Advance payment charges				    9,258	 7,051

					     9,258	 7,686

22.	 REVENUE

		  Group and Company
				    2019	 2018
				    RM’000	 RM’000

Revenue from contracts with customers:-
- Sales of manufactured goods				    1,195,306	 1,496,853

Timing of revenue			 
- At a point in time				    1,195,306	 1,496,853
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23.	 PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS

	 Group	 Company
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Profit from operations
 is arrived at after
 charging/(crediting):-

Auditors’ remuneration
- statutory audit		  147	 147	 140	 140
- other services		  8	 8	 8	 8
Depreciation of property, plant
 and equipment 		  30,461	 28,641	 29,872	 28,317
(Reversal of)/Impairment loss
 on investment in associate		  –	 –	 (387)	 164
Impairment on inventories		  1,305	 4,593	 1,305	 4,593
Loss on property, plant and
 equipment written off		  99	 –	 99	 –
Rental of equipment		  4,274	 3,920	 4,274	 3,920
Rental of premises		  393	 838	 393	 838
Staff costs (Note 24)		  44,877	 47,606	 43,633	 46,958
Realised foreign exchange
 loss/(gain)		  56	 (6,106)	 56	 (6,106)
Unrealised foreign exchange
 (gain)/loss   		  (2,968)	 6,169	 (2,968)	 6,169
Fixed deposits interest income 		  (446)	 (602)	 (446)	 (602)
Loss/ (Gain) on disposal of
 property, plant and equipment		  9	 (4)	 9	 (4)

Net gains and losses arising from financial instruments:-

	 Group	 Company
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Net gains/ (losses) on:-

Financial assets measured
 at amortised cost		  446	 602	 446	 602
Financial liabilities measured
 at amortised cost		  (19,746)	 (15,810)	 (19,614)	 (15,729)

			   (19,300)	 (15,208)	 (19,168)	 (15,127)
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24.	 STAFF COSTS

	 Group	 Company
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Salaries, bonus, allowances
 and overtime		  42,317	 45,096	 41,237	 44,496
Employees Provident Fund		  2,067	 2,141	 1,930	 2,100
Social security costs		  315	 218	 298	 213
Other benefits		  178	 151	 168	 149

			   44,877	 47,606	 43,633	 46,958

Included in staff costs of the Group and of the Company are directors’ remuneration as disclosed in Note 25.

25.	 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

		  Group and Company
				    2019	 2018
				    RM’000	 RM’000

Directors of the Company

Executive:-
Salaries and other emoluments				    2,163	 2,823
Fees					     76	 102
Allowances				    57	 58

					     2,296	 2,983

Non-executive:-
Fees					     76	 111
Allowances				    346	 329

					     422	 440

Total executive directors’ remuneration			   2,296	 2,983
Total non-executive directors’ remuneration			   422	 440

Grand total				    2,718	 3,423
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25.	 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (cont’d)

	T he number of directors of the Company whose total remuneration during the year fall within the following 
bands are analysed below:-

		  Number of Directors
				    2019	 2018
				    RM’000	 RM’000

Executive directors:-
Less than RM50,000				    –	 –
RM200,001 - RM250,000				    1	 1
RM350,001 - RM400,000				    1	 –
RM450,001 - RM500,000				    –	 1
RM500,001 - RM550,000				    1	 –
RM650,001 - RM700,000				    –	 1
RM1,200,001 - RM1,250,000				    1	 –
RM1,600,001 - RM1,650,000				    –	 1

Total executive directors				    4	 4

Non-executive directors:-
RM50,001 - RM100,000				    3	 2
RM100,001 - RM150,000				    –	 1
RM150,001 - RM200,000				    1	 1

Total non-executive directors				    4	 4

Total executive and non-executive directors			   8	 8

26.	 FINANCE COSTS

	 Group	 Company
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Recognised in profit or loss:-

Interest expenses of
 financial liabilities
 measured at amortised cost:-
 - bill payable		  14,436	 11,915	 14,436	 11,915
 - bank overdrafts and
  revolving credit		  576	 548	 576	 548
 - finance lease		  707	 150	 575	 69
 - term loans		  6,939	 3,134	 6,939	 3,134

			   22,658	 15,747	 22,526	 15,666
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27.	 TAX CREDIT

	 Group	 Company
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Current financial year
Income tax expense		  540	 1,178	 59	 1,178
Deferred tax income		  (13,386)	 (1,103)	 (13,407)	 (1,103)

			   (12,846)	 75	 (13,348)	 75

Under/(Over) provision
 in prior financial year
Income tax expense		  414	 (679)	 23	 (679)
Deferred tax income/(expense)		  37	 (1,263)	 11	 (1,263)

			   451	 (1,942)	 34	 (1,942)

			   (12,395)	 (1,867)	 (13,314)	 (1,867)

 
	 The reconciliation between the tax expense on (loss)/ profit before taxation with the applicable statutory tax 

rate of the Group and of the Company are as follows:-

	 Group	 Company
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

(Loss)/ Profit before taxation		  (20,721)	 4,838	 (22,244)	 2,660

Tax at Malaysia statutory tax
 rate of 24% (2018: 24%)		  (4,973)	 1,161	 (5,339)	 638

Tax effect in respect of:-

Expenses not deductible
 for tax purposes  		  7,129	 1,525	 6,993	 2,048
Utilisation of capital allowances		  (15,002)	 –	 (15,002)	 –
Utilisation of reinvestment
 allowances		  –	 (2,611)	 –	 (2,611)

Tax expense for the year		  (12,846)	 75	 (13,348)	 75

	 Subject to agreement with the Inland Revenue Board, the Company has unutilised reinvestment allowances of 
approximately RM313,405,000 (2018: RM313,405,000) which are available to set off against future chargeable 
income up to the year of assessment 2025.

	 For year of assessment (YA) 2019, unabsorbed tax losses can only be carried forward for a maximum period 
of 7 consecutive YAs to be utilised against income from any business sources. Unabsorbed tax losses of 
RM40,612,000 from YA 2019 can be utilised for another 7 YAs will be disregarded in YA 2027. 
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28.	 PURCHASE OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

	 During the financial year, the Group and the Company acquired property, plant and equipment satisfied as 
follows:-

	 Group	 Company
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Lease arrangements 		  13,437	 3,281	 13,048	 532
Cash payments		  50,578	 59,133	 50,578	 59,133

			   64,015	 62,414	 63,626	 59,665

29.	 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)	 Basic (loss)/earnings per share

	 The basic (loss)/earnings per ordinary share of the Group is calculated based on the (loss)/profit 
attributable to owners of ordinary shareholders divided by the weighted average number of shares in 
issue.

					     2019	 2018
					     RM’000	 RM’000

(Loss)/Profit attributable to owners of ordinary shareholders		  (8,326)	 6,705

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue		  426,345	 425,491
			 
Basic (loss)/earnings per share (sen)			   (1.95)	 1.58

(b)	 Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

There was no dilutive potential ordinary shares as at 31 December 2019. 
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30.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES

	 The Group’s and the Company’s financial risk management policy seeks to ensure that adequate financial 
resources are available for the development of the Group’s and of the Company’s businesses whilst managing 
its risks. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised 
below. It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the Group’s and the Company’s policy that no 
trading in derivative financial instruments shall be undertaken.

	 The main areas of financial risks faced by the Group and the Company and the policy in respect of the major 
areas of treasury activity are set out as follows:-

(a)	 Interest rate risk

	 Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of 
a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. As the Group and the 
Company have no significant interest-bearing financial assets, the Group’s and the Company’s income 
and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s 
and the Company’s interest-bearing financial assets are mainly short term in nature and have been mostly 
placed in fixed deposits or occasionally, in short term commercial papers.

	 The Group’s and the Company’s interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-bearing borrowings. 
The Group’s and the Company’s policy is to borrow principally on the floating rate basis but to retain a 
proportion of fixed rate debt. The objectives for the mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings are 
set to reduce the impact of an upward change in interest rates while enabling benefits to be enjoyed if 
interest rate fall.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

(i)	 Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instrument

	 The Group and the Company do not account for any fixed rate financial liabilities at “fair value 
through profit or loss” and does not designate derivatives as hedging instrument under fair value 
hedge accounting method. Therefore, a change in interest rate at the end of the reporting period 
would not affect profit or loss substantially.

(ii)	 Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis

	 The Group’s and the Company’s floating rate borrowings in RM are exposed to variability in future 
interest payments. If the Bank’s Base Lending Rate were to increase/ decrease by 1%, it would 
impact the Group’s and the Company’s profit by approximately RM4,634,650 (2018: RM3,862,000).
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30.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES (CONT’D)

(b)	 Credit risk

	 The Group’s and the Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables. The Group and the 
Company trade only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s and the Company’s 
policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. 
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s and the Company’s 
exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions that are not denominated in the functional 
currency of the relevant operating unit, the Group and the Company do not offer credit terms without 
the specific approval of the Head of Credit Control. Since the Group and the Company trade only with 
recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for collateral.

	 When an account is more than 180 days past due, the credit risk is considered to have increased 
significantly since the initial recognition. The Group identifies as a default account if it is more than 180 
days past due and the customer is having significant financial difficulties (analysed by financial measures 
of reported losses, negative cash flows, and qualitative evaluation of the customer’s characteristics). The 
Group classifies an impaired receivable when a customer is in default, in liquidation or other financial 
reorganisation.

	 For each significant receivable that is credit-impaired, individual lifetime ECL is recognised using the 
probability of default technique. The inputs used are: (i) the percent chance of default, and (ii) the expected 
cash shortfalls. The lifetime ECL is measured at the probability-weighted expected cash shortfalls by 
reference to the Group’s past experience, current conditions and forecast of future economic benefits.

	 For significant receivables that are not individually credit-impaired and all other receivables, the Group uses 
a provision matrix that categories the different risk classes (low risk, medium risk and high risk) and the 
ageing profiles. The collective lifetime ECLs are measured based on the Group’s past lost rate experiences, 
current conditions and forecast of future economic conditions. The past lost rates are adjusted upward 
in the measurement in worsening current conditions and forecasts of future macroeconomic conditions.

Concentration of credit risk

	 The Group assesses concentrations of credit risk by exposure to single-large customers, industry sectors 
and overseas jurisdictions.

	 100% of the Group’s trade and other receivables were concentrated within Malaysia. There was no 
significant exposure to single customers or to industry groups. 

	 The credit risk of the Group’s and of the Company’s other financial assets, which comprise cash and cash 
equivalents and other investments, arises from default of the counterpart, with a maximum exposure 
equal to the carrying amount of these financial assets.
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30.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES (CONT’D)

(c)	 Foreign currency risk

	T he Group and the Company are exposed to transactional currency risk primarily through sales and 
purchases that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the operations to 
which they relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily United States Dollars (USD) and 
Chinese Yuan Renminbi (CNY). Foreign exchange exposures in transactional currencies other than 
functional currencies of the operating entities are kept to an acceptable level. Material foreign currency 
transaction exposures are hedged, mainly with derivative financial instruments such as forward foreign 
exchange contracts.

	 The Group and the Company maintain a natural hedge, whenever possible, by borrowing in the currency 
of the country in which the property or investment is located or by borrowing in currencies that match 
the future revenue stream to be generated from its investments.

	 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s and of the Company’s profit after tax and 
equity to a reasonably possible change in the exchange rates against the respective functional currencies 
of the Group’s entities, with all other variables held constant.

		  Group and Company
		  Profit after tax
		  RM’000

2019
USD/RM
- strengthened by 5%	 4,500
- weakened by 5%	 (4,500)

CNY/RM
- strengthened by 5%	 31
- weakened by 5%	 (31)

EURO/RM
- strengthened by 5%	 937
- weakened by 5%	 (937)

2018
USD/RM
- strengthened by 5%	 5,794
- weakened by 5%	 (5,794)

CNY/RM
- strengthened by 5%	 31
- weakened by 5%	 (31)
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30.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES (CONT’D)

(d)	 Liquidity risk

	 The Group and the Company manage its debt maturity profile, operating cash flows and the availability 
of funding so as to ensure that refinancing, repayment and funding needs are met. As part of its overall 
liquidity management, the Group and the Company maintain sufficient levels of cash or cash equivalents 
to meet its working capital requirements. In addition, the Group and the Company strive to maintain 
available banking facilities at a reasonable level to its overall debt position. As far as possible, the Group 
and the Company raise committed funding from both capital markets and financial institutions and 
balances its portfolio with some short term funding so as to achieve overall cost effectiveness.

Maturity analysis

	 It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, 
or at significantly different amounts.

	 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and of the Company’s financial liabilities 
as at the end of the reporting period based on undiscounted contractual payments:-

Group

			   Less than		  More than
2019			   1 year	 1 - 5 years 	 5 years	 Total
			   RM’000	 RM’000 	 RM’000	 RM’000

Non derivative
 financial liabilities				  
Trade and other payables		  229,419	 –	 –	 229,419
Borrowings		  337,580	 162,190	 –	 499,770

			   566,999	 162,190	 –	 729,189

			   Less than		  More than
2018			   1 year	 1 - 5 years 	 5 years	 Total
			   RM’000	 RM’000 	 RM’000	 RM’000

Non derivative
 financial liabilities				  
Trade and other payables		  202,764	 –	 –	 202,764
Borrowings		  255,486	 160,701	 30	 416,217

			   458,250	 160,701	 30	 618,981
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30.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES (CONT’D)

(d)	 Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

Maturity analysis (Cont’d)

Company

			   Less than		  More than
2019			   1 year	 1 - 5 years 	 5 years	 Total 
			   RM’000	 RM’000 	 RM’000	 RM’000

Non derivative
 financial liabilities				  
Trade and other payables		  231,793	 –	 –	 231,793
Borrowings		  336,797	 160,371	 –	 497,168

			   568,590	 160,371	 –	 728,961

			   Less than		  More than
2018			   1 year	 1 - 5 years 	 5 years	 Total 
			   RM’000	 RM’000 	 RM’000	 RM’000

Non derivative
 financial liabilities				  
Trade and other payables		  204,000	 –	 –	 204,000
Borrowings		  254,821	 158,505	 30	 413,356

			   458,821	 158,505	 30	 617,356
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30.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES (CONT’D)

(e)	 Fair value information (Cont’d)

Level 1 fair value

	 Level 1 fair value is derived from quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for identical financial assets 
or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 fair value

	 Level 2 fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the financial assets or liabilities, either directly or indirectly.

Non-derivative financial liabilities

	 Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future 
principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the end of the reporting 
period. For other borrowings, the market rate of interest is determined by reference to similar borrowing 
arrangements.

Transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair values

	 There has been no transfer between Level 1 and 2 fair values during the financial year (2018: no transfer 
in either directions).

Level 3 fair value

Level 3 fair value is estimated using unobservable inputs for the financial assets and liabilities.

	 The following table shows the valuation techniques used in the determination of fair values within Level 
3, as well as the key unobservable inputs used in the valuation models.

Financial instruments not carried at fair value

Type Description of valuation technique and inputs used

Revolving credit,
 lease/finance lease
 liabilities and
 secured term loans

Discounted cash flows using a rate based on the current market rate of
 borrowing of the Company at the reporting date.
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31.	 DIVIDENDS

		  Group and Company
				    2019	 2018
				    RM’000	 RM’000

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2019:-

Final single-tier dividend of 0.90 sen on 425,858,831
 ordinary shares, paid on 21 August 2018			   –	 3,834

	 All the dividend paid or proposed in current financial year are single-tier dividends with no income tax 
consequences to shareholders of the Company. 

	 Before the dividends were paid to the shareholders, the directors of the Company had taken reasonable steps to 
ensure that the Company would be able to pay its debts in full within 12 months after the payment of dividends 
to shareholders. 

32.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a)	 Primary reporting format - by business segment

	T he Group is primarily organised in one business segment which is the manufacturing of steel bars and 
billets.

(b)	 Secondary reporting format - by geography

The Group’s business segments are managed in two (2) main geographical areas:-

Area		  Sales	 Total assets	 Capital expenditure
		  2019	 2018	 2019	 2018	 2019	 2018
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Malaysia	 1,160,160	 1,487,325	 1,518,292	 1,376,837	 64,015	 62,414
Outside
 Malaysia	 35,146	 9,528	 –	 –	 –	 –

		  1,195,306	 1,496,853	 1,518,292	 1,376,837	 64,015	 62,414

	 In determining the geographical segments of the Group, sales are based on the countries in which the 
customers are located. Total assets and capital expenditure are determined based on where the assets 
are located, and all assets are located in Malaysia.

	 Revenue from one (2018: one) major customer amounted to RM298,951,650 (2018: RM325,991,089) 
arising from sales of steel billets and bars.
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33.	 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

		  Group and Company
				    2019	 2018
				    RM’000	 RM’000

Capital expenditure

Contracted but not provided for
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment			   –	 10,800

	 The above amount is in respect of the acquisition of new plant and equipment located at Rolling Mill, Bukit Raja. 
The cost of acquisition is being funded by Islamic medium term notes (or Sukuk Ijarah) issuance programme 
under the Islamic principle of Ijarah (Sukuk Ijarah Programme) of RM130 million and internally generated fund.

34.	 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

	T he Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and maintain an 
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were as follows:-

		  Group
				    2019	 2018
				    RM’000	 RM’000

Total lease liabilities (Note 18)	   			   15,129	 –
Total borrowings (Note 19)				    463,465	 390,009

					     478,594	 390,009

Total equity				    729,982	 657,618
			 
Gearing ratio				    65.56%	 59.31%

35.	 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

		  Group and Company
				    2019	 2018
				    RM’000	 RM’000

Unsecured bank guarantees issued in favour of third parties		  67,779	 69,800
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36.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

	 For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group or the Company 
if the Group or the Company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control or jointly control the party or exercise 
significant influence over the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the 
Group or the Company and the party are subject to common control. Related parties may be individuals or 
other entities. 

	 Related parties also include key management personnel defined as those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group and of the Company either directly 
or indirectly. The key management personnel includes all the directors of the Group, and certain members of 
senior management of the Group and of the Company.

	 The Group and the Company have related party relationship with its subsidiary, associate and key management 
personnel.

Significant related party transactions

	 Related party transactions have been entered into in the normal course of business under normal trade terms. 
The balances due from subsidiary and associate are shown in Note 11. 

The significant related party transactions of the Company are as follows:-

		  Company
				    2019	 2018
				    RM’000	 RM’000

Transportation charged by subsidiary			   4,978	 3,046

Compensation of key management personnel

	 The Board of Directors defined that key management personnel of the Group and of the Company are directors 
of the Group and of the Company. The compensation of key management personnel during the financial year 
is disclosed in Note 25 to the financial statements.



Malaysia Steel Works (KL) Bhdannual report 2019 113

NOTES TO THE  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(cont’d)

37.	 SIGNIFICANT EVENT DURING THE YEAR

(a)	 On 3 January 2019, the Company repurchased its shares of 133,000 ordinary shares at an average 
purchase price of RM0.375 per ordinary share. The repurchase transaction was financed by internally 
generated funds.

(b)	 On 7 January 2019, the Company repurchased its shares of 109,000 ordinary shares at an average 
purchase price of RM0.458 per ordinary share. The repurchase transaction was financed by internally 
generated funds.

(c)	 On 10 January 2019, the Company repurchased its shares of 52,000 ordinary shares at an average 
purchase price of RM0.473 per ordinary share. The repurchase transaction was financed by internally 
generated funds.

(d)	 On 13 September 2019, the Company announced that it proposes to undertake a proposed private 
placement of up to 42,500,000 new ordinary shares representing up to 10% of the Company’s total number 
of issued shares (“Proposed Private Placement”). The Proposed Private Placement will be undertaken 
in accordance with the Subscription Agreement entered into with an investor on the same date.

	 On 17 September 2019, the Company announced that the listing application in relation to the Proposed 
Private Placement has been submitted to Bursa Securities.

	 Bursa Securities had vide its letter dated 19 September 2019, resolved to approve the Proposed Private 
Placement subject to the following conditions:-

(i)	 the Company and Investment Bank must fully comply with the relevant provisions under the Listing 
Requirements pertaining to the implementation of the Proposed Private Placement;

(ii)	 the Company and Investment Bank to inform Bursa Securities upon the completion of the Proposed 
Private Placement;

(iii)	 the Company to furnish Bursa Securities with a written confirmation of its compliance with the terms 
and conditions of Bursa Securities’ approval once the Proposed Private Placement is completed; 
and

(iv)	 the Company must submit to Bursa Securities details of the placees in accordance with Paragraph 
6.15 of the Listing Requirements as soon as practicable before the listing of the new shares to be 
issued pursuant to the Proposed Private Placement.

	 On 1 October 2019, the Company announced that all conditions precedent in relation to the Subscription 
Agreement have been fulfilled. Accordingly, the Company had on the following dates received Subscription 
Notices from the investor for the subscription of Company’s shares at respective subscription prices. 
The subscription prices represent a discount to the average of the daily volume weighted average market 
prices (“VWAP”) of Company’s shares during the 5 consecutive Trading Days and such shares will be 
listed and quoted on Main Market of Bursa Securities.
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NOTES TO THE  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

38.	 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (CONT’D)

(f)	 On 23 March 2020, the Company repurchased its shares of 41,100 ordinary shares at an average purchase 
price of RM0.208 per ordinary share. The repurchase transaction was financed by internally generated 
funds.

(g)	 On 25 March 2020, the Company repurchased its shares of 180,000 ordinary shares at an average 
purchase price of RM0.223 per ordinary share. The repurchase transaction was financed by internally 
generated funds.

(h)	 On 16 March 2020, the Malaysian Government issued a Movement Control Order (“MCO” or “Order”) 
pursuant to the Prevention and Control of Infectious Diseases Act 1988 and the Police Act 1967, in 
response to the coronavirus COVID-19 (the “virus” or COVID-19”) pandemic, restricting movements of 
Malaysians and foreigners and prohibits a wide range of public activities. The Order takes effect 18 
March 2020 and continues to apply for 14 days until 31 March 2020. The Order is intended to curb the 
spread of COVID-19 infections in Malaysia and applies throughout the country. Pursuant to the Order, 
public and private offices are required to close and all public gatherings have been banned, with very 
few exceptions.

	 On 25 March 2020, the Malaysian Government has announced the extension of MCO which was originally 
scheduled to end on 31 March 2020 has been extended to 14 April 2020. Throughout this period, all 
government and private offices as well as businesses shall remain closed except for essential services.

	 On 10 April 2020, the Malaysian Government has announced a further extension of MCO which was 
initially scheduled to end on 14 April 2020. Subsequently, on 23 April 2020, the Malaysian Government 
has announced a further extension of MCO which was initially scheduled to end on 28 April 2020. The 
government has also agreed that selected sectors will be opened in stages and will operate following 
health guidelines and stringent movement control.

	 On 1 May 2020, the Malaysian Government announced that the government would implement a Conditional 
Movement Control Order (“CMCO”) effective from 4 May 2020 to 12 May 2020, which was subsequently 
announced to be extended to 9 June 2020 via an announcement made on 10 May 2020. The government 
has agreed that a large portion of economic and social activities are allowed to resume subject to strict 
compliance of standard operating procedures in controlling and containing the spread of COVID-19.

 
	 The emergence of COVID-19 outbreak has evolved rapidly and brought significant economic uncertainties 

to Malaysia markets and in which the Group and the Company operates. For the Group’s and the Company’s 
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the COVID-19 outbreak and the 
related impacts are considered non-adjusting events in accordance with MFRS 110 Events after the 
Reporting Period. Consequently, there is no impact on the recognition and measurement of assets and 
liabilities as at 31 December 2019.

	 The Group’s and the Company’s financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 
have been prepared with the application of going concern principle. The directors of the Group and of 
the Company anticipates that the overall impact on the Group’s and the Company’s business and result 
has been limited and are not aware of any significant uncertainties arising after the end of the financial 
year that would have a significant financial impact to the Group and to the Company. 

	 Nevertheless, the directors of the Group and of the Company will continue to monitor developments 
and will take the necessary corrective actions. The Group and the Company will continue to run their 
operations in the best and safest method without jeopardising health and safety of its employees and 
enduring with all governmental policies and directives.

(i)	 On 30 April 2020, the Company announced that following the MCO imposed by Government of Malaysia, 
it will utilise the extension of time granted by Bursa Securities Malaysia Berhad and will ensure that its 
Annual Report will be issued not later than 30 June 2020.
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NOTES TO THE  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(cont’d)

39.	 MATERIAL LITIGATION

	 The Company has been served with a Writ of Summons dated 17 July 2019 and Statement of Claim dated 12 
June 2019 by a related party. The related party is seeking for, inter alia, a payment of RM10.681 million from 
the Company, together with interest in relation to advances made by the related party to the Company between 
the financial years 2002 to 2004.

	 The Board of Directors has been advised by its solicitor that the Company has strong case to dismiss the claim. 
The management is of the view that the Writ of Summons will not have any material financial and operation 
impact on the Company as the claim is non-trade in nature.

	 The Company had filed the Discovery Application and is scheduled for hearing on 23 June 2020 before the 
Registrar at the Shah Alam High Court.

40.	 SIGNIFICANT CHANGES TO ACCOUNTING POLICIES

During the financial year, the Group and the Company adopted MFRS 16.

Definition of a lease 

	 On transition to MFRS 16, the Group elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of 
which transactions are leases. It applied MFRS 16 only to contracts that were previously identified as leases. 
Contracts that were not identified as leases under MFRS 117 and IC Interpretation 4, Determining whether an 
Arrangement contains a Lease were not reassessed. Therefore, the definition of a lease under MFRS 16 has 
been applied only to contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 January 2019.

As a lessee

	 Where the Group and the Company are a lessee, the Group and the Company applied the requirements of MFRS 
16 retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment to the opening balance of 
retained earnings at 1 January 2019.

Impacts on financial statements

Short-term leases and low-value assets

	 For short-term leases with lease term of 12 months or less and for the leases of low value assets of less 
than RM21,000, the Company has availed the exemption in MFRS 16 not to recognise the right-of-use assets 
and lease liabilities. Instead, payments made for these leases are recognised as expense when incurred, as 
disclosed in Note 23.

	 For leases that were classified as finance lease under MFRS 117, the carrying amounts of the right-of-use 
asset and the lease liability at 1 January 2019 are determined to be the same as the carrying amount of the 
leased assets and lease liability under MFRS 117 immediately before that date.

There is no financial effect arising from the adoption of this standard.
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NOTES TO THE  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

41.	 OTHER INFORMATION

(a)	 The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and is listed 
on the Main Market of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

(b)	 The registered office is situated at:-

Unit B-05-3A
5th Floor, Block B (West Wing)
PJ8 Office Suite
No. 23, Jalan Barat
Seksyen 8
46050 Petaling Jaya
Selangor Darul Ehsan

(c)	 The principal place of business is situated at:-

Wisma Masteel
Lot 29C, Off Jalan Tandang
Section 51
46050 Petaling Jaya
Selangor Darul Ehsan

(d)	 The financial statements are expressed in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”), which is also the Group’s and the 
Company’s functional currency.

(e)	 The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a 
resolution by the directors on 19 May 2020.
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STATEMENT BY 
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Section 251(2) of the Companies Act 2016

We, the undersigned, being two of the directors of MALAYSIA STEEL WORKS (KL) BHD. (Registration No. 
197101000213 (7878-V)) do hereby state that, in the opinion of the directors, the financial statements set out on 
pages 53 to 118 are drawn up in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2019 and of the financial results and 
cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended on that date.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the directors:-

DATO’ IKHWAN SALIM BIN DATO’ HAJI SUJAK

DATO’ SRI TAI HEAN LENG @ TEK HEAN LENG

Kuala Lumpur 

19 May 2020
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STATUTORY 
DECLARATION
Pursuant to Section 251(1)(b) of the Companies Act 2016

I, LAU YOKE LEONG, being the director primarily responsible for the financial management of MALAYSIA STEEL 
WORKS (KL) BHD. (Registration No. 197101000213 (7878-V)) do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial 
statements set out on pages 53 to 118 are to the best of my knowledge and belief, correct and I make this solemn 
declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations 
Act 1960.

LAU YOKE LEONG
MIA number: 14053

Subscribed and solemnly declared
by the abovenamed at Kuala Lumpur 
in the Federal Territory on 19 May 2020

Before me
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INDEPENDENT 
AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF MALAYSIA STEEL WORKS (KL) BHD.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Malaysia Steel Works (KL) Bhd., which comprise the statements of 
financial position as at 31 December 2019 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and 
of the Company for the financial year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 53 to 118.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group 
and of the Company as at 31 December 2019, and of their financial performance and their cash flows for the financial 
year then ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards 
on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities

We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, 
Conduct and Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By- Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year. These matters were addressed 
in the context of our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition

Revenue recognition is identified as a key audit matter 
as the Group’s revenue transactions are voluminous 
with different terms and pricing for different customers. 
There is a risk that revenue may be recognised before 
the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the 
goods sold have been transferred to the customers. 

Revenue of the Group comprises income generated 
from manufacturing and selling of steel bars and steel 
billets. Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at 
the point in time when the significant risks and rewards 
of ownership have been transferred to the customer, 
usually in the form of an executed purchase order and 
when the goods are delivered to customers.

Our procedures included, amongst others:-

•	 We assessed and evaluated the appropriateness 
of the design and implementation of controls in 
the revenue cycle with no exception noted. 

•	 We performed test of operating effectiveness on 
the relevant controls identified within the revenue 
cycle with no exception noted.

•	 We verified revenue transactions to respective 
sales invoices and acknowledged delivery orders 
that evidenced the transfer of risks and rewards 
of ownership of the goods to customers based 
on selected samples. 

•	 We verified the credit notes and sales returns 
post the year-end date to ascertain if revenue was 
recognised in the correct financial period.

•	 We selected revenue transactions pre and post 
year-end date and agreed the selected sales 
invoices and acknowledged delivery orders that 
evidenced the transfer of risks and rewards of 
ownership of goods and confirmed that these 
transactions were recognised in the correct 
financial periods. 

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
Directors’ Report, Corporate Governance Statement, Audit Committee Report, Management Discussion and Analysis 
and Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control included in the annual report, but does not include the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other information and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

INDEPENDENT  
AUDITORS’ REPORT
(cont’d)
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INDEPENDENT  
AUDITORS’ REPORT

(cont’d)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon (Cont’d)

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company that give a true and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. The directors are also 
responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the directors are responsible for assessing 
the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the 
Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 
Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 
Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:-

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s and of the Company’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s or the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group or the Company to cease to continue as a going 
concern.
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in 
the audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia, we report that the associate of which 
we have not acted as auditors, is disclosed in Note 8 to the financial statements. 

Other Matters

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the 
Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person 
for the content of this report.

RSM Malaysia	 Lou Hoe Yin
AF: 0768	 03120/04/2022 J
Chartered Accountants	 Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur

19 May 2020

INDEPENDENT  
AUDITORS’ REPORT
(cont’d)
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Location
Existing
Use

Approximate
Age of

Building
(Years) Tenure

Land Area
(Built-up
Area)

Net Book
Value
(RM’000)

Date of
Acquisition

Date of
Revaluation

Wisma Masteel
Lot 29C, Off Jalan
Tandang, Section 51
46050 Petaling Jaya
Selangor Darul Ehsan

Office,
factory and
warehouse

37 years Leasehold
for 99 years
expiring on
15 April 2067

130,897 sq. ft.
(63,187 sq. ft.)

Land
– 20,844
Building
– 167

30-Sep-05 30-Sep-19

Lot 29B, Off Jalan
Tandang, Section 51
46050 Petaling Jaya
Selangor Darul Ehsan

Factory 11 years Leasehold
for 99 years
expiring on
15 April 2067

110,425 sq. ft.
(69,960 sq. ft.)

Land
– 17,587	
Building
– 1,332

22-Dec-09 30-Sep-19

Lot PT 20299
Jalan Waja, Bukit
Raja Industrial Estate
41050 Klang
Selangor Darul Ehsan

Office,
factory and
warehouse

19 years Leasehold
for 99 years
expiring on
3 December
2111

1,562,266 sq. ft.
(187,220 sq. ft.)

Land
– 101,596
Building
– 46,157

30-Sep-05 30-Sep-19

Unit B-05-3
5th Floor
Block B (West Wing) 
PJ8 Office Suite
No. 23, Jalan Barat
Seksyen 8
46050 Petaling Jaya
Selangor Darul Ehsan

Office 10 years Leasehold
for 99 years
expiring on
5 March
2106

(4,176 sq. ft.) Building
– 1,078

6-Nov-08 NIL

Unit B-05-3A
5th Floor
Block B (West Wing) 
PJ8 Office Suite
No. 23, Jalan Barat
Seksyen 8
46050 Petaling Jaya
Selangor Darul Ehsan

Office 10 years Leasehold
for 99 years
expiring on
5 March 
2106

(3,003 sq. ft.) Building
– 772

6-Nov-08 NIL

GRN 33304
Lot 3780
Mukim of Pasir Panjang
District of Port Dickson
Negeri Sembilan
Darul Khusus

Bungalow 35 years Freehold 5,403 sq. ft.
(1,334 sq. ft)

Land
– 108
Building
– Nil

30-Sep-05 30-Sep-19

LIST OF 
PROPERTIES

as at 31 December 2019
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ANALYSIS OF 
SHAREHOLDINGS
AS AT 27 MAY 2020

Total number of issued shares	 :	 452,739,831 ordinary shares
Voting Rights	 :	 One (1) vote per ordinary share

ANALYSIS BY SHAREHOLDINGS

					     % of 
		  No. of	 % of 	 No. of	 Issued
Size of holdings		  Holders	 Holders	 Shares	 Capital [1]

1 - 99		  1,130	 11.62	 43,464	 0.01
100 – 1,000		  856	 8.80	 377,772	 0.08
1,001 – 10,000		  4,121	 42.39	 22,463,711	 4.99
10,001 – 100,000		  3,219	 33.11	 100,553,557	 22.33
100,001 – 22,518,960 [2]		  395	 4.06	 187,448,111	 41.62
22,518,961 and above [3]		  1	 0.01	 139,492,616	 30.97

TOTAL		  9,722	 100.00	 450,379,231	 100.00

Notes:-

[1]	 Excluding a total of 2,360,600 ordinary shares bought-back by the Company and retained as treasury shares 
as at 27 May 2020.

[2]	 Less than 5% of issued shares (excluding treasury shares)
[3]	 5% and above of issued shares (excluding treasury shares)

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS AS  PER REGISTER OF DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS

		  Direct Interest	 Indirect Interest
			   % of		  % of 
		  No. of	 Issued	 No. of	 Issued
Name of Director		  Shares	 Capital	 Shares	 Capital [1]

Dato’ Sri Tai Hean Leng
@ Tek Hean Leng		  –	 –	 139,492,616 [2]	 30.97

Notes:-

[1]	 Excluding a total of 2,360,600 ordinary shares bought-back by the Company and retained as treasury shares 
as at 27 May 2020.

[2]	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 8(4) of the Companies Act 2016 by virtue of his interest in TYY Resources 
Sdn Bhd. 

Pursuant to Section 8(4) of the Companies Act 2016, by virtue of his interests in the shares of the Company, Dato’ Sri 
Tai Hean Leng @ Tek Hean Leng is also deemed to have an interest in the shares of the subsidiary of the Company 
to the extent the Company has an interest.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS PER REGISTER OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

		  Direct Interest	 Indirect Interest
			   % of		  % of 
Name of		  No. of	 Issued	 No. of	 Issued
Substantial Shareholder		  Shares	 Capital [1]	 Shares	 Capital [1]

TYY Resources Sdn Bhd 		 139,492,616	 30.97 [1]	 –	 –

Dato’ Sri Tai Hean Leng
@ Tek Hean Leng		  –	 –	 139,492,616 [2]	 30.97
				  
Datin Ng Pik Lian		  –	 –	 149,988,081 [3]	 33.30
				  
Estate of Tai Chet Siang,
Deceased [4]		  –	 –	 139,492,616 [2]	 30.97

Notes:-

[1]	 Excluding a total of 2,360,600 ordinary shares bought-back by the Company and retained as treasury shares 
as at 27 May 2020.

[2]	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 8(4) of the Companies Act 2016 by virtue of their interests in TYY 
Resources Sdn Bhd.

[3]	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 8(4) of the Companies Act 2016 by virtue of her interest in TYY Resources 
Sdn Bhd and Kemajuan Rekacekap Sdn Bhd.

THE 30 LARGEST SECURITIES ACCOUNT HOLDERS

		  No. of
No.	 Name	 Holdings	 %

1	 TYY RESOURCES SDN BHD	 139,492,616	 30.97
2	 RAYA REKAJAYA SDN BHD	 12,111,356	 2.69
3	 KEMAJUAN REKACEKAP SDN BHD	 10,495,465	 2.33
4	 CIMB GROUP NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD	 7,698,000	 1.71
	 EXEMPT AN FOR DBS BANK LTD (SFS)
5	 NEOH CHOO EE & COMPANY, SDN BERHAD	 7,200,000	 1.60
6	 YAYASAN GURU TUN HUSSEIN ONN	 5,839,000	 1.30
7	 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD	 4,700,493	 1.04
	 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR SIM ANN HUAT
8	 HLB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD	 4,489,600	 1.00
	 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR MAH SIEW SEONG
9	 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD	 4,233,120	 0.94
	 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR SU MING KEAT
10	 MERCSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD	 3,830,980	 0.85
	 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR RAYA REKAJAYA SDN BHD
11	 HLIB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD	 2,872,200	 0.64
	 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR ER SOON PUAY
12	 LIM JIT HAI	 2,769,672	 0.61
13	 HARUM MAJUINDAH SDN BHD	 2,588,600	 0.57
14	 YAYASAN GURU TUN HUSSEIN ONN	 2,300,000	 0.51
15	 ALLIANCEGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD	 2,254,560	 0.50
	 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR KOH KIN LIP (8058900)

ANALYSIS OF  
SHAREHOLDINGS

(cont’d)
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THE 30 LARGEST SECURITIES ACCOUNT HOLDERS (cont’d)

		  No. of
No.	 Name	 Holdings	 %

16	 PUBLIC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD	 2,232,700	 0.50
	 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT
	 FOR MAHALINGAM A/L SINNATAMBY (E-SJA/USJ)
17	 MAYBANK NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD	 2,143,200	 0.48
	 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR SAN TUAN SAM
18	 OOI CHIN HOCK	 2,052,313	 0.46
19	 CHU AH KIM @ CHOW SIN THIAM	 1,847,800	 0.41
20	 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD	 1,833,812	 0.41
	 AMANAHRAYA INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT SDN BHD
	 FOR NOORSHAH BINTI ISMAIL (C245-240115)
21	 CGS-CIMB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD	 1,785,865	 0.40
	 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR TEOH EWE JIN (MY0829)
22	 TAI MAY CHEAN	 1,699,732	 0.38
23	 LOW GUAN HONG	 1,576,600	 0.35
24	 KWAN YEW KOK	 1,572,000	 0.35
25	 LOH CHIN YOONG	 1,535,000	 0.34
26	 ALLIANCEGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD	 1,311,300	 0.29
	 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR OOI CHIN HOCK (8058312)
27	 PUBLIC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD	 1,200,000	 0.27
	 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR HUNG YEW LOONG (E-JBU)
28	 LIM KHUAN ENG	 1,160,000	 0.26
29	 NG TENG SONG	 1,125,600	 0.25
30	 KOH TIAM HOCK	 994,900	 0.22

TOTAL	 236,946,484	 52.61

ANALYSIS OF  
SHAREHOLDINGS
(cont’d)



Proxy Form

✄

I/We, ......................................................................... (NRIC No./Passport No./Company No. ......................................... )

of ...........................................................................................................................................................................................

and telephone no./email address .......................................................................................................................................
being a member/members of MALAYSIA STEEL WORKS (KL) BHD (the “Company”), hereby appoint 

..........................................................................................................  (NRIC No./Passport No. ......................................... )

of ...........................................................................................................................................................................................

or failing him/her, ............................................................................  (NRIC No./Passport No. ......................................... )

of .......................................................................................................................................................................................... ,
or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Forty-
Eighth Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company which will be conducted as a FULLY VIRTUAL meeting at 
the Broadcast Venue at Masteel Meeting Room, Unit B-05-3A, 5th Floor, Block B (West Wing), PJ8 Office Suite, No. 23, 
Jalan Barat, Seksyen 8, 46050 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia on Thursday, 16 July 2020 at 2.00 p.m. 
or at any adjournment thereof. I/We indicate with an “x” in the spaces below how I/we wish my/our vote to be cast.

* Please delete the words “Chairman of the Meeting” if you wish to appoint other person(s) to be your proxy/proxies.

No. RESOLUTIONS FOR AGAINST

1. Approval of Directors’ Fees for the financial year ending 31 
December 2020 and the benefits payable from 16 July 2020 
until the next Annual General Meeting

Ordinary Resolution 1

2. Re-election of Dato’ Ikhwan Salim Bin Dato’ Haji Sujak as 
Director

Ordinary Resolution 2

3. Re-election of Encik Muhammad Hanizam Bin Hj. Borhan as 
Director

Ordinary Resolution 3

4. Re-election of Mr Lau Yoke Leong as Director Ordinary Resolution 4

5. Re-appointment of Messrs RSM Malaysia as Auditors Ordinary Resolution 5

6. Authority for Mr Ng Wah Lok to continue in office as Senior 
Independent Non-Executive Director

Ordinary Resolution 6

7. Authority for Encik Muhammad Hanizam Bin Hj. Borhan to 
continue in office as Independent Non-Executive Director

Ordinary Resolution 7

8. Proposed Renewal of Share Buy-Back Mandate Ordinary Resolution 8

9. Proposed Renewal of Authority under Sections 75 and 76 of 
the Companies Act 2016 and the Constitution of the Company 
for the Directors to allot and issue shares

Special Resolution

(Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided how you wish your vote to be cast. If you do not do so, the proxy 
will vote or abstain from voting at his (her) discretion.)

The proportion of my/our shareholdings to be represented by my/our proxies are as follows:-

First Proxy	 %
Second Proxy	 %

	 100%

No. of Shares

CDS account No.

Registration No. 197101000213 (7878-V)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)



If appointment of proxy is under hand

.........................................................................
Signed by *individual member/*officer
or attorney of member/*authorised nominee of
.................................................. (beneficial owner)

No. of shares held: ………………………..…...........

Securities Account No.: ……..…………..................
(CDS Account No.) (Compulsory)

Date:

If appointment of proxy is under seal

The Common Seal of …………………………………....
was hereto affixed in accordance with its Constitution 
in the presence of:-

Seal

No. of shares held: ………………………..…...........

Securities Account No.: ……..…………..................
(CDS Account No.) (Compulsory)

Date:

………………….…………
Director

…………………..……......
Director/Secretary

in its capacity as *member/*attorney of
member/*authorised nominee of
.................................................. (beneficial owner) 

Signed this ………….. day of ……………………………, 2020.

* Strike out whichever is not desired. Unless otherwise instructed, the proxy may vote as he/she thinks fit.

NOTES:
1.	 As part of the safety measures to curb the spread of the Coronavirus outbreak, the Company will conduct the AGM entirely through 

live streaming and online remote voting via Remote Participation and Voting (“RPV”) facilities. For further details and guidelines on 
RPV facilities, please refer to the Administrative Guide.

2.	 The broadcast venue is strictly for the purpose of complying with Section 327(2) of the Companies Act 2016 which requires the 
Chairman of the Meeting to be at the main venue. No shareholders/proxies/corporate representative from the public should be 
physically present at the broadcast venue on the day of AGM.

3.	 In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear on the Record of Depositors on 8 July 2020 (General Meeting 
Record of Depositors) shall be eligible to attend, speak and vote at the meeting or appoint proxy(ies) to attend, speak and/or vote 
on his (her) behalf.

4.	 A member [other than an exempt authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991] 
entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend, participate, speak and vote 
on his (her) behalf. A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company. There shall be no restriction as to the qualification of 
the proxy. A proxy appointed to attend, participate, speak and vote at the meeting of the Company shall have the same rights as the 
members to speak at the meeting.

5.	 Where a member appoints two (2) proxies, the appointment shall be invalid unless he (she) specifies the proportions of his (her) 
shareholdings to be represented by each proxy.

6.	 Where a member of the Company is an Exempt Authorised Nominee which holds shares in the Company for multiple beneficial 
owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”) as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991, 
there is no limit to the number of proxies which the Exempt Authorised Nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account 
it holds.

7.	 Where a member of the Company is an Authorised Nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 
1991, it is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies in respect of each securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the 
Company standing to the credit of the said securities account. Where an Authorised Nominee appoints two (2) proxies to attend 
and vote at the AGM, the proportion of shareholdings to be represented by each proxy must be specified in the proxy form, failing 
which, the appointment shall be invalid.

8.	 The proxy form shall be in writing, executed by or on behalf of the appointer or his (her) attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the 
member is a corporation, either be executed under its common seal or by its duly authorised attorney or officer.

9.	 The proxy form and the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed or a duly notarised copy of that power or 
authority must be deposited to the Company’s Share Registrar office at Level 7, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat Bandar 
Damansara, Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time set for holding the meeting 
or any adjournment thereof. Any notice of termination of person’s authority to act as a proxy must be forwarded to the Company 
prior to the commencement of the AGM or adjourned AGM. 

10.	 Pursuant to paragraph 8.29A(1) of the MMLR of Bursa Securities, all the resolutions set out in the Notice of the AGM will be put to 
vote by poll. Poll Administrator and Independent Scrutineers will be appointed to conduct the polling process and verify the results 
of the poll respectively.

11.	 As guided by the Securities Commission’s Guidance and FAQs on the Conduct of General Meetings for Listed Issuers that was 
issued on 18 April 2020 and subsequently revised on 14 May 2020, the right to speak is not limited to verbal communication only but 
includes other modes of expression. Therefore, all shareholders and proxies shall communicate with the main venue of the Meeting 
via real time submission of typed texts through a text box within Securities Services e-Portal’s platform during the live streaming 
of the Meeting as the primary mode of communication. In the event of any technical glitch in this primary mode of communication, 
shareholders and proxies may email their questions to eservices@sshsb.com.my during the Meeting. The questions and/or remarks 
submitted by the shareholders and/or proxies will be broadcasted and responded by the Chairman/Board/relevant advisers during 
the Meeting. In the event of any unattended questions and/or remarks submitted, the Company will respond to the said unattended 
questions and/or remarks after the Meeting via email.

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY:
By submitting proxy form(s), the member accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out in the Notice of Annual General 
Meeting dated 16 June 2020.

Proxy Form (cont’d)



The Share Registrar
Securities Services (Holdings) Sdn Bhd 
[197701005827 (36869-T)]
Level 7, Menara Milenium
Jalan Damanlela
Pusat Bandar Damansara
Damansara Heights
50490 Kuala Lumpur

Stamp

Please fold here

Please fold here

✄
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Registration No. 197101000213 (7878-V)

Wisma Masteel
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